

University of Tennessee, Knoxville TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange

Doctoral Dissertations

Graduate School

12-2009

Molecular Targets of Green Tea Catechin, EGCG, on Human Colorectal Carcinogenesis

Mugdha G. Sukhthankar University of Tennessee - Knoxville

Follow this and additional works at: https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk_graddiss

Recommended Citation

Sukhthankar, Mugdha G., "Molecular Targets of Green Tea Catechin, EGCG, on Human Colorectal Carcinogenesis." PhD diss., University of Tennessee, 2009. https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk_graddiss/636

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized administrator of TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. For more information, please contact trace@utk.edu.

To the Graduate Council:

I am submitting herewith a dissertation written by Mugdha G. Sukhthankar entitled "Molecular Targets of Green Tea Catechin, EGCG, on Human Colorectal Carcinogenesis." I have examined the final electronic copy of this dissertation for form and content and recommend that it be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, with a major in Comparative and Experimental Medicine.

Seung Joon Baek, Major Professor

We have read this dissertation and recommend its acceptance:

Michael F. McEntee, Claudia Kirk, Jay Wimalasena

Accepted for the Council:

Carolyn R. Hodges

Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate School

(Original signatures are on file with official student records.)

To the Graduate Council:

I am submitting herewith a dissertation written by Mugdha Girish Sukhthankar entitled "Molecular Targets of Green Tea Catechin, EGCG, on Human Colorectal Carcinogenesis". I have examined the final electronic copy of this dissertation for form and content and recommend that it be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, with a major in Comparative and Experimental Medicine.

Seung Joon Baek

Major Professor

We have read this dissertation and recommend its acceptance:

Michael F McEntee

Claudia Kirk

Jay Wimalasena

Accepted for the Council:

Carolyn R. Hodges

Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate School

(Original signatures are on file with official student records)

Molecular Targets of Green Tea Catechin, EGCG, on Human

Colorectal Carcinogenesis

A Dissertation Presented for the Doctor of Philosophy Degree The University of Tennessee, Knoxville

> Mugdha G. Sukhthankar December 2009

Copyright © 2009 by Mugdha G. Sukhthankar All rights reserved.

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my late grandmother, Vijaya K. Sukhthankar, as it was her dream that I should have a successful career in a field wherein I could give back something to the society, and to my grandfather, Kamalaksha B. Sukhthankar; father, Girish K. Sukhthankar; mother, Uma G. Sukhthankar, who has suffered from ulcerative colitis and had her large intestine removed because of future risks to colorectal cancer. Without their love, support, encouragement and blessings I would not even be in US. They are truly responsible for all my success.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost I am grateful to THE ALMIGHTY for granting me an opportunity to prove myself.

Then I would like to extend my gratitude towards Dr. Seung Baek, an amazing mentor who believed in me and my potential to get success. He helped me in the process of learning cancer biology from scratch, and was very patient while I shifted gears from Veterinary clinical background to Research. He was always there to help me with my minutest problems, inside or outside the lab. I owe all my success to him.

Drs. McEntee, Kirk, and Wimalasena who have been wonderful committee members, have given me valuable guidance throughout my PhD degree since the first Committee meeting, have always found time for me and whom I have troubled so much even for my thesis writing. They have always encouraged me and guided me.

Dr. Lee and Dr. Yamaguchi, who were the postdocs in the lab when I first joined; they have been very supportive, helpful and encouraging. They taught me all the techniques and procedures. Dr. Lee has been around whenever I needed him since the first day I joined, even for extremely simple experiments. This thesis and especially my big publication would not have been possible without them.

Drs. Kim number 1 and 2 and Dr. Zhong, thank you for your help and support.

Nichelle, well people call her my twin as we are always seen together and everyone is worried as to how we would function without each other. Thank you so much for taking me to my apartment after my first day in lab, and being patient till I actually knocked on same door four times before realizing it was not my apartment and being the best friend since then.

Jason and Jae, for keeping the lab atmosphere so much fun to work in and for being there whenever I needed help with experiments or other things.

Madhu (Dr.Dhar) who has been such a lovely friend, never made me feel homesick, always there to hear me out and just an amazing and wonderful person and my best buddy who is making it difficult for me to move away. Love ya...

Maria for all her support and friendship.

Nancy, Misty, Kim and Debbie (Hampstead) for their supportive, friendly nature and help. Ginny, Debbie, Michelle, Larkeesha, Emily, Diane for their support and friendly nature.

Dr. Robert Moore for support and encouragement and Dr. Eling for providing microarray data. My best friend, Ravi, who has been very supportive in thick and thin since day one. Would not imagine finishing my thesis without him.

What to say and how much to say about my family members, my grandparents, my parents, Mothiaai, and my in-laws. I don't want to devalue the consideration, affection and all kinds of support they provided, by binding those in words. After all, I owe my very existence and my status to them. Also my best friend and my better half, Bhupesh, for his timely support, love and caring.

I express my sincere gratitude to the College of Veterinary Medicine, University of Tennessee for having inculcated in me the best qualities and spirit to do research and provided me with financial support for this study and also NIH for grant support.

<u>Abstract</u>

This thesis explores the effect of major green tea catechin, EGCG, on colorectal carcinogenesis particularly on target genes, *bFGF* and *NUDT6*. Cancer is a second leading cause and colorectal cancer is a third leading cause of deaths in the Western World. Recently there is a lot of persuasive epidemiological and experimental evidence that phytochemical-enriched diet may be involved in the prevention of colorectal cancer. EGCG exhibits beneficial effects like anti-tumorigenic, anti-oxidant, anti-angiogenic, and pro-apoptotic activity.

In studies presented here, we investigated the molecular mechanisms by which EGCG affects bFGF degradation (Chapter 3): EGCG increased the ubiquitination as well as trypsin like activity of 26S proteasome causing faster bFGF degradation. We also demonstrated that EGCG could decrease the tumor number and volume in mouse models of colorectal cancer.

Our microarray data from catechin-treated colorectal cancer cells revealed down regulation of a gene called *NUDT6*, an anti-sense of *bFGF*, which we have shown to regulate the bFGF function. NUDT6 is a mitochondrial protein whose biological function is unknown. EGCG affected the mRNA stability of *NUDT6* by decreasing the luciferase activity of its 3'UTR (Chapter 4). NUDT6 stable cells showed increase in cell proliferation and soft agar colony formation. The electrical impedance bio-analytical assay showed increased attachment of NUDT6 cells to the surface media and to each other. NUDT6 cells showed increased invasion rate and decreased Caspase 3/7 activity.

Injection of CONTROL and NUDT6 cells into nude mice complemented the *in vitro* data showing increase in tumor volume, mitotic index and decrease in caspase activity and apoptotic index. This was possibly due to binding of p53 to NUDT6 which led to degradation of p53.

v

NUDT6 was highly expressed in human colon tumor tissue sample compared to normal and NUDT6 could be used as a marker in colon tumorigenesis.

The findings presented in this thesis clearly show that EGCG is an effective chemopreventive dietary agent, decreasing the expression of pro-angiogenic and cell proliferation genes, *bFGF* and *NUDT6* in colorectal cancer cells. Further characterization of NUDT6 as a potential biomarker in colorectal carcinogenesis may provide a better prediction of disease progression in the future.

CHAPTER 1 Introduction: Colorectal cancer and green tea	1
1.1 COLORECTAL CANCER	2
1.1.1 Normal intestinal epithelium	2
1.1.2 Signaling pathways in Colorectal carcinogenesis	5
1.1.3 Vogelstein model	13
1.1.4 Colorectal cancer statistics	15
1.1.5 Types of colorectal cancer	15
1.1.6 Risk factors for colorectal cancer	
1.1.7 Chemotherapy regimen and side effects	
1.2 DIETARY COMPOUNDS	23
1.2.1 Tea	25
1.2.2 Tea processing and manufacturing	25
1.2.3 Chemical composition of green tea	27
1.2.4 Pharmacokinetics of green tea	
1.2.5 Health benefits of green tea	
1.2.6 In vivo effects of EGCG	
1.2.7 EGCG and other drugs/compounds	
1.3 SUMMARY	
CHAPTER 2 Material and Experimental Procedures	
2.1 Cell culture	
2.2 Reagents	
2.3 Reverse Transcription PCR analysis	
2.4 Analysis of protein expression by Western Blot	40
2.5 Cloning and expression vectors	41
2.6 Immunoprecipitation and histidine pull down experiments	41
2.7 Protein degradation study	43
2.8 ELISA assay for bFGF	43
2.9 Ubiquitin assay for bFGF	43
2.10 20S proteasome assay	44

Table of Contents

2.11 Immunostaining of Factor VIII for bFGF	44
2.12 Animal study	45
2.13 RNA stability	46
2.14 Transient transfections and luciferase reporter assays	46
2.15 Development of stable cell lines	47
2.16 Cell proliferation assay	47
2.17 Soft agar assay	47
2.18 Electrical Impedance measurement assay	48
2.19 Mitochondrial extraction protocol	49
2.20 Immunocytochemistry	50
2.21 Caspase activity for NUDT6	50
2.22 Invasion assay for NUDT6	51
2.23 Statistical analysis	52

CHAPTER 3 Effect of EGCG on post translational regulation of Basic fibroblast growth factor in human colorectal cancer cells.....

rowth factor in human colorectal cancer cells	53
3.1 Introduction	54
3.2 Results	61
3.2.1 Basic FGF suppression by Green Tea catechins	61
3.2.2 Proteasome inhibitor restores the suppression of bFGF by EGCG	63
3.2.3 Mechanism of bFGF protein degradation by EGCG	64
3.2.4 Exogenous bFGF proteins responding to cycloheximide	66
3.2.5 Effects of bFGF on intestinal tumorigenesis in APC ^{Min/+} mice	68
3.3 Discussion	71

CHAPTER 4 Effect of EGCG on regulation of NUDT6 in human colorectal cancer

cells	77
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Results	79
4.2.1 Green tea catechins alter gene expression in human colorectal cancer ce	ells79

4.2.2 Posttranscriptional regulation of NUDT6 by EGCG	83
4.2.3 Involvement of the 3'UTR sequence of NUDT6 in mRNA stability and pathways	MAPK 84
4.2.4 Biological activity of NUDT6	86
4.2.5 NUDT6 suppresses p53 expression	90
4.2.6 NUDT6 increases tumor volume in vivo	91
4.2.7 Expression of NUDT6 in human tissues	94
4.3 Discussion	96
CHAPTER 5 Conclusion: EGCG is a chemopreventive agent	103
REFERENCES	109
Vita	131

List of Tables

Table 1 Phosphorylation motif	8
Table 2 Selective risk factors for colorectal cancer	21
Table 3 Molecular targets of EGCG	31
Table 4 Human sense and antisense primers	
Table 5 Differences in the gene status in human colorectal cancer cells	72
Table 6 Up regulated genes	81
Table 7 Down regulated genes	81

1 The morphology of normal colonic mucosa3
1.1 Schematic of the small intestinal and colonic crypts3
1.2 Transition from normal to cancer4
1.3 Wnt signaling pathway6
1.4 MAPK module for ERK, P38, and JNK pathways8
1.5 TGF-β signaling pathway9
1.6 Phosphorylation sites for p5311
1.7 The arachidonic acid metabolic pathway12
1.8 Fearon and Vogelstein model of colorectal carcinogenesis
1.9 Pie-chart showing risks due to different types of colorectal cancers15
1.10 Different forms of colorectal cancer16
1.11 Important bioactive plant compounds in different dietary agents
1.12 Processing of tea
1.13 The chemical structures of four different catechins27
3 Protein ubiquitination
3 Protein ubiquitination
3 Protein ubiquitination
 3 Protein ubiquitination
 3 Protein ubiquitination
3 Protein ubiquitination
3 Protein ubiquitination 59 3.1 Schematic presentation of the 20S and the 26S proteasome 60 3.2 Green tea catechins suppress bFGF expression in different cell lines 62 3.3 EGCG effects of signaling pathway inhibition on bFGF expression 65 3.4 EGCG enhances ubiquitination and increases trypsin-like activity of the 20S proteasome 67 69 3.5 EGCG causes rapid degradation of bFGF 69 3.6 In vivo study 70 4 NUDT6 is suppressed in the presence of catechins 82 4.1 Posttranscriptional regulation of NUDT6. 83 4.2 Involvement of 3'UTR sequences in EGCG-induced NUDT6 mRNA suppression 85
3 Protein ubiquitination
3 Protein ubiquitination
3 Protein ubiquitination

List of Figures

List of Symbols and /or Abbreviations

TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
APC	Adenomatous polyposis coli
GSK3β	Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta
CK1	Casein kinase 1
Ser/Thr	Serine/ Threonine
TCF/LEF	T-cell factor/ Lymphoid enhancing factor
PPAR- o	Peroxisome proliferator activated receptor-delta
SE	Surface epithelium
CC	Colon crypts
GC	Goblet cells
LP	Lamina propria
MM	Muscularis mucosa
K-RAS	Kirsten rat sarcoma
MLH1	mutL homolog 1
MSH2	mutS homolog 2
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
МАРККК	MAPK kinase kinase
МАРКК	MAPK kinase
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
JNK	c-JUN N-terminal kinase
MNK	MAPK signal-integrating kinase
CREB	cAMP response element binding
CRE	cAMP response element
HNPCC	Hereditary non polyposis colorectal cancer
COX	Cyclooxygenase
PGE2	Prostaglandin E2
LOX	Lipoxygenase
PG	Prostaglandin
Тх	Thromboxane
PGG2	Prostaglandin G2
PGH2	Prostaglandin H2
ATM	Ataxia telangiectasia mutated kinase
ATR	ATM and RAD3- related kinase
Cdk2	Cyclin dependent kinase 2
РКС	protein kinase C
FAP	Familial adenomatous polyposis
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
AFAP	Attenuated familial adenomatous polyposis
MUTYH	mutY homolog
MMR	Mismatch repair
MSI	Microsatellite instability
DCC	Deleted in colorectal cancer

5-FU	5- Fluorouracil
EGCG	Epigallocatechin-3-gallate
EGC	Epigallocatechin
ECG	Epicatechin-3-gallate
EC	Epicatechin
NF-ĸB	Nuclear factor- KB
GTP	Green tea polyphenols
NAG-1	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug activated gene 1
EGR-1	Early growth receptor gene-1
ATF3	Activating transcription factor gene 1
Min	Multiple intestinal neoplasia
bFGF	Basic fibroblast growth factor
NUDT6	(nucleoside diphosphate linked moiety X)- type motif 6
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
ECM	Extracellular matrix
NQO1	NAD(P)H quinone oxidoreductase 1
3'UTR	3' untranslated region
NR4A1	Nuclear receptor subfamily 4 group A member 1
ID2	Member of Id helix-loop-helix family of protein
ID1	Inhibitory of DNA binding 1

Introduction: Colorectal cancer and Green tea

CHAPTER 1

1.1 COLORECTAL CANCER

Cancer is a group of diseases which arises when a cell, for a variety of reasons, escapes from the normal constraints placed on its growth and is then characterized by unregulated cell growth, invasion and spread of cells from the site of origin, or primary site, to other sites in the body. Colorectal cancer is a type of cancer characterized by the development of malignant cells in the lining or epithelium of the colon and rectum and is an epithelial neoplasm.

1.1.1 NORMAL INTESTINAL EPITHELIUM

The epithelial cells lining the luminal surface are tightly regulated to ensure homeostasis in the intestine and different layers are shown in Figure 1. The renewal of epithelial cells is dependent upon the adult stem cell compartment localized at the bottom of the crypt (1, 2). After a transient proliferative phase when the cells start migrating upwards, the epithelium differentiates into specialized cell types including absorptive enterocytes, mucus secreting goblet cells, and enteroendocrine cells and the migratory process is finalized when cells reach the top of the crypt where they are exfoliated into the lumen upon apoptosis. In the upper gastrointestinal tract, all cells move upwards during differentiation whereas Paneth cells move downwards (Figure 1.1). Intestinal subepithelial myofibroblasts are specialized stromal cells that form a continuous sheet directly localized underneath the epithelium. These myofibroblasts contribute to epithelial cell function by providing mechanical support and secreting key signaling ligands. Thus, the intimate interaction between the parenchyme and mesenchyme ensures proper tissue function, balancing cell renewal, and differentiation (3). Also tumor progression is driven not just by what is happening inside the tumor cell itself but also by what is happening around it (stroma). The key hallmarks of tumor cell dependent on microenvironment are angiogenesis and invasion (4).



Figure 1. The morphology of normal colonic mucosa. Labels show lumen surface epithelium (SE), colon crypts (CC), goblet cells (GC), lamina propria (LP), and muscularis mucosa (MM). The crypts open to the surface epithelium (20).



Figure 1.1: Schematic of the small intestinal and colonic crypts. (A) Within the small intestine, stem cells are thought to be located at position 4-5 distal to the Paneth cells. (B) Within the colon, they are at the base of the crypt. In the crypt, the majority of cell proliferation takes place in the transit-amplifying region and terminal differentiation usually occurs distal to this region. (Figure from reference (21)).

Overall, cell renewal, proliferation, and differentiation are coupled to positional localization along the crypt-to-villus axis. This positional regulation of proliferation and differentiation can be correlated to several signaling pathways known to govern stemness and differentiation, including Wnt/ β -catenin, and transforming growth factor- β (**Figure 1.2**) [TGF β ; (5)]. Kirsten rat sarcoma (KRAS), a GTP-ase that controls cell proliferation, is mutated in 50–60% of cases of colorectal cancer, and expression of the cell-adhesion transmembrane glycoprotein E-cadherin is down regulated in a similar number of patients. Mutations in the mismatch-repair genes mutL homolog 1(*MLH1*) and mutS homolog 2 (*MSH2*) contribute to genetic instability. SMAD4 belongs to the SMAD family, which is involved in the TGF- β signaling pathway to suppress epithelial-cell growth. p53 mutations tend to be late events and increase the resistance of cancer cells to apoptosis.



Figure 1.2: Transition from normal to cancer. There is a well-described sequence of mutational events that characterize the transition from normal colon epithelium to premalignant adenoma and then invasive adenocarcinoma. (Figure from reference (22)).

1.1.2 SIGNALING PATHWAYS IN COLORECTAL CARCINOGENESIS

WNT pathway: The over –activation of the Wnt signaling route disturbs intestinal homeostasis paving the way for pathogenesis. This pathway demonstrates a complex network of proteins most well known for their roles in embryogenesis and cancer, but also involved in normal physiological processes in adult animals (Figure 1.3) (6). Indeed, the vast majority of sporadic colorectal cancer cases are caused by constitutive Wnt activation due to mutations in either the adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) tumor suppressor or the β -catenin (CTNNB1) oncogene (7). APC is one of the early and frequently mutated genes in colorectal cancer, designated as a `gatekeeper' gene (8). Loss of APC function and upon the binding of a Wnt peptide to its receptor (Frizzled) (9), a signal is instigated, which through the disheveled gene product leads to destabilization of the 'destruction complex', a multiprotein complex (10), encompassing three scaffold proteins, APC, Axin1, and Axin2 (conductin), and two kinases, glycogen synthase kinase-3 β (GSK3 β) and casein kinase 1 (CK1). The complex binds and phosphorylates β -catenin at serine and threonine residues, thus targeting it for ubiquitination and proteolytic degradation. In contrast, oncogenic mutations in β -catenin render it resistant to serine/ threonine (Ser/Thr) phosphorylation and proteolytic degradation. Upon its cytoplasmic stabilization and subsequent nuclear translocation, β-catenin binds to members of the T-cell factor/ Lymphoid enhancing factor (TCF/LEF) family of transcription factors, thus modulating expression of a broad range of target genes. One gene is Cyclin D1 which has crucial role in cell growth, proliferation and differentiation, and is inappropriately activated in colon cancer (11). Another gene which is activated in a deranged Wnt signaling system is *c-myc* (12, 13). *C-myc* codes for a transcription factor regulating a large set of genes including p53 and exert diverse overall effects, such as

activation of the cell cycle, induction of apoptosis, and inhibition of differentiation. This shows the importance of Wnt signaling pathway in normal function of a colonic epithelial cell. Yet another gene is peroxisome proliferator activated receptor-delta (*PPAR-δ*) which is an APC regulated gene. PPAR- δ expression is found to be elevated in colorectal cancer and is repressed by APC (14). This repression was mediated by β-catenin/Tcf-4-responsive elements in the PPARdelta promotor (15). Tumor cells located at the invasive front and those migrating into the adjacent stromal tissue are characterized by nuclear β-catenin accumulation (16, 17). Hence, different levels of Wnt/β-catenin-signaling activity are likely to reflect tumor heterogeneity and to underlie malignant behavior (18, 19).



Figure 1.3: Wnt signaling pathway. The events ocurring in presence and absence of Wnt ligand binding. Details in text. Figure from reference (23).

K-RAS and MAPK pathways: Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) is a signal transduction pathway which involves serine/threonine specific protein kinases that respond to extracellular stimuli (mitogens). They regulate various cellular activities, such as gene expression, mitosis, differentiation, proliferation, and cell survival/apoptosis (24). The cascade of this pathway begins with activation of RAS oncogene and mutation of K-RAS is important in colorectal adenoma progression (Figure 1.4). There have been reports wherein MAPK activities have been shown to increase in the adenoma-to-carcinoma sequence suggesting its role in colorectal tumor progression (Figure 1.2) (25). At the core of each MAPK cascade, there is a three-kinase module consisting of a MAPK kinase kinase (MAPKKK), a MAPK kinase (MAPKK) and a MAPK (Figure. 1.3). Activation of MAPK is initiated by phosphorylation of MAPKKK leading to a cascade of site-specific phosphorylations of Thr and Tyr residues within catalytic domains of the enzymes transmitted through the module (26). According to the sequence homology (Table 1), MAPKs are divided into subfamilies, of which extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK or ERK1/2), p38 MAPK (p38) and c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) have been under intensive investigation (27, 28). Several transcription factors are regulated by MAPK. MAPK phosphorylates and activates MAP kinase signal-integrating kinase (MNK) which in turn phosphorylates cAMP response element binding (CREB) (29). CREB is a protein that is a transcription factor which binds to certain DNA sequences called CRE or cAMP response elements and thereby increase or decrease the transcription and expression of certain genes (30). MAPK also regulates the transcription of the c-fos gene (31). This gene is a transcription factor which is a cellular proto-oncogene belonging to the family of immediate early genes. By altering the levels and activities of transcription factors, MAPK leads to altered transcription of genes that are important for the cell cycle.



Figure 1.4: MAPK module for ERK, P38, and JNK pathways (28).

Table 1: Phosphorylation motifs. The phosphorylations of specific motifs activate the three major subfamilies of MAPK cascade. The sequence motif of Thr-glutamine (Glu)-Tyr is phosphorylated in case of ERK pathway. The sequence motif of Thr-glycine (Gly)-Tyr is phosphorylated in case of p38 pathway. The sequence motif of Thr-proline (Pro)-Tyr is phosphorylated in case of JNK pathway leading to different activities of cell proliferation and cell differentiation.

SUBFAMILIES	SEQUENCE MOTIF	ACTIVATION	ACTIVITIES
	PHOSPHORYLATED		
ERK	Thr-Glu-Tyr	Growth factors,	Cell proliferation and
		phorbol esters and	cell differentiation
		viral transformation	
P38	Thr-Gly-Tyr	osmotic stress and	Cell differentiation
		also pro-apoptotic	
		stimuli	
JNK	Thr-Pro-Tyr	ultraviolet irradiation	Cell differentiation

TGF- β **pathway:** TGF- β is part of a superfamily of proteins known as the transforming growth factor β superfamily (32). TGF- β initiates signaling by formation of heteromeric complexes of type I and type II serine/threonine kinase receptors (33). The role of TGF- β in tumorigenesis is quite complex, but it appears that TGF- β functions both as a tumor suppressor in early tumor onset (34, 35) and as an oncogene during late tumor progression (35). The loss of suppression activity of TGF- β receptor II due to somatic mutations are found in patients with hereditary non polyposis colorectal cancers (HNPCCs). (36) (**Figure 1.5**). The tumor suppressor gene involved in 18q deletions known for poor prognosis in colorectal cancer patients, is *SMAD-4*. The *SMAD-2* gene, coding for another component of the TGF- β signaling pathway might be deleted in another group of colorectal cancers. SMAD-2 binds to SMAD-4 and the complex translocates to nucleus causing transcription of genes involved in tumor suppression or promotion.



Figure 1.5 TGF- β signaling pathway. TGF- β binds to the receptor T β -RII; this binding might be enhanced by the presence of T β -RII. After binding to TGF- β , T β -RII recruits and phosphorylates T β -RI, leading to activation of Smad2 and Smad3 by phosphorylation (P). This process is inhibited by SMAD7. Activated SMAD2 and SMAD3 form heterodimers with SMAD4 and translocate to the nucleus. Together with co-activators, co-repressors and other transcription factors, the SMAD complex regulates gene expression (37).

P53 mutations: The tumor suppressor gene, p53 plays a crucial role at the crossroads between cellular proliferation and apoptosis, as the guardian of the integrity of the genome, and as cell invasion inhibitor (38). The loss of p53 activity can be dangerous in relation to cancer as it allows faulty mutant cells to continue through the cell cycle, these cells escape apoptosis, and it leads to the genetic instability characteristic of cancer cells, allowing further cancer promoting mutations to accumulate as they divide.

The tumor suppressor protein p53 is one of many proteins that contribute to the activation of the intrinsic apoptotic signaling pathway (39, 40). The p53 tumor suppressor gene product is a primary regulator of cellular responses to stressors that contribute to oncogenesis (41-43). It functions as a sequence- specific transcription factor (44). The human genome contains more than 200 genes that are directly responsive to p53 (45). Promoter mapping and microarray studies have already implicated p53 in the regulation of over 100 genes involved in cellular processes such as DNA repair, angiogenesis, signal transduction, and oxidative stress (46) However the most intensively studied outcomes of induction of p53 are cell cycle block (47) at different stages of cell cycle (48) and activation of apoptosis (49-53), thus helping to prevent DNA damage and blocking the propagation of cells that have experienced damage.

The mechanisms underlying p53-mediated apoptosis are not as clearly defined, although lots of p53 target genes have been implicated in this process (54). p53 initiates cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in various ways among different cell-types (55, 56). Different mechanisms are involved in regulation of the two major aspects of the p53 response, activation and accumulation (57, 58), so that transactivation by p53 of genes required for cell cycle arrest is not accompanied necessarily by an increase in the amount of p53 protein (58). Primary cause of accumulation of p53 is by an increase in its half-life (59). p53 degradation is mediated by ubiquitin-dependent

proteolysis (60). Posttranslational modification is the major mechanism of p53 regulation. Several different protein kinases can phosphorylate distinct domains of p53 *in vitro* (61). These phosphorylation events affect the transactivation function of p53. The phosphorylation sites of p53 and the different kinases involved in phosphorylation are demonstrated in **Figure 1.6**. Mutation in p53 gene has shown to cause increase cell invasion (62).

Cyclooxygenase Pathway (COX): Cyclooxygenases (COXs), key enzymes responsible for eicosanoid production, can profoundly influence cancer development, progression, metastasis and therapeutic response especially COX-2 and its enzymatic product prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) (63).



Figure 1.6: Phosphorylation sites for p53. p53 is phosphorylated at different serine residues by different kinases. Serine 15 site is phosphorylated by ataxia telangiectasia mutated kinase (ATM) and ATM and Rad3-related kinase (ATR) and is extensively studied. The other known kinases are casein kinase I (CKI) phosphorylating serine 6, 9, and 18. Checkpoint homolog 2 kinase (Chk2) phosphorylates serine 20. P38 MAPK phosphorylating serine 46 and 389. JNK phosphorylating serine 81. Cycling dependent kinase 2 (Cdk2), protein kinase C (PKC), and casein kinase II (CKII) phosphorylate serine 315, 376 and 392 respectively.

This pathway is more commonly known as arachidonic acid pathway (**Figure 1.7**). Metabolism of arachidonic acid is caused either by the COX or Lipoxygenase (LOX) pathway generating eicosanoids which have been shown to play an important role in pathogenesis of variety of human diseases, like cancer and by its promotion, progression and metastasis (64). COX is the first enzyme in the pathway for producing prostaglandins (PG) and thromboxane (Tx) from Arachidonic acid. It occurs in two isoforms, COX-1 and COX- 2 (65). Arachidonic acid is released from cell membrane phospholipids by phospholipase A2 and is then acted on by COX-1 or COX-2 to produce the intermediate metabolites, prostaglandin G2 (PGG₂₎ and prostaglandin H2 (PGH₂₎. COX-1 occurs in tissues and its function is to protect the cell (66). COX-2 is present in stroma and takes part early in neoplastic process (67). COX-2 is highly inducible by various cytokines, growth factors, and tumor promoters (68). Elevated COX-2 levels are associated with inflammation, neoplastic transformation, metastasis, and increased expression of mRNA and protein is found in the great majority of colorectal cancers (69).



Figure 1.7: The arachidonic acid metabolic pathway (74)

LOX is the first enzyme in the pathway that produces leukotrienes from arachidonic acid. The isoenzymes of LOX include 5-LOX, 12-LOX, and two 15-LOX (1 and 2). They are involved in formation of the biologically active compounds such as leukotrienes and hydroxyl-eicosatetraenoic acids (66).

Leukotrienes belong to a key group of pro inflammatory mediators that are synthesized from arachidonic acid via the 5-LOX pathway. 5-LOX leads to formation of unstable LTA₄, which can be converted to LTB₄ or LTC₄, LTD₄ and LTE₄. 5-LOX, 12-LOX and 15-LOX-1 have shown to have pro-tumorigenic effects but 15-LOX-2 has anti-carcinogenic effects (70).

1.1.3 VOGELSTEIN MODEL

Fearon and Vogelstein model (1990) of colorectal carcinogenesis is primarily defined as sequences of mutations associated with progression of tumors (71) (**Figure 1.8**). According to this model every colorectal carcinoma is likely to have developed through the same progression of histological stages, but the underlying genetic changes are much less predictable. The sequences of events that have been shown in this model correspond to the changes frequently involved in particular stages of progression.

In HNPCC (discussed later), the early stages probably follow an alternative pathway. After loss of the wild-type mutS homolog 2 (MSH2) or mutL homolog 1 (MLH1) allele, which produces cells with deficient mismatch repair, specific genes including the $TGF\beta$ receptor II gene show frame shift mutations. The 100–1000-fold increase in mutation rate in these tumors must also speed progression through the later stages. These are not the only changes seen in colorectal carcinomas, but they are the ones which can be most readily associated with specific stages.

The *MSH2* and mutS homolog 1 (*MSH1*) genes in HNPCC are not directly involved in this pathway.

Microsatellites are repeated sequences of DNA and several genes have been identified that are frequently mutated in cancers with microsatellite instability (*TGFBR2, RAS, E2F-4, BAX*, etc.) that is appearance of abnormally long or short microsatellites in an individual's DNA due to defects in normal DNA repair, and it seems likely that the mutator phenotype can either accelerate progress along the pathway, or facilitate alternative routes to malignant transformation.



Figure 1.8. Fearon and Vogelstein model of colorectal carcinogenesis. *APC* gene mutation occurs at chromosome 5q which is associated with FAP in humans (112). Loss of APC initiates the colorectal cancer formation in normal epithelium. Hyperproliferation of epithelium is seen with DNA hypomethylation. KRAS gene activation at chromosome 12p causes formation of early adenomas which then become cancerous following loss of other tumor suppressor genes such as SMAD4 and p53 on chromosomes 18q and 17p respectively.

1.1.4 COLORECTAL CANCER STATISTICS

Colorectal cancer is one of the most common cancer in the United States ranking third in frequency behind lung and prostate cancer in men in the United States and behind lung and breast cancer in women with about 148,810 new cases and 49,960 deaths expected in 2008 (72). It develops slowly over many years and usually begins as a polyp: a benign growth of tissue that starts in the lining and grows into the lumen of the colon or rectum. About 72% and 28% cases arise in the colon and rectum respectively. Early detection and removal of polyps may prevent formation of adenocarcinomas, which account for over 95% of colorectal cancers. Colorectal cancer accounts for about 10 percent of all new cases of cancer each year in the United States. It is also responsible for about 10 percent of all deaths from cancer. The lifetime risk of being diagnosed with colorectal cancer is 5.5% for men and 5.1% for women in the US (73).

1.1.5 TYPES OF COLORECTAL CANCER



Broadly colorectal cancer is divided into two major types: hereditary and sporadic (Figure 1.9).

Figure 1.9: Pie-chart showing risks due to different types of colorectal cancers. Sporadic cancers risk is seen in men and women over 50 years and more having no special risk factors. Inflammatory bowel disease, IBD accounts for 1% risk. The hereditary cancers accounts for almost 25%.

Hereditary cases account for almost 25% of total colorectal cancer incidence and include familial colorectal cancer or family history, familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP), HNPCC, inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), and others. The sporadic cancer accounts for almost 75% (75). Familial colorectal cancer or family history accounts for 15-20% of hereditary or inherited colorectal cancer. It is acquired in autosomal dominant manner (**Figure 1.9**). However, major emphasis is given to FAP and HNPCC in considering inherited forms of colorectal cancer (**Figure 1.10**).



Figure 1.10: Different forms of colorectal cancer. They occur due to stepwise loss of signaling pathways and processes. The genes involved in formation of colorectal cancer belong to both oncogenic as well as tumor suppressor pathways. The initial pathways playing a role are oncogenic pathways like WNT and Ki-RAS. In case of WNT pathway, the tumor suppressor gene, APC is mutated and in Ki-RAS pathway, KRAS gene is activated. This is seen in case of inherited familial adenomatous polyposis syndrome (FAP) which is identified based on adenomas. Later on the genes belonging to mismatch repair (MMR) pathway are mutated. Finally the guardian of genome, p53 tumor suppressor gene is mutated causing cell proliferation and cell invasion. This is seen in case of another inherited disease, hereditary non polyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC) wherein adenocarcinoma is seen. Li-Fraumeni syndrome is a rare autosomal dominant hereditary disorder due to p53 mutation. (Figure from reference (71)).

Familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP): FAP is very rare inherited disorder (76). It causes less than 1% of all colorectal cancer cases that is the incidence rate is 1 in 7,000 to 1 in 22, 000 (77). People with classical FAP may begin to develop multiple noncancerous (benign) growths (polyps) in the colon as early as their teenage years. Unless the colon is removed, these polyps will become malignant (cancerous).

The number of polyps' increases with age in classic FAP cases and hundreds to thousands of polyps can develop in the colon. In both classic familial adenomatous polyposis and its attenuated variant, benign and malignant tumors are sometimes found in other places in the body, including the duodenum (a section of the small intestine) (78), stomach (79), bones, skin (80), and other tissues (81, 82). Adenomatous polyposis gene or *APC* tumor suppressor gene plays an important role and its mutations can cause both classic and attenuated familial adenomatous polyposis (83, 84). Around five hundred *APC* mutations have been identified so far (85). With *APC* gene mutation, FAP is inherited in an autosomal dominant pattern.

Attenuated familial adenomatous polyposis (AFAP): Some people have a variant of the disorder, called attenuated familial adenomatous polyposis, in which polyp growth is delayed. The average age of colorectal cancer onset for attenuated familial adenomatous polyposis is 55 years (86). This milder presentation of FAP is characterized by fewer polyps and later age of onset than classic FAP (87). In AFAP, typically fewer than 100 polyps are observed. Polyps of the gastric fundus and duodenum also occur; however, many of the extra colonic manifestations commonly observed in FAP (e.g., epidermal cysts, dental abnormalities, congenital hypertrophy of retinal pigmented epithelium, desmoid tumors) may be absent in AFAP. Polyps and colon

cancers associated with AFAP do not usually exhibit microsatellite instability. AFAP is caused by mutations in the *APC* gene and is inherited in an autosomal dominant manner (88).

MYH- associated polyposis: mutY Homolog (E. coli) (*MUTYH*) is a human gene (89) that is involved in formation of enzyme (MUTYH glycosylase) required in the DNA repair. With mutations in the mutY Homolog (E. coli) (*MUTYH*) human gene, colorectal cancer is inherited in autosomal recessive pattern (90). Mutations in this gene prevent the enzyme from correcting mistakes that are made during DNA replication in preparation for cell division. As these mistakes build up in a person's DNA, the likelihood of cell overgrowth increases, leading to colon polyps and the possibility of colon cancer. People with the autosomal recessive type of this disorder have fewer polyps than those with the classic type (91)

Hereditary non-polyposis colon cancer (HNPCC): HNPCC, also known as Lynch syndrome (92), accounts for about 2 to 7% of all colorectal cancers. It is an inherited colorectal cancer syndrome and also results in neoplasia in at least 7 other organs (93). HNPCC is caused by an inherited mutation in one of the DNA mismatch repair (MMR) genes (94). Genes in the MMR pathway are responsible for identifying and repairing single nucleotide mismatches and insertion or deletion loops that occur as cells grow and divide. Defects in the genes involved with mismatch repair lead to an accumulation of somatic mutations in a cell, which may result in the cell becoming malignant. There are at least 5 genes that have been found to cause HNPCC. Individuals with HNPCC have an approximately 80% lifetime risk for colon cancer (73). The average age of colorectal cancer diagnosis is 61 years. The *hMSH2* and *hMLH1* are most commonly mutated *MMR* genes in HNPCC, and the other genes involved are *hMSH6*, *PMS1* and *PMS2* (95). 10- 20% of colon cancers occurring in individuals who are not known to have or

suspected of having HNPCC have microsatellite instability (MSI) caused by silencing of the *MLH1* gene by methylation or caused by somatic mutations of the mismatch repair genes (96). The aberrant operation of DNA mismatch repair systems lead to MSI and cause naturally occurring, highly repeated short DNA sequences, called microsatellites, to get shorter or longer than expected. Microsatellites have a repetitive sequence of nucleotides (e.g., AAAAA or CGCGCGCG) that are particularly susceptible to acquiring errors when mismatch repair gene function is impaired and are a good marker to distinguish HNPCC from other forms of inherited colorectal cancers. The other rare syndromes include:

Li-Fraumeni syndrome: There is also another rare syndrome which occurs due to germ line mutations of the p53 tumor suppressor gene (97) (**Figure 1.10**). This hereditary disorder is called as Li-Fraumeni syndrome named after Frederick Pei Li and Joseph F.Fraumeni, Jr. who were both American Physicians. They first described that this syndrome greatly increases susceptibility to cancer. They discovered that mutations are either inherited or they can arise de novo early in embryogenesis or in one of the parent's germ cells. This syndrome also develops when people are relatively young.

Turcot syndrome: This is a rare inherited condition in which people are at increased risk of adenomatous polyps and colorectal cancer, as well as brain tumors (98). There are actually 2 types of Turcot syndrome; one can be caused by gene changes similar to those seen in FAP, in which cases the brain tumors are medulloblastoma, and the other can also be caused by gene changes similar to those seen in HNPCC, in which cases the brain tumors are glioblastomas.

Peutz-Jeghers syndrome: People with this rare inherited condition tend to have freckles around the mouth, sometimes on the hands and feet, and large polyps in their digestive tracts (99). They are at greatly increased risk for colorectal cancer, as well as several other cancers, which usually appear at a younger than normal age. Families with this inherited syndrome should be identified and members should be screened regularly from an early age.

Sporadic Colorectal cancer: The vast majority of colorectal cancers are sporadic, they occur without an inherited mutation predisposing them to colorectal cancer or a family history of it (100). However a series of mutations is needed for colorectal cancer to develop. It often takes many decades for these mutations to accumulate –hence the majority of colorectal cancer cases occur in the elderly. Mutations in *APC* are seen in 70 to 80% of sporadic tumors and often occur early in the development of colorectal cancer (101). During early stages of colorectal tumorigenesis, K-RAS gene is mutated (102-104). The *p53* gene is another tumor suppressor gene that is known to be mutated (105, 106). The *p53*-encoding gene mutations in colorectal cancer occur in specific conserved regions of the gene and might be present in over 50% of the colorectal cancers (102, 107). In addition, the *DCC* (deleted in colorectal cancer) gene is mutated in 70% of colorectal cancers (108, 109), and *MMR* genes are inactivated in around 15% of sporadic cases (8, 110).

1.1.6 RISK FACTORS FOR COLORECTAL CANCER

Any factor increasing a chance of getting diseases like cancer is a risk factor. Relative risk (RR) is a ratio of the probability of the event occurring in the exposed group versus a non-exposed group (111) (**Table 2**).
Table 2: Selective risk factors for colorectal cancer. A relative risk of 1 means there is no difference in risk between the two groups. An RR of < 1 means the event is less likely to occur in the experimental group than in the control group. An RR of > 1 means the event is more likely to occur in the experimental group than in the control group.

NO.	RISK FACTORS	RELATIVE	REFERENCES
		RISK	
Ι	Family and medical histories:		
1.	Family history (first degree relative)	1.8	(73, 113, 114)
2.	Inflammatory bowel disease (diagnosed ≥ 10 years)	1.5	(115)
Π	Modifiable factors that increase risk		
1.	Obesity (Body mass index \geq 30)	1.5-2.0	(116-118)
2.	Red meat (\geq 7 servings/ week vs 1 serving/ month.	1.5	(119, 120)
3.	Cigarette use (current vs never)	1.5	(121-124)
4.	Alcohol (\geq 4 drinks/week vs none)	1.4	(125)
III	Modifiable factors that decrease risk		
1.	Physical activity (more than 3 h/ week vs none)	0.6	(126-129)
2.	Vegetable and fruit consumption (\geq 5 vs <3 servings/ day	0.7	(128, 130-133)

1.1.7 CHEMOTHERAPY REGIMEN AND SIDE EFFECTS

Chemotherapy is a referral term for drugs that prevent cell proliferation or kill cancer cells or both. There are some specific drugs used at specific dosages and schedules for a specific type of cancer. Chemotherapy is currently the main treatment for metastatic disease (134) and used;

1) In advanced stages of colorectal cancer that has already metastasized to other parts of the body and there is no option for surgery.

2) Given after cancer is surgically removed in order to make sure that all cancer cells are killed that might have been missed during surgery like the metastasized ones.

3) Tried before surgery to shrink the big tumors to facilitate easy removal.

The first choice of drug for colorectal cancer for many years has been 5-Fluorouracil (5-FU) (135). It is given intravenously. Recently, a pill form of 5-FU has also been developed, called Xeloda, which is used for metastatic colorectal cancer. Certain new drugs like Camptosar, Eloxatin and Avastin have been given along with 5-FU for metastatic colorectal cancer.

Patients with mutations in KRAS do not respond to drugs inhibiting epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) (136) like Erbitux (cetuximab) and Vectibix (panitumumab) unlike patients having KRAS wild type expression.

Radiation therapy is not very commonly used as it is difficult to target specific portions of the colon and also it could lead to radiation enteritis (137). But sometimes chemotherapy agents are used to increase the effectiveness of radiation by sensitizing tumor cells if present (138).

This chemotherapeutic regimen even though effective is not desirable because of the severe side effects that accompany it (139). The side effects mainly occur as the mechanism of these drugs is to kill rapidly dividing cancer cells but in that process they also rapidly kill healthy dividing cells lining the mouth, gastrointestinal tract, hair follicles and the bone marrow.

Some of the side effects are nausea, vomiting, loss of appetite, diarrhea, hair loss, mouth sores, increased risk of infection, bleeding, anemia due to low white and red blood cells. The effective cancer drug Cisplatin is known for severe nephrotoxicity and ototoxicity (140). A preferable option would be to take advantage of the natural characteristics of dietary components in tackling cancer.

1.2 DIETARY COMPOUNDS

Epidemiological studies have suggested that nutrition plays an important role in carcinogenesis. Approximately 30% of cancer morbidity and mortality might be prevented with proper adjustment of diets (141-143) and one-third of all the cancers in the United States might be avoided by introducing fruits and vegetables in the daily diet (144). The relative risk of colorectal carcinogenesis is decreased with diets rich in vegetables and fruits (**Table 2**). The basic theory of chemoprevention is to reduce the occurrence of cancer either by slowing, blocking, or reversing the development of the disease by the administration of natural or synthetic compounds (145). Although epidemiologic studies suggest a significant dietary influence on carcinogenesis, the molecular mechanisms responsible for potential human health benefits derived from dietary components must be studied *in vitro* and validated in pre-clinical studies in animal models before strong support can be given for more extensive clinical trials.

Some foods contain phytochemicals or flavanoids which are anti-oxidants, anti-inflammatory and anti-cancer agents (146). There are epidemiological studies carried out which clearly suggest that higher intake of fruits, vegetables, whole grains and plant proteins in comparison to typical American diet is associated with a markedly reduced risk of cancer, heart disease, and some other chronic diseases (147). These dietary patterns are also termed as low-fat, high-fiber diets. The diet rich in plant foods not only has essential vitamins and minerals but also over 25,000 phyto-chemicals which is not available in a typical Western pattern based on refined grains, added oils, sugar, and salt (148). Few examples of the dietary agents with active components are as seen in Figure 1.11. We decided to focus on green tea since it has attracted significant attention, both in the scientific and in consumer communities for its health benefits for a variety of disorders, ranging from cancer to heart disease to weight loss (149-151). Not only has the intake increased over a period of years but also it is been now seen as a featured ingredient in nutritional several supplements, including multivitamin supplements (152).



Figure 1.11: Important bioactive plant compounds in different dietary agents. All these Polyphenols are potent antioxidant agents and have effect on cancer at one or other stages of initiation, promotion and progression (159).

1.2.1 TEA

Tea is the most widely consumed popular beverage second to water, well ahead of coffee, beer, wine, and carbonated soft drinks (153, 154). Tea is cultivated in approximately 30 countries worldwide and is consumed globally. About three billion kilograms of tea is produced and consumed yearly (155). Successful tea cultivation requires moist humid climates available in the slopes of northern India, Sri Lanka, Tibet, and southern China which have the ideal growing conditions (156).

1.2.2 TEA PROCESSING AND MANUFACTURING

Tea, Camellia sinensis, is manufactured in four basic forms - White tea, green tea, oolong tea and black tea (**Figure 1.12**). White tea is made from new growth buds and young leaves that have been steamed to inactivate polyphenol oxidation and then dried. The young buds are usually shielded from direct sunlight to prevent formation of chlorophyll. Green tea is produced by an initial heating process or steaming, which kills the enzyme polyphenol oxidase (157), which is responsible for the conversion of the flavanols in the leaf into the dark polyphenolic compounds that color black tea. All the active ingredients in tea called polyphenols or catechins are intact as green tea is not fermented. Oolong tea is partially oxidized product. In case of manufacturing black tea, the tea leaves are crushed to allow the polyphenol oxidase to catalyze the oxidation, leading to polymerization of catechins forming theaflavins and thearubigins. Of the tea produced worldwide, 78% is black tea, which is usually consumed in the Western countries and Asian countries like India, 20% is green tea, which is commonly consumed in Asian countries, and 2% is Oolong tea which is consumed mainly in Southern China (158).



Figure 1.12: Processing of tea. Camellia sinensis tea plant is processed in different ways to obtain four main kinds of teas: white tea which is just steamed dried, green tea; which is withered, steamed and dried, oolong tea; which is partially fermented, and black tea which is fully fermented and this fermentation destroys most of the active components of tea. The purple arrows designate increase in catechin content as the teas are less fermented. The yellow arrow shows increase in theaflavins and thearubigins when the teas undergo fermentation. White tea has maximum catechin content but is very expensive and not readily available.

1.2.3 CHEMICAL COMPOSITION OF GREEN TEA

The chemical composition of green tea varies with climate, season, horticultural practices, and position of the leaf on the harvested shoot. The chemical composition of green tea is complex. Mainly it contains: proteins (15– 20% dry weight); carbohydrates (5–7% dry weight); vitamins (B, C, E); xanthine bases such as caffeine and theophylline; minerals and trace elements (5% dry weight) (157). Polyphenols constitute the most interesting group of green tea leaf components, particularly flavonoids (phenol derivatives) and are widely distributed in plant World (160). The main flavonoids present in green tea include catechins (flavan-3-ols). The four major catechins are (-) - epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG), that represents approximately 59% of the total of catechins; (-)-epigallocatechin (EGC) (19% approximately); (-)-epicatechin-3-gallate (ECG) (13.6% approximately); and (-)-epicatechin (EC) (6.4% approximately) (161) (**Figure 1.13**).



Figure 1.13: The chemical structures of four different catechins. The hydroxyl groups present on the catechins give them their anti-oxidant properties. EGCG is the most abundant of the total catechins in green tea and is the strongest antioxidant agent.

Green tea also contains gallic acid (GA) and other phenolic acids such as chlorogenic acid and caffeic acid, and flavonols such as kaempferol, myricetin and quercetin (162). The relative catechin content of green tea as mentioned earlier depends on how the leaves are processed before drying, a certain grade of fermentation and heating of tea leaves during the manufacturing process. Other factors influencing catechin content are the geographical location and growing conditions (soil, climate, agricultural practices, fertilizers), the type of green tea (e.g., blended, decaffeinated, instant), and the preparation of the infusion (e.g., amount of the product used, brew time, temperature). A cup of green tea (2.5 g of green tea leaves/200 mL of water) may contain 90 mg of EGCG (163, 164). The catechins usually account for 30-42% of the dry weight of the solids in brewed green tea (165). Catechin and epicatechin are epimers, with (-)-epicatechin and (+)-catechin being the most common optical isomers found in nature (166). Epigallocatechin and gallocatechin contain an additional phenolic hydroxyl group (167), which makes them stronger anti-oxidant agents compared to epicatechin and catechin, respectively. Catechin gallates are gallic acid esters of the catechins, such as EGCG (epigallocatechin gallate).

1.2.4 PHARMACOKINETICS OF GREEN TEA

The possible influence of green tea on cancer in humans has been difficult to interpret due to confounding factors, such as diversity in types of tea used, preparation methods, including temperature of infusion, frequency of tea drinking and other environmental factors. The potential health benefits of catechins depend on the amount consumed and on their bioavailability. The bioavailability appears to be very variable (168). Bioavailability in two early studies found plasma levels at 0.2%–2% of the ingested amount of EGCG (up to 4µmol/L), but higher plasma concentrations have since been reported in fasting patients compared to those who consumed

catechins with food (169-171). The oral administration in human patients resulted in high plasma clearance levels and volume distribution, suggesting that the bioavailability of EGCG in the blood may be low.

In a study conducted on rats, following oral administration of tea catechins, the four principal catechins (EC, ECG, EGC, and EGCG) have been identified in the portal vein, indicating that tea catechins are absorbed intestinally (172). The study carried out in rats and mice indicated species differences in the bioavailability of EGCG and adaptive response of plasma catechin levels to catechin ingestion over time in mice and rats (173). Catechin levels in human plasma reach their peak 2 to 4 h after ingestion (174). After a single dose (1.2g/ 200ml water) of green tea or green tea extract, the highest concentrations of individual catechins measured in human plasma were slightly greater than 1 μM (175).

EGCG Metabolism: EGCG is about 25-100 times more potent than Vitamin C in its antioxidant property (176). EGCG is mostly present in free form in plasma (177). EGCG levels are higher in the esophagus, small intestine and large intestine, but lower in other organs, likely due to poor systemic absorption of EGCG. EGCG is mainly excreted through the bile (157). EGCG may be metabolized into simpler compounds by colonic bacteria, absorbed, and ultimately excreted in the urine (178). Determination of the actual bioavailability of metabolites in tissues may be much more important than knowledge of their plasma concentration (179). A study that examined salivary levels of tea catechins in humans found that holding an EGCG solution in the mouth resulted in EGCG in the saliva (180). Additionally, saliva was found to have catechins esterase activity, suggesting that EGCG may be degalloylated in the mouth and esophagus (181). Although phase I transformation reactions for catechins have not been well defined, phase II

reactions, including glucuronidation, sulfation, and *o*-methylation, have been reported in rodents and humans after oral, i.v., and i.p. administration (182, 183). Enzymes involved in polyphenol metabolism include catechol-o-methyltransferase (COMT) having highest activity in liver, kidney, and jejunum (184), UDP-glucuronosyltransferase (UGT) having highest activity in mucosa of the small and large intestine (185), and phenolsulfotransferase (SULT) having highest activity in the liver (186).

Physiologically relevant concentration of EGCG in humans: The plasma bioavailability of EGCG, whether administered as tea or a pure compound, is in the range of 0.1–7 μ mol/L in humans, with concentrations over 100 μ mol/L observed in saliva. No significant excretion occurred in urine (generally <0.1% of dose) (187).

1.2.5 HEALTH BENEFITS OF GREEN TEA

Green tea is known for its medicinal benefits on almost all parts of the body, we will be mainly focusing on its anticancer benefits. Health benefits of Green tea are mainly attributed to it abundant catechin, EGCG. Some of the molecular targets of EGCG in vitro are mentioned in **Table 3.**

Anticancer health benefits: Abundant experimental and epidemiological evidence accumulated mainly in the past decade from several centers worldwide provide a convincing argument that polyphenolic antioxidants present in green tea can reduce cancer risk in a variety of animal tumor bioassay systems (188-190).

Table 3: Molecular targets of EGCG. There are many signaling molecules which are targets of EGCG, few of which are mentioned in the table below. Table is based on information from reference (187)

TARGET SIGNALING MOLECULES	INDUCTION (\uparrow) OR
	INHIBITION (↓)
Growth factor receptors (EGFR, platelet derived (PDGFR),	↓
fibroblast (FGFR), vascular endothelial (VEGFR)	
Survival signaling pathway components (extracellular signal	\downarrow
regulated kinase (ERK), p38, activating protein-1 (AP-1),	
signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT), PI3K,	
Akt, and nuclear factor, NF-κB]	
cell cycle regulators [cyclin D1, cyclin-dependent kinases	\downarrow
(cdk)2/4/6]	
p21, p27, phosphorylated retinoblastoma (pRb)	1
Regulators of apoptosis (Bcl2)	\downarrow
Bax, Bad, caspases-3/7/8/9, and poly (ADP ribose)	1
polymerase (PARP)].	
Cell junction proteinases (MMP-9, uPAR)	\downarrow

Tea consumption also assures protection against cancers induced by chemical carcinogens that involve the lung, fore stomach, esophagus, duodenum, pancreas, liver, breast, colon, and skin in mice, rats, and hamsters (188, 191). An empirical link between green tea and its cancer prevention properties was made in the late 1980s (192). Molecular mechanisms, including catechin-mediated induction of apoptosis and cell cycle arrest (193-196), inhibition of transcription factors NF- κ B and AP-1 (195, 197) and reduction of protein tyrosine kinase activity (198) and *c-jun* mRNA expression have also been suggested as relevant chemo preventive pathways for tea (199). Some epidemiological studies also support a protective role of tea against the development of cancer (161). Importantly, the putative chemo preventive effect of tea also varies by the specific type of cancer.

Lung cancer: Studies of the effects of green tea on the development of lung cancer in mice could have promising implications for humans. Green tea infusions have also been shown to inhibit the spontaneous formation of lung tumors and rhabdomyosarcomas in A/J mice (200). In a population- based case-control study in Shanghai, China, consumption of green tea was associated with a reduced risk of lung cancer among non-smoking women and the risks decreased with increasing consumption (201). In a case control study in Uruguay, tea drinking is associated with reduced risk of lung cancer in male cigarette smokers (202).

Breast cancer: Dietary habits play a role in breast cancer risk and prevention as well. Recently, EGCG was found to suppress Wnt signaling in invasive breast cancer cells (203). Green tea polyphenols (GTPs) have been reported to have effect on growth and metastasis of highly metastatic mammary carcinoma cells in vitro and in vivo systems. Metastasis of tumor cells to lungs was inhibited and survival period of animals was increased after treatment with GTP (204). Green tea or EGCG exhibited chemo preventive action on DMBA-induced mammary carcinogenesis only when given in the post initiation stage, and the effect was not dose dependent (205).

Prostate cancer: There is low incidence of prostate cancer among Japanese and Chinese populations with a high intake of green tea (206). In studies using the transgenic adenocarcinoma of the mouse prostate (TRAMP), an animal model that mimics progressive forms of human prostatic disease, GTP consumption was found to significantly inhibit prostate cancer development and metastasis (206). Studies on cell-culture systems using human prostate cancer cells DU145 (androgen-insensitive) and LNCaP (androgen-sensitive) showed that EGCG induces apoptosis, cell-growth inhibition and cell-cycle dysregulation (207).

Gastrointestinal tract cancers: We and numerous others have reported the colorectal cancer preventive activities of EGCG: green tea induced pro-tumorigenic proteins, NAG-1, EGR-1, and ATF3 in colorectal cancer cells to induce growth inhibition and apoptosis (208, 209). Oral green tea administration inhibited intestinal tumor formation in the APC mutant Min mice (210-212). EGCG was found to inhibit growth and activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor and human epidermal growth factor receptor-2 signaling pathways in human colon cancer cells (213).Green tea also caused inhibition of angiogenesis and prevention of cancer metastasis (212), inhibition of inflammation (214), translocation of different genes (215), cell cycle regulation (216), inhibiting activation of IGF-1 (217) and many more functions.

1.2.6 IN VIVO EFFECTS OF EGCG

The topical application of EGCG to SKH-1 hairless mice that had been pretreated twice weekly with UVB light decreased the skin tumors by 44%– 72% and increased the apoptotic index by 56%–92%, again measured by increased caspase-3 activity (218). Fang and colleagues, found that liposomal delivery system of EGCG led to increased antiproliferative activity in basal

carcinoma cells *in vitro*, where the EGCG concentration in the liposomes was 21.3 µmol/L (219). EGCG inhibited AP-1 in UVB-treated transgenic mice carrying a luciferase reporter gene with an AP-1 binding sequence (220). Green tea consumption in 2 study groups, 1 in China and 1 in the USA, decreased oxidative DNA damage (8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine in white blood cells and urine), lipid peroxidation (malondialdehyde in urine), and free radical generation (2,3-dihydroxy benzoic acid in urine) in smokers. Non-smokers (USA group) also exhibited a decrease in overall oxidative stress, which was correlated to decreased levels of free radicals (221). A recent clinical trial involving 60 volunteers with (premalignant) prostate intraepithelial neoplasia, conducted by Bettuzzi *et al*, showed that after 1 year, only 1 man (3%) in the group receiving 600 mg/d green tea compounds in (oral) capsule form, presented with cancer compared to 9 (30%) from the placebo group (222). No significant side-effects were reported.

1.2.7 EGCG AND OTHER DRUGS/COMPOUNDS

There are a number of reports documenting an enhanced chemopreventive effect when EGCG is used in combination with another chemopreventive agent or a therapeutic drug. One study showed that epicatechin significantly enhanced the uptake of labeled EGCG into human lung PC-9 cells (223) and the proapoptotic effects of EGCG were also increased by tamoxifen or sulindac. Another study using the prostate cancer cell lines PC-3, LNCaP, and CWR22Rv1 showed that while 10 μ mol/L EGCG only resulted in a 12%–21% inhibition in cell viability, the addition of 10 μ mol/L NS-398 (a COX-2 inhibitor), resulted in a 44%–49% inhibition, greater than the additive effect of either agent alone due to decrease in Bcl-2, procaspases-6 and -9, phospho-p65 and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) γ , and increase in Bax and PARP (224). EGCG at 0.1 μ g/mL (equivalent to serum concentrations) markedly enhanced the

growth inhibitory effects of 5-fluorouracil in head and neck squamous carcinoma cells (225). A combination of EGCG and sulindac was also found to be efficacious in preventing azoxymethane-induced colon cancer in rat, where the combination synergistically enhanced apoptosis (226).

1.3 SUMMARY

In this thesis, the role of green tea catechin, EGCG in colorectal carcinogenesis will be discussed. I hypothesized that EGCG would suppress the pro-angiogenic factor, basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) and inhibit angiogenesis leading to suppression of tumor nourishment, progression, and metastasis. The objective of this study was to see the effect of EGCG on bFGF suppression, mediated by post-translational regulation based on our preliminary data. The involvement of ubiquitin proteasomal pathway in degradation of bFGF by EGCG would be elucidated (Details in chapter 3).

Next, data related to an EGCG effect on the anti-sense gene of *bFGF*, *NUDT6* will be discussed (Details in chapter 4). *NUDT6* was one of the down regulated genes in HCT-116 human colorectal cells as assessed by microarray experiment by green tea. Overall, the data presented in this thesis suggests that green tea suppresses bFGF and NUDT6 expression, thereby mediating the effects of this important dietary component as an anti-tumorigenic agent.

Materials and experimental procedures

CHAPTER 2

2.1 CELL CULTURE

All human colorectal and non-colorectal cancer cell lines were purchased from the American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA), except the head and neck cancer cell line, SPCCY-1, which was obtained from Dr. Dong M. Shin (Emory University, Atlanta, GA). The human colorectal cancer cells HCT-116 and HT-29 were grown in McCoy 5A media. The human colorectal cancer cells; LoVo, the lung cancer cell line; A549, and the prostate cancer cell line; PC-3, were grown in Ham's media. SW480, H292, and SPCCY-1 which are human colorectal cancer cell, and head and neck cancer cell respectively were all maintained in RPMI 1640 media. The breast cancer cell line, MCF-7 was maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle medium, DMEM. The brain cancer cell line, T98G, was grown in EMEM medium. All the media were supplemented with fetal bovine serum (10% v/v), L-glutamine (2mM), 100U/ml penicillin and 100ug/ml streptomycin at 37^oC in an environment of 5% CO₂.

For treatment of the cancer cells, serum free media were used. The cells were then treated accordingly either with green tea catechins or pretreated with other compounds, followed by green tea catechins treatment, as per the experiments and are mentioned below under specific methods. The green tea catechins were prepared in 100% DMSO (Fisher Scientifics, Fairlawn, NJ) and DMSO was used as a vehicle control unless otherwise specified.

2.2 REAGENTS

The green tea catechins, EGCG, ECG, EGC, EC and glutathione synthetase were purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO). The kinase inhibitors used are as follows: ERK inhibitor (UO126), JNK inhibitor (SP600125) and PI3K inhibitor (LY294002) were purchased from Promega (Madison, WI); NF- κ B inhibitor (MG-132) was obtained from Calbiochem (San Diego, CA); Staurosporine was purchased from Biomol International (Plymouth Meeting, PA); proteosomal inhibitor (Lactacystin) was obtained from Tocris Biosciences (Bristol, UK). The other proteasomal inhibitors; Epoxomicin, and AW9155, were obtained from Biomol International (Plymouth meeting, PA). All the inhibitors were dissolved as concentrated stock solutions in DMSO or PBS as mentioned by the manufacturer. They were stored at -80^oC and diluted at the time of use in culture media.

Primary antibodies for bFGF and β -catenin were purchased from BD transduction laboratories (San Jose, CA). VEGF, Bcl2, Bax, p53 and actin primary antibodies were obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA), cyclin D1, phosphor p53 serine 6 and 15 antibodies from Cell Signaling Technology (Beverly, MA), and V5 antibody from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA). NAG-1 antibody was described previously (ref). All the secondary antibodies were obtained from Amersham Biosciences (Piscataway, NJ). Chemiluminescence kit for protein detection was obtained from Pierce (Rockford, IL). All chemicals were purchased from Fischer Scientific, unless otherwise specified.

2.3 REVERSE TRANSCRIPTION PCR-ANALYSIS

The cells were grown till 60-70% confluent in respective growth medium as mentioned above. The cells were then treated accordingly as per the experiment with various reagents or green tea catechins in serum free media for 24 hours. The cells were washed once with 1x phosphate buffer saline and scraped using cell scraper and RNA extraction was performed using Trizol (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) according to manufacturer's protocol and quantified by spectrophotometry. RT reaction was done using total RNA as a template and a cDNA i-script synthesis kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules CA). The PCR primers used for amplification are

mentioned in Table 4. The GAPDH levels were used for the normalization of RNA using these primers. The thermal cycling conditions used on a Master Cycler Gradient (Eppendorf) for human gene expression detection included an initial denaturation at 94°C for 2 min, followed by 25-29 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 sec, annealing at 55°C for 30 sec, and extension at 72°C for 1 min. Aliquots (10 µL) of the amplification products (25-30 cycles) were separated by electrophoresis through a 1.2% agarose gel, and the bands were visualized using ethidium bromide as an intercalating agent. The intensity of each band was quantified using Scion Image software (Scion, Frederick, MD). Results for intensity of each detected band were normalized with GAPDH band intensity values.

TABLE 4: Human sense and antisense primers. G	GAPDH is used as a control house keeping
gene for standardization.	

HUMAN PRIMERS	FORWARD (Sense)	REVERSE (Anti-sense)
bFGF	5'- agagcgaccctcacatcaag-3'	5'-actgcccagttcgtttcagt-3'
NUDT6	5'- catcetecaaageegattta-3'	5'-aacttetegaacegetgtgt-3'
NAG-1	5'-ctccagattccgagagttgc-3'	5'-agagatacgcaggtgcaggt-3'
ATF3	5'-gtttgaggattttgctaacctgac-3'	5'-agctgcaatcttatttctttctcgt-3'
NR4A1	5'-cacagettgettgtcgatgt-3'	5'-tcttgtcaatgatgggtgga-3'
ID1	5'-cggatctgagggagaacaag-3'	5'-ctgagaagcaccaaacgtga-3'
ID2	5'-cgtgaggtccgttaggaaaa-3'	5'-atagtgggatgcgagtccag-3'
P53	5'- gcgcacagaggaagagaatc-3'	5'- tgagtcaggcccttctgtct-3'
GAPDH	5'-gggctgcttttaactctggt-3'	5'- tggcaggtttttctagacgc-3'

2.4. ANALYSIS OF PROTEIN EXPRESSION BY WESTERN BLOTS

The cells were grown to 60-80% confluence in 6-cm plates followed by 24 h treatment in the presence of indicated compounds. The cells were then washed once with phosphate buffered saline and lysed using cold RIPA buffer (1 ×PBS, 1% NP-40, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS) supplemented with protease inhibitors (1 mM PMSF, 5 µg/ml aprotinin and 5 µg/ml Leupeptin) and phosphatase inhibitors (1 mM Na₃VO₄ and 1 mM NaF). Cell lysates were collected from culture plates using a cell scraper, and were kept on ice for 30 minutes followed by protein collection by centrifugation at 4^oC. The protein concentration was determined by the BCA protein assay (Pierce, Rockford, IL) using BSA as the standard. Equal aliquots of 50 µg protein were boiled in 2x loading buffer (0.1 M Tris-Cl, pH 6.8, 4% SDS, 0.2% Bromophenyl blue, 20% glycerol) for 5-10 minutes, and then resolved by electrophoresis on SDS-PAGE (8-14% gels). They were transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Osmonics, Minnetonka MN) for 1 h. The blots were blocked for 1 h with 5% skim milk in TBS/Tween 0.05% (TBS-T), and probed with a specific primary antiserum in Tris buffered saline (TBS) containing 0.05% Tween-20 (TBS-T) and 5% non-fat dry milk at 4°C overnight. After washing with TBS-T, the blots were treated with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody for 1 h and washed several times. Proteins were detected by the enhanced chemiluminescence system (Pierce, Rockford, IL). Antibodies for bFGF, VEGF, V5, p53, phosphor p53 (serine 6 and 15), NAG-1, Blc2, Bax and Cyclin D1 antibodies were used in these studies. Membranes were probed with an antibody for Actin (Santa Cruz) to ensure equal loading of protein between samples.

2.5. CLONING OF EXPRESSION VECTORS

The full-length human *bFGF* cDNA (18 kDa) was isolated by RT-PCR from LoVo cells using forward (5'-atggcagccgggagcatcac-3') and reverse (5'-gctcttagcagacattggaagaaaa-3') primers, obtained from the reported human *bFGF* cDNA sequence (GenBank #NM_002006). Amplified PCR products were then cloned into the pcDNA3.1/V5-His-TOPO vector (Invitrogen). The sequence and orientation were confirmed by DNA sequencing analysis at Molecular Biology Resource Facility of University of Tennessee.

The luciferase-NUDT6 3'-untranslated region (3'UTR) hybrid construct was generated by PCR using two primers designed to contain the XbaI restriction enzyme site (underlined) as follows: Forward: 5'- gctctagattcacatttatatgtttag-3' and Reverse: 5'-gctctagacgaaaagaggcttttaaaat-3'. A PCR product using cDNA from HCT-116 cells was digested with Xba1 enzyme, followed by ligation into pGL3-promoter vector digested with XbaI. The full-length human *NUDT6* cDNA (915 bp) was isolated by RT-PCR from HCT-116 cells using forward (5'-gacgaattaagcggcgtggaga-3') and reverse (5'-atcaattcctttcatagttttat-3') primers, obtained from the reported human *NUDT6* cDNA sequence (GenBank #NM_007083). Amplified PCR products were then cloned into the pcDNA3.1/V5-His-TOPO vector (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and named as pcDNA 3.1/NUDT6 for correct orientation and pcDNA 3.1/CONTROL for reverse orientation.

2.6 IMMUNOPRECIPITATION AND HISTIDINE PULL-DOWN EXPERIMENTS

LoVo cells were transiently transfected with either bFGF expression vector (pcDNA3.1/V5-His-TOPO/bFGF) or control vector (pcDNA3.1/V5-His-TOPO/LacZ) using Lipofectamin2000 (Invitrogen), according to the manufacturer's protocol. The bFGF proteins

containing six histidine residues at their C-termini were purified using ProBond nickel-chelating resin (Invitrogen), using native condition buffer (50 mM NaH₂PO₄/pH 8.0, 500 mM NaCl, 1 mM PMSF, 1 μ g/ml aprotinin, 1 μ g/ml leupeptin), and subsequently incubated with 50 μ L of ProBond Resin (50% Slurry in 20% ethanol) for 30 min at 4°C. Beads were then washed three times, boiled for 5 min, and loaded on SDS/PAGE for Western blot analysis.

For the antibody immunoprecitation assay, the stable NUDT6 cell lines were grown till 80-90% confluent in 10cm plates. Next day the cells were washed twice with ice cold phosphate buffer saline. About 3 ml of 0.1M tris chloride (pH 7.4) supplemented with protease inhibitors (1 mM PMSF, 5 µg/ml aprotinin and 5 µg/ml leupeptin) and phosphatase inhibitors (1 mM Na3VO4 and 1 mM NaF) was added in the plates and cells were then scraped and collected in 15ml tubes on ice. Centrifugation was carried out at 4^oC for 10 minutes @ 1000 rpm. The supernatant was removed and cells were resuspended in the Tris chloride and protein concentration was measured using BCA. About 500-1000 µg of protein was used for immunoprecipitation. About 50 µl of protein A/G agarose resin beads is washed with Tris chloride and stored on ice. The samples are prepared using Tris chloride supplemented with protease inhibitors making a final volume of 500 µl. About 5-10 µg of desired antibody is added on the samples and incubated for 1-2 hours on rocking shaker at 4⁰C. After 1-2 hours the protein samples with antibody are placed on the premade resin and incubated overnight at 4^oC on rocking shaker. Next day the samples are centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 1 min and supernatant is stored for later use. Around 5-10 washings are given to the protein beads using Tris Chloride making sure that the supernatant are carefully removed to prevent any background. After the last wash, 50 μ l of 2x loading buffer is added on the beads and boiled at 95-100°C for 5-10 minutes to denature the protein and separate it from the protein-A/G beads, then centrifuged and run on SDS gel for Western Blot analysis.

2.7 PROTEIN DEGRADATION STUDY

The cells were grown to 60-80% confluence in 6-cm plates and pretreated with vehicle (DMSO) and EGCG 50 μ M for 24 hours. In all the experiments that were carried out for this thesis, the cells were then treated with cycloheximide (10 μ M) for 1, 3, 6, 12, 24 hours. However for the p53 protein degradation experiment in NUDT6 stable cell lines, puromycin hydrochloride 50 μ M was used for 1, 3, 6, 12, and 24 hours. Total cell lysates were harvested and subjected to Western blot as mentioned earlier.

2.8 ELISA ASSAY FOR bFGF

ELISA was done using tissue lysates from the green tea treated APC^{*Min*/+} mice and lysates from HCT-116 cells. Tissue samples and cells were homogenized in RIPA buffer, and then sonicated at 4⁰C, followed by centrifugation for 20 min at 14,000 rpm. The supernatant was collected and subjected to ELISA. Quantikine FGF basic Immunoassay kit (R&D systems, Minneapolis, MN) was used for mouse tissue samples, and the Raybiotech kit (Norcross, GA) was used for cell lysates. All tests were carried out in triplicate. Optical densities were read immediately using a micro-titer plate reader (Bio-Tek Instruments) at 450 nm. The amount of bFGF protein was normalized to ng of bFGF per mg total protein.

2.9 UBIQUITIN ASSAY FOR bFGF

An ubiquitin enrichment kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL) was used according to the manufacturer's protocol. All the samples were adjusted to equal volume with TBS buffer. The polyubiquitin affinity resin (20 μ l) was added to spin columns with samples and incubated at 4^oC for 2 hours.

The columns were then centrifuged and washed with wash buffer twice. The SDS-PAGE sample-loading buffer was added to the columns and placed in a heat block for 10 min and centrifuged to obtain ubiquitin enriched fraction ready for western blot analysis. Gradient gel 4-20% was used for the western blot with anti-ubiquitin antibody (1:10,000) for overnight incubation, followed by adding anti-rabbit secondary antibody.

2.10 20S PROTEASOME ASSAY

A Proteasome-Glo Assay Systems Kit from Promega (Madison, WI) was used to detect the 20S proteasomal activity. This kit allows three separate assays that differ in their ability to detect different protease activities based on their substrate components. The LoVo cells were treated with vehicle (DMSO) and EGCG (50 μ M). Samples were prepared in triplicate, and 30 μ g of each sample was loaded in a white-walled 96-well plate, to which equal amounts of chymotrypsin-like, trypsin-like and caspase-like substrates were added. The plate was incubated for 1 hr at room temperature in the dark, and the luminescence for the three activities was recorded on a multi-detection microplate reader (BioTek, Winooski, VT). Relative luminescence units (RLU) were analyzed.

2.11 IMMUNOSTAINING OF FACTOR VIII FOR bFGF

Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue sections were deparaffinized and rehydrated. Antigen retrieval was done with EDTA buffer (10 mM Tris/1mM EDTA/0.05% Tween20, pH 9.0) at 95°C for 20 min in a steamer. The slides were then soaked in TBS/pH 7.6 for 5 min, and loaded onto a Dako Autostainer (Carpentaria, CA). Samples were blocked with 5.3% hydrogen peroxide and serum-free protein for 5 min, respectively. Factor VIII polyclonal antibody (1:4,000, Dako)

was then applied, followed by Envision Polyclonal HRP (Dako) both for 30 min. DAB/chromogen was applied for 10 min, and counterstaining was carried out with hematoxylin followed by dehydration and cover-slipping.

2.12 ANIMAL STUDY

Min mice study: The APC^{*Min/+*} mice were on C57/B6 background. The strain was originally obtained from Jackson laboratory and since maintained in our breeding colony. The mice were randomly divided into 3 groups of 9 mice to receive vehicle, EGCG, or ECG. The APC^{*Min/+*} mice were maintained at $22 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C on a 12 h light/dark cycle and with free access to standard rodent chow and water. APC^{*Min/+*} mice were provided EGCG or ECG (0.01%) in their drinking water for 2 months starting at 6-7 weeks of age. Sucrose (3%) was added to the drinking water of all groups, including controls, to increase palatability. Twenty-four hrs after final treatment, the mice were euthanized, and the intestinal tract was isolated and washed with PBS. Tumor numbers and sizes in the small intestine were assessed with a stereoscopic microscope as previously described (227). All animal research procedures were approved by the University of Tennessee Animal Care and Use Committee and were in accordance with NIH guidelines.

Nude mice study: The male nude mice were obtained from Taconic (NCRNU-M, homozygous). The mice were kept in quarantine for a week after receiving them and were maintained at 22 ± 2^{0} C on a 12 hour light/dark cycle and with free access to standard rodent chow and water. The mice were fed with 3% sucrose water. Each mouse was injected with CONTROL and NUDT6 stable cell lines (mentioned below) on right and left flank respectively. The water was changed two times a week and tumor length and width were measured at the same time. The mice were sacrificed due to humane reasons after the tumors grew more than 1cm³. Tumor

volume was calculated using following formula: tumor volume= (1+w) *0.5*1*w where l=length, w=width. All animal research procedures were approved by the University of Tennessee Animal Care and Use Committee and were in accordance with NIH guidelines.

2.13 RNA STABILITY

For the mRNA stability experiment, HCT-116 cells were grown in 6-cm plates and then treated with DMSO and EGCG for 1 h. Actinomycin D (Fisher Bioreagents, Fairlawn, NJ) was added at the dose of 5 μ M to terminate transcription. For the *de novo* protein synthesis experiment, HCT-116 cells were pretreated with 10 μ g/ml cycloheximide or DMSO for 1 h in serum-free media followed by treatment with EGCG (50 μ M) for 24 h. Total RNAs were harvested using Trizol as mentioned above. The cDNA was prepared, RT-PCR was carried out, and the products were analyzed on 1.2% agarose gel.

2.14. TRANSIENT TRANSFECTION AND LUCIFERASE REPORTER ASSAYS

HCT-116 cells were plated in 12-well plates at 2×10^5 cells per well and grown for 16 h. Plasmid mixtures containing 0.5 µg of reporter vector and 0.05 µg of pRL-null (Promega) were transfected by LipofectAMINE (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's protocol. After transfection, the media were replaced with serum-free media, and the indicated reagents were added. The cells were harvested in 1x luciferase lysis buffer, and luciferase activity was determined and normalized to the pRL-null luciferase activity using a Dual-Glo luciferase assay system (Promega).

2.15 DEVELOPMENT OF STABLE CELL LINES

HCT-116 cells were plated in 6-cm plates and transfected with either NUDT6 expression vector (pcDNA3.1/V5-His-TOPO/NUDT6) or CONTROL vector (pcDNA3.1/V5-His-TOPO/CONTROL) using LipofectAMINE (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA), according to the manufacturer's protocol. After 24 h, the cells were then transferred to a 10 cm plate with G418 (500 μ g/ml) (Stratagene, Santa Clara, CA). Selection with G418 was carried out for 3 weeks, and then Western blot was carried out to check the stable cell lines.

2.16 CELL PROLIFERATION ANALYSIS

Cell proliferation was carried out using pcDNA3.1/NUDT6 and pcDNA 3.1/CONTROL cell lines with or without staurosporine (5 μ M) using the Cell Titer 96 Aqueous One Solution Cell Proliferation Assay (Promega, Madison, WI). Briefly, cells were seeded at a concentration of 1,000 cells/well in 96-well tissue culture plates in six replicates. The cells were then treated with 5 μ M of staurosporine for 1, 2, 3 and 4 days. At 0, 1, 2, 3 and 4 days, 20 μ l of CellTiter96 Aqueous One solution was added to each well, and the plate was incubated for 1 h at 37°C. Absorbance at 490 nm was recorded in an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) plate reader (Bio-Tek Instruments, Winooski, VT).

2.17 SOFT AGAR ASSAY

Soft agar assays were performed to compare the clonogenic potential of the two stable cells in semi-solid medium as previously described (228). Cell colonies were visualized by staining with 0.5 ml of *p*-iodonitrotetrazolium violet (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) under the luminescent image analyzer (Fujifilm Co.). Colonies were counted using the Multi Gauge Program (Fujifilm Co.)

according to the instructions. For the impedance experiment, preliminary naked scans were performed to optimize sensitivity and to check for any electrode debris or defects.

2.18 ELECTRICAL IMPEDANCE MEASUREMENT ASSAY

Cells were kept viable using an incubator (Weather Station, Olympus) that kept the temperature (37°C), humidity, and CO₂ (5%) levels constant. These controlled conditions were crucial to keep cells alive during long time lapse measurements. The imaging system consisted of a 100X objective lens with a numerical aperture (NA) equal to 1.35, an Olympus Model IX-71 inverted microscope, and a Hamamatsu 14-bit electron multiplier (EM) cooled and intensified-CCD digital camera. Differential inference contrast microscopic (DICM) imaging has the additional optics such as a polarizer (IX-LWPO), a DIC prism (IX2-DIC100) in the DICM condenser (IX2-LWUCD, NA=0.55), a transmitted Nomarski prism (U-DICTS), an analyzer (IX2-AN), and a 100 W Halogen lamp house (U-LH100-3, Olympus), while current fluorescence microscopic imaging needs green cube (EX: 530~540, EM: 590~) and a xenon light source. Additionally, a mechanical shutter was synchronized with the CCD camera to minimize any effects the halogen lamp as well as the Xenon light source may have had on cell growth. A data acquisition and analysis system was implemented using Lab VIEW. A reference voltage source provided an ac 1 $V_{\rm rms}$ reference signal via a series 1 M Ω resistor, $R_{\rm cc}$, to a gold electrode array (Applied Biophysics). A National Instruments SCXI-1331 switch made successive connections between the various working electrodes and the counter electrode of each array. The source voltage generator resistance, R_s , was 50 Ω . An SR830 lock-in amplifier with an input impedance equivalent to a parallel resistor, R_v , and capacitor, C_v , combination of 10 M Ω and 10 pF, respectively, measured the electrode voltage. Direct measurements of the cable parasitic capacitances were made using an LCR meter and incorporated into a circuit model to estimate the impedance based on the lock-in amplifier voltage measurements.

Preliminary naked scans were performed to optimize the sensitivity and to check for any electrodes debris or defects. The electrodes were then inoculated with 400 μ L McCoy5A, seeding NUDT6 or CONTROL stable cancer cells at a concentration of 2.4×10⁴ cells/well. During the cellular micro-impedance scans, data were acquired at a rate of 32 Hz every 16 s using a 30 ms filter time constant and 12 dB/ decade roll off for approximately 100 h. Averages and standard deviation estimates were obtained from the 512 sampled data points over the 16 s time intervals. During the experiments, cell-inoculated electrodes were kept in a cell culture incubator at a temperature of 37°C and 5% CO₂.

2.19 MITOCHONDRIAL EXTRACTION PROTOCOL

Mitochondrial extraction kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL) was used to isolate the mitochondrial and cytoplasmic fractions. The CONTROL and NUDT6 stable cells were grown in 10 cm plates till 80-90 % confluent and washed with phosphate buffer saline, scraped and collected in 15ml tubes. The cells were centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 5 min in 4^{0} C centrifuge machine. To the pellet, 800 µl of reagent A (provided in the kit with proteinase inhibitors) was added and the tubes were vortexed at maximum speed for 5 sec and tubes were incubated on ice for 2 min. Then 10 µl of reagent B was added and tubes were vortexed for 5 sec. Reagent C was added and tubes were inverted but not vortexed and centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 10 min. The supernatant is the cytosolic fraction and is collected in new 2ml tube and centrifuged again at 3000 rpm for 15mins and collected in new tube. The pellet at this stage contains the isolated mitochondria.

About 500 μ l of reagent C is added to the pellet and centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 5 min. The supernatant is discarded and mitochondrial pellet is stored in -80⁰ C till further processing.

2.20 IMMUNOCYTOCHEMISTRY

The stable cell lines were seeded in the culture plates @ 1000 cells/ well for 24 hours. The cells were then washed with phosphate buffered saline and introduce to serum free media. Briefly, cells were then incubated with 100 nM of mitotracker[®] Red FM probes (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) for 45 min in CO₂ incubator, and then washed with PBS. Fixation was carried out with 4% paraformaldehyde for 30 min. The cells were washed three times with PBS for 5 mins and blocked with 1% normal goat serum. The cells were incubated with anti-V5 FITC conjugated antibody (Invitrogen) for overnight at 4°C. After three times washing with PBS, cells were stained with 0.5 mg/ml of DAPI for 10 min to counter stain the nucleus. The immunofluorescence was processed using a fluorescence microscope Olympus BX61 equipped with CC12 digital camera. The TIF images were captured using the program analySIS version 3 (Soft Imaging System Solutions, Lakewood, CO) with X400 magnification.

2.21 CASPASE ACTIVITY FOR NUDT6

The Caspase-Glo 3/7 Assay is a homogeneous, luminescent assay that measures caspase-3 and -7 activities. The cells were grown and cell lysates were collected in the similar manner as mentioned in Western blot protocol. The protein concentration was measured and 30 µg of protein was pipetted on a 96 well white walled plate making the final volume of 30µl each using Ripa Buffer. The blank well had ripa buffer. The blank reaction is used to measure background luminescence associated with the cell culture system and Caspase-Glo 3/7 Reagent. The blank

value will be subtracted from the experimental values. Then 30 µl of Caspase-Glo 3/7 Reagent was added in each well including blank and the plate was incubated at room temperature for 1-2 hours and the luminescence was recorded on a multi-detection microplate reader (BioTek, Winooski, VT). Relative luminescence units (RLU) were analyzed. Each sample was made in triplicates.

2.22 INVASION ASSAY FOR NUDT6

The stable cell lines (CONTROL and NUDT6) were grown till 60-70% confluent in 6cm plate for 24 hours. Matrigel was thawed at 4^{0} C overnight. Then it was diluted (5mg/ml to 1 mg/ml) in serum free-cold cell culture media (McCoy 5A). About 100 ul of the diluted matrigel was added into the upper chamber of 24-well transwell. The transwell was incubated at 37^{0} C for at least 4 to 5 h for gelling. In the meantime the stable cells were washed with phosphate buffered saline once and trypsinised from tissue culture plates using Trypsin/EDTA. The cells were resuspended using McCoy 5A media containing 10% FBS to make the final volume of 1×10^{6} cells per ml per transwell. About 100 ul of the cell suspension was added onto the matrigel. The lower chamber of the transwell was filled with 600 ul of culture media containing 10%, as a growth agent. The plate was incubated at 37C for 24 to 48 hours. After 24 or 48 hours the transwells were removed from 24-well plates and stained with hematoxylin eosin stains. The noninvaded cells were scraped off from the top of the transwell with a cotton swab. The membrane was carefully removed and put on the slide covered with glass slip and invading cells were counted under a light microscope.

2.23 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

SAS for Windows (9.1.3) (SAS Institute., Cary, NC) statistical analysis software was used. Tumor load, tumor polyps and ELISA for *in vivo* Min mice experiments were analyzed using ANOVA with the Dunnett's test, where p<0.05 was considered significant. For quantitative analyses in luciferase assay for 3'UTR of NUDT6, analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Tukey's multiple comparison test was used to compare mean values. The Student *t* test was used to analyze the differences between samples. p<0.05 was considered statistically significant and represented with one asterisk. Similarly, two and three asterisks were used to show p<0.01 and p<0.001, respectively. Effect of EGCG on post translational regulation of Basic fibroblast growth factor in human colorectal cancer cells

CHAPTER 3

The results discussed in this chapter have been published in *Gastroenterology*, Volume 134, No. 7, pp 1972-1980 (2008) titled **"A green tea component suppresses posttranslational expression of basic fibroblast growth factor in colorectal cancer". Authors:** Sukhthankar M, Yamaguchi K, Lee SH, McEntee MF, Eling TE, Hara Y, and Baek SJ.

3.1 INTRODUCTION

Tumors require increasing blood supply for their sustained growth (229). All solid tumors in man and animals will have developed their own vascular supply by the time they are detected. Before the 1960s it was generally assumed that dilation of existing host vessels was the main basis for tumor vascularization (230). There were just two reports, in 1939 and 1945 which stated that tumors could induce new vessels from the host (231, 232). The idea that new vessels are necessary for continued tumor growth originated in the early 1960s from an experiment in which tumors were implanted in isolated perfused organs and they failed to vascularized beyond a few millimeters diameter. The capillary blood vessel proliferation did not occur in the isolated organs but neovascularization was induced when the tumors were re-implanted into their animal host (233-235). This showed that tumors had retained their "angiogenic" capacity and enlarged rapidly to more than thousand times compared to the tumors in the isolated organs and this led to the hypothesis that "tumor growth is angiogenesis-dependent" (229, 236-238).

Angiogenesis is the formation of new blood vessels. It is an important process during embryonic development and during tissue remodeling in the neonate and adults. It is also a key feature of wound healing and of pathological conditions such as growth and progression of solid tumors, where capillary invasion is a prerequisite of further growth of dormant tumors (239). The vasculature carries blood components which are absolutely necessary for cell life in various tissues. In normal cases, endothelial cells are generally non-proliferative stationary cells forming a non-thrombogenic luminal surface in intimate contact with the subendothelial extracellular matrix (240). Similarly for cultured cells to proliferate, they require nutrients, growth factors and appropriate substratum upon which they can attach and spread indicating that the substrate or

extracellular matrix is a decisive element in their proliferative and differentiation responses (241, 242). The extracellular matrix (ECM) contains collagens, proteoglycans, laminin, fibronectin, and elastin (243-245). Basement membranes are also of particular importance in the development of epithelial malignancies as they are the first barrier encountered in the invasive process of carcinomas (246).

The endothelium lines the interior surface of blood vessels forming the entire vasculature. The heparin binding growth factor family of polypeptides which control endothelial cell proliferation is considered an initiator of angiogenesis (247-250). This gene family includes mainly the prototypes aFGF (acidic fibroblast growth factor) and bFGF (basic fibroblast growth factor (248-251).

The basic fibroblast growth factor or bFGF protein (also known as FGF-2) is a member of the fibroblast growth factor family (252) and is a potent endothelial growth factor in vitro and capable of inducing angiogenesis in vivo (253). In normal tissue, basic fibroblast growth factor is present in basement membranes and in the sub endothelial extracellular matrix of blood vessels. The endothelial cells produce bFGF that remains cell-associated and stimulates their own growth. Basic FGF can be released from matrix by heparinase digestion or by trypsin and extracellular matrix might serve as a reservoir for bFGF (254). Basic FGF binds to cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycan, an activity required to bind to high affinity FGF receptors (255). It is a single-chain polypeptide of 154 amino acids with molecular weight if about 18 kDa (239). However there are forms of bFGF containing more than 154 amino acids that have molecular weights of 22-25 kDa (17.8, 22.5, 23.1, and 24.2 kDa) (256-258) resulting from a canonical AUG (18 kDa) and three unusual CUG start codons (257, 258). The AUG initiated bFGF can stimulate cell migration; down-regulate its own receptor, and stimulate integrin synthesis. The

CUG initiated forms are involved in cell proliferation by a cell surface receptor independent pathway (259). bFGF is a primary inducer of mesoderm formation in embryogenesis. It modulates both cell proliferation and differentiation in vitro and in vivo. It is a mitogen and chemoattractant and hence a potent mediator of wound healing, angiogenesis and neural outgrowth. It is mostly known for its role as a pro-angiogenic factor. Cells transfected with a bFGF construct having a signal sequence undergo autocrine transformation and exhibit morphological and biochemical alterations characteristics of highly transformed cells (260). The signal peptide bFGF transformed cells have an accelerated proliferation rate, and are capable of anchorage-independent growth. Tumors induce blood vessel growth by secreting various growth factors that are pro-angiogenic such as bFGF which can induce capillary growth into the tumor and thereby supply required nutrients allowing for tumor expansion (261).

Another proangiogenic factor is vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) which is a chemical signal produced by cells that stimulates the growth of new blood vessels. The normal function of VEGF is to create new blood vessels during embryonic development, new blood vessels after injury, and new vessels (collateral circulation) to bypass blocked vessels. When VEGF is over expressed, it can contribute to disease. Solid cancers cannot grow beyond a limited size without an adequate blood supply; cancers that can express VEGF are able to grow and metastasize. VEGF is a sub-family of growth factors, and are important signaling proteins involved in both vasculogenesis (the new formation of the embryonic circulation) and angiogenesis (the growth of blood vessels from pre-existing vasculature).

These pro-angiogenic factors can be targeted to block angiogenesis and hence we focused on EGCG effects on bFGF. We found that EGCG can suppress bFGF at a post-translational level through an ubiquitin-dependent proteasomal pathway.
Ubiquitin is a 76 amino-acid residue protein found ubiquitiously in the body and hence the name. It is ligated through its C terminus to the lysine side chains of acceptor proteins in a process of post-translational modification called ubiquitination (262). Ubiquitination plays an important role in protein degradation maintaining protein homeostasis in the cell as well as in other biological processes, such as DNA repair, transcription, translation, signal transduction, organelle assembly, protein trafficking, and virus budding (262-264). The difference in activities lies in the type of ubiquitin chain – if the linkage to the target protein is via K48 on ubiquitin, this will lead to a series of events that culminate in degradation of the polyubiquitinated protein by the 26S proteosome. Also, there have to be a minimum of 4 ubiquitins attached in order to trigger degradation. However, if the polyubiquitin chains are linked via Lys63, this will direct protein-protein interactions via an ubiquitin binding domain on the interacting target protein. A major function of this type of ubiquination appears to be to allow proteins with this domain to assemble into multi-protein complexes, which might lead to access to substrates if kinases are also involved, but also regulates such processes as endocytosis and ribosomal protein synthesis. F-box motif is a protein structural motif of about 50 amino acids that mediates protein-protein interactions. The first identified F-box protein is one of three components of the Skp, Cullin, Fbox containing complex (SCF complex) which is E3 ligase complex mediating ubiquitination of proteins targeted for degradation by the proteasome. The F-box motif interacts directly with the SCF protein Skp1 (265).

The biochemical steps in the ubiquitin pathway are illustrated in **Figure 3.** Briefly the C terminal Gly residue of ubiquitin is activated in an ATP-dependent manner by specific activating enzyme, E1. Activated ubiquitin is next transferred to an active site Cys residue of an ubiquitin-carrier protein, E2. The ubiquitin-protein ligase or E3 enzyme then links C-terminus of ubiquitin in an

amide isopeptide linkage to a ε -amino group of the substrate protein's Lys residues. (266, 267). The multiubiquitin chains are assembled by a family of ubiquitination factors (E4) that produces longer Ub-chains (268). The proteins containing polyubiquitin chains are recognized and degraded by the 26S proteasome complex that requires ATP hydrolysis for its action (269). The 26S proteasome consists of an ATP-dependent assembly of cylindrical 20S proteasome, a complex that contains the three proteolytic cleavage sites, and 19S cap or regulatory complexes (Figure 3.1). The catalytic core of the 20S proteasome is made up of 28 subunits, 14 alpha subunits and 14 beta subunits (270-272). The alpha subunits are arranged into two rings (each of which consists of 7 subunits) and comprise the ends of the 20S core. The *beta* subunits are also arranged in two 7-subunit-containing rings, making up the middle part of the 20S core. These four rings are stacked on top of one another in the arrangement: 7-alpha, 7-beta, 7-beta, and 7*alpha.* The proteolytic activities of the proteasome are associated with the beta subunits (Figure 3.1). In the eukaryotic 26S proteasome there are three known activities associated with these 7 beta subunits, which are chymotrypsin-like (cleavage after hydrophobic residues), trypsin-like (cleavage after basic residues), and caspase-like (cleavage after acidic residues) (271, 272). Because there are two sets of beta subunits, there are therefore two sets of each of these three activities (Figure 3.1). The 19S complexes contain several ATPase subunits and other subunits that are presumably involved in the specific action of the 26S proteasome on ubiquitinylated proteins (273). The proteasome's 19S regulatory cap binds the polyubiquitin chain, denatures the protein, and targets the protein into the proteasome's proteolytic core (274, 275). However recent reports have shown that proteasomal degradation does not always require ubiquitin. Asher et al showed that the proteasomal degradtion of tumor suppresssor proteins, p53 and p73, is carried out in an ubiquitin independent manner and regulated by NQO1 enzyme (276).



Figure 3. Protein ubiquitination. First, a high-energy thioester bond is formed between ubiquitin (Ub) and an ubiquitin-activating enzyme (E1). This reaction requires ATP hydrolysis. Secondly, the activated ubiquitin is transferred to an ubiquitin conjugating enzyme (E2). Thirdly, the activated ubiquitin is ligated to the protein substrate by an ubiquitin ligase (E3). Lastly, the ubiquitin chain is elongated by an ubiquitin-chain elongating factor (E4), which drives the assembly of the polyubiquitin chain



Figure 3.1 Schematic presentation of the 20S and the 26S proteasome. Proteasome peptidase activities, chymotryptic-like, tryptic-like and postglutamyl peptide hydrolytic-like are associated with ß5, ß2, and ß1 subunits of the 20S core. The 26 S proteasome consists of 20S core caped with two 19S regulatory caps under ATP hydrolysis. The 19S regulatory caps recognize ubiquitinated substrates. Substrates of the 20S proteasome are oxidized proteins. Ubiquitinated proteins and non-ubiquitinated peptides are substrates of the 26S proteasome. (277)

3.2 RESULTS

3.2.1 Basic FGF Suppression by Green Tea Catechins: Two out of four human colorectal cancer cell lines (HCT-116 and LoVo) expressed bFGF. LoVo cells highly expressed bFGF protein, whereas expression levels were marginal in HCT-116 cells. As shown in Figure 3.2A, bFGF protein was detected as two bands (18 and 24 kDa), and EGCG treatment reduced both bands. VEGF was expressed in all four cell lines and was also suppressed by 50 µM EGCG. LoVo cells having the highest expression of bFGF were selected for initial bFGF studies. The cells were treated with different doses of two green tea catechins, EGCG and ECG, in order to determine the effect of these compounds on the expression of bFGF. As shown in **Figure 3.2B**, left panel, RTPCR was carried out and there was no change in the expression of bFGF mRNA by 50 µM of EGCG or ECG. Next, we treated LoVo cells with different doses of EGCG and ECG. Both EGCG and ECG at 50 µM completely suppressed bFGF protein expression as shown in Figure 3.2B, right panel. Further, EGCG suppressed bFGF expression in LoVo cells in a time dependent manner, starting at 5 min (Figure 3.2C). To examine the effects of catechins on bFGF protein expression in HCT-116 cells, where bFGF levels were inherently lower, the ELISA assay was performed. As shown in Figure 3.2D, both ECG and EGCG at 50 µM also significantly suppressed intracellular bFGF (p < 0.05). Finally, we examined non-colorectal cancer cells to see if EGCG had similar effects in other cancer cell types and found that bFGF expression was reduced in all but one (MCF-7, breast cancer) cell line as shown in Figure 3.2E.



Figure 3.2. Green tea catechins suppress bFGF expression in different cell lines. (A) Western blot analysis of bFGF using 4 different colon cancer cell lines. The cells were treated with 50 µmol/L of EGCG for 24 hours. Equal amounts of total proteins (30 µg) were separated by SDS-PAGE and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes, and bands corresponding to bFGF were detected by enhanced chemiluminescence. (B) Left panel: RT-PCR for LoVo cells treated with 50 µM of ECG and EGCG. Number of cycles used was 29 for *bFGF* and 25 cycles for *GAPDH*. Reaction products were analyzed on 1.2% agarose gel. Right panel: Western blot analysis of bFGF using LoVo cell lysates treated with indicated doses of EGCG and ECG for 24 hours. (C) LoVo cells were treated with 50 µmol/L of EGCG, and samples were harvested at different time points. Cell lysates were then subjected to Western blot analysis for bFGF and Actin. (D) HCT-116 cells were treated with DMSO, ECG, or EGCG (10 and 50 µmol/L) for 24 hours. The bFGF levels were determined by ELISA and expressed as nanograms of bFGF per milligram of total cell protein content. Data represent the mean \pm SD of 3 independent experiments. *P < 0.05, compared with control (Veh). (E) Western blot analysis of bFGF for 2 lung (A549 and H292), breast (MCF-7), prostate (PC-3), head and neck (SPCCY-1), and brain (T98G) cancer cell lines. Cells were treated with 50 µmol/L of EGCG for 24 hours and subjected to Western analysis.

3.2.2 Proteasome Inhibitor Restores the Suppression of bFGF by EGCG: To investigate whether the suppression of bFGF is related to oxidative stress after EGCG treatment in a cell culture system, LoVo cells were pre-treated with glutathione (GSH), a major intracellular antioxidant. As shown in **Figure 3.3A**, there is partial recovery of bFGF expression in the presence of EGCG and GSH, suggesting that EGCG-generated oxidative stress (278) may contribute to the suppression of bFGF, but that effects are largely unrelated to any pro-oxidative property of EGCG. The bFGF protein levels began to decrease as early as 5 min of EGCG treatment as seen in the time dependent experiment (Figure 3.3C). This pointed out to the strong possibility of either one single or multiple signaling cascade(s) being involved. Different important signaling pathways were considered like MAPK (either ERK, or JNK), NF-kB, PI3K etc and inhibitor study was carried out. Different inhibitors were used and as shown in Figure 3.3B, there was no restoration of bFGF expression in the presence of U0126 (ERK inhibitor), SP600125 (JNK inhibitor), MG132 (NF-KB inhibitor), or LY294002 (PI3K inhibitor). Other signaling pathway inhibitors used were for EGFR, PKC, GSK-3β, casein kinase II, mTOR, and p38MAPK, but none of these altered the expression of bFGF (data not shown). Interestingly, only 5 µM lactacystin reversed the suppression of bFGF by EGCG, suggesting that the proteasomaldependent degradation pathway might play a role in EGCG-induced bFGF suppression. Lactacystin is a proteasomal inhibitor so finally other proteasome inhibitors, epoxomicin and AW9155 were used to see their effect, and it was found that they did not reverse EGCGmediated bFGF suppression (Figure 3.3B, right panel). Proteasomal degradation is a type of degradation pathway for proteins. So we checked whether protein degradation of bFGF was involved in the EGCG-induced bFGF suppression. LoVo cells were pre-treated with DMSO (vehicle) or EGCG 50 µM (treatment) for 1 hr, followed by treatment with cycloheximide which

is a protein synthesis inhibitor (10 μ M) for 1, 3, 6, 12, and 24 hr. As hypothesized, EGCG caused rapid degradation of bFGF protein in the presence of cycloheximide, first observed less than an hour after treatment (**Figure 3.3C, left panel**) in comparison to vehicle-treated samples. To confirm the efficacy of cycloheximide, other known proteins having protein stability affected were used like expression levels of cyclin D1 were checked and it was seen that it was degraded as early as 1 hr following treatment with cycloheximide in both EGCG-treated and untreated samples (**Figure 3.3C, left panel**), consistent with a previous report (279). Treatment with cycloheximide for longer periods of time (48 and 72 hr) showed similar results (**Figure 3.3C, right panel**), indicating that bFGF is very stable under cycloheximide treatment but is readily degradable in the presence of EGCG in LoVo cells. In contrast to bFGF, β -catenin protein was not degraded within 24 hr of EGCG treatment, but was slightly reduced with longer incubation periods (**Figure 3.3C, right panel**).

3.2.3 Mechanism of bFGF Protein Degradation by EGCG: Ubiquitination targets proteins involved in a large number of different biological processes for proteasome degradation (280). Once ubiquitin molecules bind on the substrate of interest, they are recognized by the 19S proteasome regulatory unit and degraded by the 26S proteasomal machinery into smaller peptides through the catalytic activities of 20S proteasome. Since Lactacystin, a proteasome inhibitor, was the only specific inhibitor we tested that could restore the suppression of bFGF by EGCG, we hypothesized that the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway plays an important role in suppression of bFGF by EGCG. Hence, ubiquitin-enriched samples of LoVo cell lysates were incubated with different doses of EGCG (1, 10, and 50 μ M).



Figure 3.3. EGCG effects of signaling pathway inhibition on bFGF expression. (A) Prooxidative effect of EGCG. LoVo cell lysates were preincubated with GSH (5 µmol/L) for 1 hour then treated with EGCG (50 µmol/L) for 24 hours and subjected to Western analysis. (B) The cells were serum starved, and the following inhibitors were added 30 minutes before EGCG treatment: extracellular signal-regulated kinase inhibitor U0126 (6 µmol/L), c-Jun N-terminal kinase inhibitor SP600125 (50 µmol/L), nuclear factor-_B inhibitor MG132 (25 µmol/L), lactacystin (5 µmol/L), phosphoinositide-3 kinase inhibitor LY294002 (10 µmol/L), Epoxomicin (1 µmol/L), and AW9155 (1 µmol/L). The lysates were obtained after 24-hour treatment and subjected to immunoblot. An equal amount of loading proteins was estimated by actin probing. (C) Effect of EGCG on protein degradation of bFGF. LoVo cells were treated with either vehicle (Veh) or EGCG for 1 hour, followed by cycloheximide (10 µmol/L) treatment, and cell lysates were isolated at different time points. Immunoblot was carried out for bFGF, cyclin D1, β-catenin, and actin. The *bottom panel* shows a quantitative analysis of 3 independent experiments. Asterisks (** and ***) were used to show P <0.01 and P <0.001, respectively, using Student t test.

When ubiquitin enriched samples were examined by Western blot with anti-ubiquitin antibody, the samples treated with 10 and 50 μ M EGCG contained increased amounts of ubiquitination in ladder form seen in **Figure 3.4A**. Subsequently, when the same samples were subjected to Western blot using bFGF antibody, bFGF was suppressed in a dose dependent manner (**Figure 3.4A**). Next step was to examine the effect of EGCG on the 20S proteasome activity as described in *Materials and Methods*. The catalytic core of the 20S proteasome possesses three different proteolytic activities: chymotrypsin-like, trypsin-like and caspase-like (281) (**Figure 3.1**). As shown in **Figure 3.4B**, EGCG significantly decreased chymotrypsin-like and caspase-like activities, but increased the trypsin-like activity of 20S proteasome, as measured by a specific substrate. This result is consistent with previous data, showing that only lactacystin, containing property to inhibit trypsin-like activity of 20S proteasome, affects bFGF suppression by EGCG (**Figure 3.4B**).

3.2.4 Exogenous bFGF Proteins Responding to Cycloheximide: The expression vector containing the full-length of *bFGF* or *LacZ* (control) was cloned and transfected into the LoVo cells as described in *Materials and Methods*. The LoVo cells were allowed to grow for 24 hr and then subjected to cycloheximide treatment. The LacZ protein was not degraded in the presence of vehicle; however, it began to degrade 6 hr after EGCG treatment (**Figure 3.5A, top panel**). In contrast, there was drastic degradation of bFGF protein within 1 hr of EGCG treatment (**Figure 3.5A, bottom panel**), whereas bFGF levels in vehicle-treated samples only started to decrease between 1-6 hr after treatment, indicating that EGCG facilitates the degradation of recombinant bFGF protein. We also carried out the same experiment in HCT-116 cells and the results obtained were similar to those in LoVo cells (data not shown).



Figure 3.4. EGCG enhances ubiquitination and increases trypsin-like activity of the 20S proteasome. (A) Ubiquitinated enriched cell lysates treated with EGCG 1, 10, and 50 µmol/L were obtained using an ubiquitin enrichment kit and subjected to Western blot using an antiubiquitin antibody. The same cell lysates were also subjected to bFGF Western blot analysis, and data were normalized using actin. (B) 20S proteasome activity. LoVo cells were plated in triplicate and treated with EGCG (50 µmol/L) and vehicle (DMSO). The triplicate cell lysates were measured for chymotrypsin-like, trypsin-like, or caspase-like activity of the 20S proteasome. The luminescence was recorded on a microplate reader, and a graph was plotted using mean readings of 3 independent values. *Error bars* are SD. ***P <0 .001. The y-axis was presented as the relative luminescence unit (RLU), as a vehicle-treated sample is 1.

To further elucidate whether bFGF has the ability to specifically interact with ubiquitin, we used histidine tag pull-down assays followed by Western blot analysis after transient transfections of LacZ (control) and bFGF expression vectors. Cell lysates were pulled down using nickel resin, and co-purified proteins were analyzed by immunoblot using specific antibodies for ubiquitin and V5. As shown in **Figure 3.5B**, V5-His-tagged bFGF and LacZ were efficiently pulled down by nickel resin, and the resin-purified bFGF complex contained strong ubiquitin-protein binding compared to LacZ. The purified proteins were confirmed by V5 Western blot, shown at the bottom of **Figure 3.5B**.

3.2.5 Effects of bFGF on Intestinal Tumorigenesis in APC^{*Min/+*} **Mice:** Finally, we evaluated the effects of green tea catechins on tumor formation in APC multiple intestinal neoplasia $(APC^{Min/+})$ mice comparing three groups: untreated/ controls (Veh) and mice treated with either EGCG or ECG, both at a dose of 0.01% in their drinking water. The gross morphology of the small intestinal tumors revealed a striking reduction in the size and number of tumors in EGCG-treated APC^{*Min/+*} mice, compared to the untreated group (**Figure 3.6A**). The EGCG-treated group also showed a statistically significant reduction in the total number of polyps and tumor load (*p*<0.05) (**Figure 3.6B and C**) compared to controls. Although ECG-treated mice did not show significant reductions, we saw a trend suggesting that ECG may also reduce polyp numbers. Adenomas were examined histologically in the small intestine (**Figure 3.6D, top**).



Figure 3.5. EGCG causes rapid degradation of bFGF. (A) LoVo cells were transfected with LacZ (top panel) and bFGF (bottom panel) expression vectors tagged with histidine and V5, using Lipofectamin 2000, and were allowed to stabilize overnight. They were subsequently treated with either vehicle (Veh) or EGCG (50 μ mol/L) for 1 hour followed by cycloheximide (CHX, 10 μ mol/L) treatment. The cell lysates were harvested after 0-, 1-, 6- and 24-hour treatment, and Western blot analysis was carried out for V5 and actin. (B) LoVo cells were transfected with LacZ and bFGF expression vectors using Lipofectamine 2000. The LacZ and bFGF (containing 6 histidine residues at their C-termini) were purified using ProBond nickel-chelating resin. The Western blot analysis was performed to measure ubiquitin and V5-Histagged recombinants from co purified proteins.



Figure 3.6. In vivo study. (A) Gross morphology of small intestinal tumors (*arrows*) from Veh., EGCG-, and ECG-treated groups. (B and C) Effects of oral administration of EGCG or ECG (0.01%) on tumor number and tumor load (mean \pm SE) in comparison with Veh (n= 9/group). Tumor load was calculated by number of tumors ×average diameter. The *asterisk* denotes P value <0.05 using the Dunnett test to compare treated with control groups. (D) Top: Histopathologic representation of small intestinal tumors from control and EGCG-treated group (original magnification, ×100). *Bottom:* Immunohistochemical staining for Factor VIII (*brown*) on control and EGCG treated small intestinal tumors as an indication of vascular density and, therefore, angiogenesis (original magnification, ×200 magnification). (E) Mean levels of bFGF (nanogram/milligram total protein by ELISA assay) in lysates of small intestinal tumors from control (*Veh*) and *EGCG* and *ECG*-treated mice. An *asterisk* indicates a statistically significant difference compared with vehicle-treated sample. P<0.05 using the Dunnett test.

Factor VIII was used a marker for endothelial cells to evaluate angiogenesis (282) and bFGF is a pro-angiogenic factor in adenomas as well as adenocarcinomas (283). Immunostaining for Factor VIII on control and EGCG-treated small intestinal tumors suggested that endothelial-lined capillaries were more prevalent in the control group, compared to EGCG-treated tumors (**Figure 3.6D**, **bottom**). Finally, ELISA assay was performed using the small intestinal tissue samples from the respective three groups, and results showed significant suppression of bFGF by EGCG (p<0.05) compared to controls using the Dunnett's test (**Figure 3.6E**).

3.3 DISCUSSION

Green tea acts as an anti-cancer agent, especially in colon cancer. Although the molecular mechanism of this anti-cancer effect is still not entirely understood, most green tea effects are attributed to EGCG (284, 285). EGCG acts on several cellular and molecular targets in signal transduction pathways associated with cell death and cell survival (286). In addition to its chemo-preventive activity, EGCG is known to possess anti-angiogenic properties through inhibition of pro-angiogenic factors including VEGF and bFGF (287, 288). Our results show that EGCG suppresses the protein levels of bFGF and VEGF in colorectal cancer cells, which could account for reduced angiogenesis and hence hamper tumor growth and metastasis. The effect of EGCG on VEGF has been previously studied (289) so we investigated the molecular mechanism involved in the suppression of bFGF by EGCG. We found that bFGF was highly expressed in LoVo and HCT-116, human colorectal cancer cells and not in SW480 and HT29 colorectal cancer cells. This could be due the fact that VEGF is predominantly expressed in these cells or in the distinct the status of APC, B-catenin, P53, and MMR genes. The differences of genetic characteristic are shown in **Table 5**.

CELLS	P53	APC	β-CATENIN	MMR	COX-2	bFGF	VEGF
HCT-116	wild type	wild type	Mutant	deficient	absent	present	Present
HT-29	mutant	Mutant	wild type	proficient	present	absent	Present
LoVo	wild type	Mutant	wild type	deficient	present	present	Present
SW480	mutant	Mutant	wild type	proficient	absent	absent	Present

Table 5: Differences in the gene status in human colorectal cancer cells (290)

The examination of the transcriptional regulation of bFGF by EGCG indicated no changes in mRNA level (**Figure 3.2B, left panel**) or mRNA stability in the presence of EGCG in LoVo cells (data not shown). However the bFGF protein was reduced as early as 5 mins in a time course experiment after treatment with EGCG 50 μ M. Thus, post-translational regulation of bFGF by EGCG may fully account for the EGCG-induced bFGF suppression. Also ELISA assay was performed in HCT-116 cell lysates. Although HCT-116 exhibited a very low expression of bFGF, ELISA was able to detect proteins in nanograms concentration. ELISA also showed that bFGF protein was decreased by both EGCG and ECG 50 μ M (**Figure 3.2D**).

EGCG possesses a strong anti-oxidant activity (291) as well as pro-oxidant activity in cell culture systems, producing H_2O_2 in the media (292). Therefore, we investigated whether the pro-oxidant activity may cause bFGF suppression in our cell culture. Glutathione (GSH) is one of the major intracellular antioxidants. When GSH and EGCG are added to LoVo cells, bFGF protein is only partially recovered, which indicates that oxidation, presumably H_2O_2 generation by EGCG, contributes to EGCG-induced bFGF suppression but is not the only responsible factor (**Figure 3.3A**). To further elucidate the molecular effects of EGCG in signaling pathways, we tested for

involvement of different pathways using inhibitors. We found that lactacystin inhibited EGCGinduced bFGF suppression (Figure 3.3B). Lactacystin is a proteasomal inhibitor, which inhibits two of three proteolytic activities, chymotrypsin-like and trypsin-like. The suppression of bFGF by EGCG was not restored by other proteasomal inhibitors, MG132, Epoxomicin and AW9155 which are inhibitors of chymotrypsin-like and caspase-like activities. So this effect seemed to be specific for Lactacystin. When we carried out protein degradation assay using protein synthesis inhibitor, cycloheximide in presence and absence of EGCG, it was seen that 50 µM of EGCG causes rapid degradation of bFGF compared to controls pointing strongly towards the protein degradation pathway (Figure 3.3C). These results were also confirmed using the recombinant bFGF proteins (Figure 3.5). For proteins to be recognized and degraded by proteasome, most have to be linked to ubiquitin and hence we suspected that ubiquitination of bFGF might be occuring. This appears somewhat unique to bFGF, as EGCG had no affect on protein levels of LacZ or β -catenin, despite the fact that the latter is known to be regulated by ubiquitinproteasomal degradation (293-295) (Figure 3.3C, left panel). One consideration is that LoVo cells contain a mutant APC tumor suppressor protein that would not bind to β -catenin and thereby mediate ubiquitination. However, after 24 hr, β-catenin seemed to be degraded, indicating that other pathways may be involved in β -catenin degradation in the presence of EGCG.

To check the effect of EGCG on ubiquitin, ubiquitin-enriched fractions were obtained from EGCG-treated samples, and we found that EGCG increased the ubiquitin activity in a dosedependent manner (**Figure 3.4A**). Polyubiquitination is a chain of activated ubiquitin molecules ready to bind the substrate and hence it appears as a ladder when blotted on Western Blots (**Figure 3.4A**). When the same enriched samples were subjected to bFGF western blot, we saw a dose dependent decrease indicating that EGCG increases ubiquitination and polyubiquitination of bFGF leads it towards the proteasome. This result was also confirmed by immunoprecipitation of bFGF and LacZ with ubiquitin and V5 antibodies as the vectors were tagged with V5 (Figure **3.4B**). Ubiquitin is one of the most conserved eukaryotic proteins, and it conjugates other proteins through a well-defined enzymatic pathway (296). The 20S proteasome assay with specific substrates for the three catalytic activities showed an increase in trypsin-activity of 20S proteasome by EGCG. The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway is now being recognized as an important regulatory system in cancer pathways and, in fact, in many cellular processes (297). Our data support this mechanism of degradation, showing that EGCG facilitates ubiquitination of bFGF and specifically triggers trypsin-like activity of the 20S proteasome, leading to degradation of bFGF. In contrast, chymotrypsin-like activity of the proteasome is associated with tumor cell survival, and EGCG has been known to decrease chymotrypsin-like activity of the 20S proteasome (298). It is therefore surprising that EGCG increases only trypsin-like activity of the 20S proteasome in our experiments. However, our data strongly support the hypothesis that EGCG increase trypsin-like activity of 20S proteasome and in our experiments, proteasome inhibitors (Epoxomicin and AW9155) other than lactacystin did not show any effect on EGCGinduced bFGF suppression (Figure 3.3B). Another explanation of lactacystin specificity in EGCG-mediated bFGF degradation is that, unlike other proteasome inhibitors, lactacystin has reactive hydroxyl groups that might compete with EGCG for activation of 20S proteasomal activities. To our knowledge, this is the first report that EGCG specifically enhances trypsin-like activity of the 20S proteasome. Other proteins like BAD have been known to be targeted for proteasomal degradation by EGCG and future studies can be carried out to see whether EGCG

targets trypsin like activity of 20S proteasome in case of BAD protein degradation or if this mechanism is specific for bFGF.

An *in vivo* study using APC^{*Min/+*} mice treated with EGCG or ECG indicated that intestinal tumor load and polyp numbers were significantly reduced only in the EGCG-treated mice. Although it is possible that the concentration and solubility of ECG reduced its effectiveness, EGCG was clearly shown to suppress bFGF to a greater extent (**Figure 3.6B**). EGCG-mediated reductions in bFGF levels in APC^{*Min/+*} mouse tumors, which correlated with apparently fewer Factor VIIIlabeled blood vessels in the tumors, suggesting an inhibitory effect on angiogenesis. The concentration of green tea catechins in human plasma has been reported to reach no higher than 1 μ M even with consumption of large amounts of the beverage (174). However, higher levels are expected to be present in the lumen of the gastrointestinal tract. Although the 50 μ M EGCG dose in cell culture reflects a higher range of plasma concentration, it is possible that this concentration can be reached in the intestinal tract. The exact minimum effective concentration remains to be determined, however, the bioavailability and degradation, as well as metabolic effects of catechins in the cell culture should be considered.

Our study raised many intriguing and important questions that require clarification in the future. In particular, the molecular feature of EGCG that serves as a signal trigger for ubiquitination, and the sites of ubiquitination of bFGF in the presence of EGCG should be examined. In addition, the specific enhancing activity of EGCG on trypsin-like activity of the 20S proteasome remains to be elucidated. Over expression of bFGF is very common in human colorectal cancer cells and in adenomas derived from mouse models, and these findings provide a molecular mechanism that details regulation of bFGF by EGCG. APC^{*Min/+*} mice is a model for FAP. Other mouse models for colorectal cancer such as models with mutated MSH2, and MLH1

having adenomas and adenocarcinomas and Msh6 and Msh2 mouse developing microsatellite instability should be used in future to see the effect of EGCG on colorectal carcinogenesis.

Effect of EGCG on regulation of NUDT6 in human colorectal

cancer cells

CHAPTER 4

Part of the results (Figure 4- 4.3D) are published in Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry, 2009 (*In Press*) titled "A potential proliferative gene, *NUDT6*, is down-regulated by green tea catechins at the posttranscriptional level".

Authors: Sukhthankar M, Choi CK, English A, Kim JS, and Baek SJ

4.1 INTRODUCTION

Nudix (nucleoside diphosphate linked moiety X)-type motif 6 (NUDT6) also known as (Antisense basic fibroblast growth factor B, Nudix motif 6, GFG, ASGFG-2, and FGF-AS) is a member of nudix hydrolases superfamily found in all classes of organisms like bacteria, archaea, viruses and eukaryotes and consists mainly of pyrophosphohydrolases that act upon substrates of general structure nucleoside diphosphate linked to another moiety, X to yield NMP plus P-X (299). This gene caught our attention as it is an antisense product of the bidirectional transcribed gene locus, 4q26, whose sense product is bFGF or FGF-2 which we have already shown to be suppressed by EGCG (300). This gene locus of 4q26 is a region of frequent gain or loss in human esophageal cancer (301). Zhang et al have shown that FGF-AS regulates the expression of FGF-2 in mammalian cells and the increased risks for tumor recurrence and reduced survival after surgical resection of esophageal cancers with FGF-2 over expression was ameliorated in tumors co-expressing the endogenous FGF antisense RNA (302). The FGF-AS RNA is complementary, over a span of 464 nucleotides, to the 3' untranslated region (3'UTR) of the FGF-2 transcripts, encompassing the proximal and distal polyadenylation sites (303). However it's been also shown that NUDT6 may have a role in modulating proliferation in response to growth signals through sense-antisense RNA interactions and, independently of FGF, via the protein itself (304).

In the view of the role of NUDT6 as both a regulator of bFGF and as cell proliferator, an understanding of the exact biological activity would provide important insights into the role of NUDT6 in colorectal carcinogenesis and to elucidate the mechanism by which green tea catechins modulate its function. In the present study, we decided to focus on effect of green tea catechins on NUDT6 and to characterize its biological function. We found that EGCG 50 μ M

had stronger effect compared to ECG 50 μ M in suppressing the *NUDT6* mRNA transcript. The cell proliferation assay, soft agar assay, caspase assay, and invasion assay pointed out towards NUDT6 being the novel cell proliferator blocking apoptosis.

The tumor suppressor p53 is vital in maintaining cellular genomic integrity and controlled cell growth (305-307). Loss or gain of p53 function results in the aberrant growth of cells. p53 protein has a very short half life and thus is usually present at extremely low levels within cells. In response to stress, DNA damaging agents, and chronic mitogenic stimulation, p53 is transiently stabilized and activated. Depending on cell type, cell environment and oncogenic alterations, p53 activation leads to inhibition of cell cycle progression, induction of senescence, differentiation, or apoptosis (41). Under stress, p53 can directly activate components of the apoptotic machinery by translocating to the mitochondria and leading to cytochrome C release, caspase activation, and apoptosis induction (308-310). Mitochondrial translocation of p53 precedes loss of mitochondrial membrane potential and caspase activation, suggesting that p53 may trigger mechanisms at the mitochondria that ultimately lead to induction of apoptosis (311).

4.2 RESULTS

4.2.1 Green tea catechins alter gene expression in human colorectal cancer cells: To elucidate the gene profiles affected by green tea catechins in human colorectal cancer cells, we performed microarray analysis using HCT-116 cells treated with epicatechin gallate (ECG). Among those genes altered by ECG, *NUDT6* was one of several down regulated genes (**Table 7**). We selected ten up regulated and ten down regulated genes, however we focused on the three up regulated and three down regulated genes *ATF3*, *NAG-1*, and *NR4A1* and *NUDT6*, *ID2*, and

ID1, which were already been studied in the lab or which were of particular interest respectively (**Table 6 and 7**).

HCT-116 cells were treated with ECG (50 µM) for 24 h and RNA was isolated; cDNA was made and subjected to RT-PCR. We found that ECG (50 μ M) increased the expression of ATF3, NAG-1 and NR4A1 mRNA and decreased the expression of NUDT6, ID2 and ID1 mRNA (Figure 4A, left panel). The gel densitometry data from three independent experiments are shown in Figure 4A, right panel. Since we have recently reported that a major green tea catechin EGCG suppresses bFGF at the post translational level (212) and that the NUDT6 gene is an antisense of bFGF mRNA (300), we decided to further investigate NUDT6 in this study. We carried out RT-PCR for NUDT6 in other colorectal cancer cells including HT-29, SW480 and LoVo. As shown in Figure 4B, ECG down regulated NUDT6 in these other colorectal cancer cells. We further investigated the dose- and time-dependence. HCT-116 cells were treated with ECG (50 µM) for 0, 6, 12 and 24 h (Figure 4C, top panel) and ECG (10, 50 and 100 μ M) for 24 h (Figure 4C, bottom panel). As shown in Figure 4C, NUDT6 mRNA expression was suppressed at 6 h and at a dose of 10 μ M, with almost complete suppression at 100 μ M. Finally, we examined whether other catechins suppressed NUDT6 by carrying out RT-PCR at a dose of 50 µM each. We found that of the major catechin of green tea, EGCG had a stronger effect on suppressing NUDT6 mRNA expression, compared to other catechins (Figure 4D). Therefore, we decided to use EGCG for further experiments.

TABLE 6: Up regulated genes. Ten up regulated genes selected from Microarray analysis of human colorectal cancer cells, HCT-116 treated with green tea catechin, ECG 50µM.

GENE NAME	ACCESSION	FOLD CHANGE
GAD 2(Glutamate decarboxylase)	I_934177	16.73
ATF3(Activating transcription factor 3)	I_929428	9.59
CTGF(Connective tissue growth factor)	I_966895	6.68
CYR61(Cysteine -rich angiogenic inducer 61)	I_931923	5.55
LAMB3(Laminin beta 3)	I_939265	5.48
NAG-1/PLAB(Macrophage Inhibitory Cytokine 1)	I_966585	4.51
NR4A1/NUR-77(Nuclear Receptor Subfamily 4 Group A Member 1)	I_932430	4.38
PLAU(Urokinase Plasminogen activator)	I_1110216	4.13
BCAR3(Breast cancer anti-estrogen resistance 3)	I_936333	4.12
CNK(Cytokine inducible kinase)	I_964814	3.63

TABLE 7: Down regulated genes. Ten down regulated genes selected from Microarray analysis of human colorectal cancer cells, HCT-116 treated with green tea catechin, ECG 50µM.

ESR1(Estrogen receptor 1)	I_957799	-7.75
FGF23(Fibroblast growth factor 23)	I_945210	-6.43
CD22(CD22 Antigen)	I_966382	-6.39
FABP2(Fatty acid binding protein 2)	I_957744	-4.68
NUDT6 (Nudix Type Motif 6/Anti sense Basic Fibroblast Growth Factor)	I_958190	-4.44
ENC1 (Ectodermal neural cortex 1)	I_957125	-4.44
SOX 4(SRY box 4)	I_957058	-3.85
ID2(Member of Id helix-loop-helix family of protein)	I_943701	-3.80
ID1(Inhibitory of DNA binding 1)	I_960970	-3.47
ADD3(Adducin 3 gamma)	I_963028	-3.45



Fig. 4 NUDT6 is suppressed in the presence of catechins. (A) Left: HCT-116 cells were treated with 50 μ M ECG for 24 h, and RT-PCR was performed for *NUDT6*. *ATF3*, activating transcription factor 3; *NAG-1*, NSAID-activated gene-1; *NR4A1*, nuclear receptor subfamily 4, group A, member 1; *ID2*, inhibitor of DNA binding 2; *ID1*, inhibitor of DNA binding 1. Right: Gel densitometry results from three independent experiments for the respective genes from the left panel. Significance was set at *P=.05, **P=.01 and ***P=.001. (B) Different human colorectal cancer cells were treated with ECG (50 μ M) for 24 h, and *NUDT6* RNA transcripts were measured by RT-PCR. (C) HCT-116 cells were treated with ECG at different time points and at different doses. (D) HCT-116 cells were treated with different catechins (50 μ M each), and *NUDT6* gene expression was determined by RT-PCR.

4.2.2 Posttranscriptional regulation of NUDT6 by EGCG: To gain insight into the mechanisms responsible for inhibition of *NUDT6* mRNA by the green tea catechin EGCG, we examined post-transcriptional regulation of *NUDT6*. Posttranscriptional control in eukaryotic gene expression can also provide a regulatory process by determining the abundance of a particular protein (312). To determine the effects of EGCG on *NUDT6* mRNA stability, the half-life of the mRNAs were first determined by adding EGCG (50 μ M) to HCT-116 cells for 1 h and then treating them with actinomycin D at different time points. After treatment, mRNA was isolated at 0, 1, 2, 4 and 8 h and subjected to RT-PCR (**Figure 4.1A, top panel**). As a result, the half-life of *NUDT6* mRNA from vehicle and EGCG-treated cells was estimated to be around 7 and 2 h, respectively (**Figure 4.1A, bottom panel**).



Figure 4.1. Posttranscriptional regulation of *NUDT6*. (A) EGCG facilitates *NUDT6* mRNA degradation. HCT-116 cells were incubated for 24 h with vehicle or EGCG at a concentration of 50 μ M and subsequently treated with actinomycin D (5 μ M). At the indicated times, total RNA was isolated, and *NUDT6* transcripts were measured by RT-PCR. The relative level of *NUDT6* mRNA was calculated, and the results were plotted as the percentage of the mRNA level present at Time 0 of actinomycin D treatment (bottom). (B) HCT-116 cells were pretreated with 10 μ g/ml cycloheximide and DMSO for 1 h in serum-free media, followed by treatment with EGCG (50 μ M) for 24 h. The data are representative of three independent experiments. ***P<0.001.

These results suggest that EGCG may affect *NUDT6* mRNA at the post-transcriptional level. Next, HCT-116 cells were pretreated with or without 10 μ g/ ml cycloheximide and vehicle (DMSO) for 1 h, followed by treatment with EGCG (50 μ M) (**Figure 4.1B, top panel**). The decreased mRNA expression of *NUDT6* was found to be insensitive to cycloheximide, suggesting that the mechanism of stabilization by EGCG is not involved in *de novo* protein synthesis (**Figure 4.1B, bottom panel**).

4.2.3. Involvement of the 3'UTR sequence of NUDT6 in mRNA stability and MAPK pathways: The stability of mRNA is determined in many cases by interactions between specific RNA-binding proteins and *cis*-acting sequences located in the 3'UTR of the mRNA (312). The AU-rich element (ARE), which targets mRNA for rapid degradation, is well known and characterized as a *cis*-acting sequence (313-315). We found one ARE consensus sequence and seven ARE-like sequences (316) in the 3'UTR of *NUDT6*. The 3'UTR of the *NUDT6* gene was cloned into a pGL3-promoter vector, downstream from the luciferase reporter gene (pSV40-LUC-*NUDT6* 3'UTR; Figure 4.2A). After transfection, the cells were treated with different doses of EGCG (10, 50 and 100 μ M), and luciferase activity was measured. As shown in Figure 4.2B, the luciferase activity was decreased in a dose-dependent manner. This result clearly shows that the 3'UTR of *NUDT6* plays an important role in maintaining the stability of *NUDT6* and that EGCG affects the 3'UTR region in a dose-dependent manner.

We also checked the effect of different catechin treatments on the 3'UTR of *NUDT6* (**Figure 4.2C**), and the result was similar to RT-PCR data shown in **Figure 4D**. Although EC and EGC decreased the luciferase activity compared to vehicle, the effect was not statistically significant.



Figure 4.2. Involvement of 3'UTR sequences in EGCG-induced NUDT6 mRNA suppression. (A) Schematic diagram of the pSV40-LUC-NUDT6 3'UTR construct. (B) The construct was transfected (0.5 μ g) along with pRL-null vector (0.05 μ g) into HCT-116 cells, and the cells were treated with different doses of EGCG (10, 50 and 100 µM). After 24-h treatment, luciferase activity was measured. All other values were normalized to the control (Veh) value set as 1.0. Tukey's multiple comparison test was used to express the results as the mean±SD of three independent transfections, and different letters indicate significant difference (Pb.05). (C) After transfection, HCT-116 cells were treated with four different catechins (EGCG, ECG, EC and EGC, at a dose of 50 μ M), and luciferase activity was measured. The values obtained from vehicle-treated samples (Veh) were defined as 1.0, and data were analyzed using Tukey's multiple comparison test. (D) HCT-116 cells were plated in a 12-well plate; transfected with the construct mentioned in (A); pretreated with inhibitors for the ERK (U0126; 5 µM), p38MAPK (SB203580; 15 µM) and JNK pathways (SP600125; 30 µM) for 30 min; and then treated with EGCG (50 μ M) for 24 h. The y-axis represents luciferase activity measured by relative luciferase unit (RLU). **P<0.01 and ***P<0.001, based on Student's t test. All experiments were performed in triplicate, with columns representing means and with bars representing S.D. Next, we examined whether kinase pathways might be involved in EGCG-induced NUDT6 suppression. ERK, p38MAPK and JNK have been shown to be involved in ARE-driven mRNA turnover (317).

Thus, we examined the effects of MAPK pathway inhibitors on EGCG-affected *NUDT6* mRNA stability. HCT-116 cells were transfected with pSV40-LUC-*NUDT6* 3'UTR construct for 24 h, pretreated with U0126 (ERK inhibitor; 5 μ M), SB203580 (p38 inhibitor; 15 μ M) and SP600125 (JNK inhibitor; 30 μ M) for 30 min and treated with EGCG (50 μ M) for 24 h in serum-free media.

The treatment of U0126 and SB203580 with EGCG did not decrease luciferase activity compared to vehicle treated samples (**Figure 4.2D**), suggesting the potential role of ERK and, to some extent, p38MAPK in the post transcriptional regulation of *NUDT6* by EGCG.

4.2.4 Biological activity of NUDT6: Biological activity of NUDT6 has not been elucidated in detail, although there are some reports indicating that NUDT6 functions as a tumor suppressor and a tumor promoter (302, 304). Commercially available NUDT6 antibody did not work properly in Western analysis (data not shown). Therefore, we amplified the full-length *NUDT6* gene and were successful in getting the forward (NUDT6 correct orientation) and reverse (NUDT6 reverse orientation) clones of *NUDT6* (reverse clones did not have any bFGF activity, data not shown) in expression vector pCDN3.1/V5-His-TOPO (Figure 4.3A). We then made stable cell lines for NUDT6 in both forward and reverse orientations. The stable cell lines, pcDNA 3.1/NUDT6 and pcDNA 3.1/CONTROL were plated in 6-cm plates and were harvested and subjected to Western analysis. First, NUDT6 expression was confirmed using antibody against V5 tag (Figure 4.3A). Cell proliferation was carried out to determine whether NUDT6

expression affects cell growth. Staurosporine was also added to induce apoptosis, and absorbance was measured on days 0, 1, 2, 3 and 4. NUDT6-overexpressing cells increased cell proliferation in the presence of staurosporine significantly at 2, 3 and 4 days; however, a significant increase was also seen at 0 (0 day of staurosporine treatment, but 24 h after cells were plated) and 1 day without staurosporine (**Figure 4.3B**). The pro-tumorigenic activity of NUDT6 was evaluated by determining whether NUDT6 expression would affect cell growth in agarose because the ability to form colonies in soft agar is reflective of tumorigenesis (228). The NUDT6 stable cell line resulted in a dramatic increase of the clonogenic capacity of the cells (**Figure 4.3C**). To further confirm the biological activity of NUDT6, an electrical impedance assay was carried out, and the resistance and reactance were recorded as described in the Materials and Methods section. The pcDNA 3.1/NUDT6 cells showed increased resistance and reactance compared to pcDNA 3.1/CONTROL cells (**Figure 4.3D**, **top and bottom panel, respectively**). These data also suggest that NUDT6 may have oncogenic activity.

Zhang et al reported for the first time that NUDT6 had a mitochondrial targeting sequence in the N-terminal which is necessary and sufficient for mitochondrial localization (300). We wanted to confirm the localization of NUDT6 in the stable cell lines. The cytoplasmic and mitochondrial fractions were obtained using mitochondrial isolation kit and as shown in **Figure 4.3E**, NUDT6 is only expressed in mitochondria but not in the cytoplasm. To further confirm this result, we carried out immunostaining as mentioned in chapter 2 and NUDT6 was localized in the mitochondria whereas no expression of V5 was detected in CONTROL cells (**Figure 4.3F**). NUDT6 exhibited a role of a cell proliferator as seen in **Figures 4.3B**, **C**, **and D**. Further we wanted to check whether NUDT6 causes cell proliferation by blocking apoptosis.





Figure 4.3. Characterization of the biological activity of NUDT6 in human colorectal cancer cells. (A) The stable cell lines pcDNA3.1/NUDT6 and pcDNA3.1/CONTROL were made as described in Materials and Methods. These clones contained tag proteins, V5 and histidine. Western blot analysis was carried out using anti-V5 antibody to confirm the integration of plasmid. Actin served as loading control. (B) CONTROL and NUDT6 cells were plated onto a 96-well plate (1 day before treatment), and either vehicle or 5 μ M staurosporine was added at 0 day. Cell growth was measured using the CellTiter96 Aqueous One Solution Cell Proliferation Assay. Values are expressed as the mean±S.D. of six replicates. *P<.05, **P<0.01 and ***P<0.001 versus control cells. (C) The stable cell lines were grown for 2-3 weeks in 0.4% soft agar and stained with piodonitrotetrazolium violet solution. The results are representative of three different experiments. The data represent mean±SD. (D) Micro-impedance measurement of HCT-116 cells with stable cell lines. The corresponding normalized resistance (R) and reactance (X) were measured in HCT-116 cells over a 3.5-day period. The subscripts "c" and "n" indicate cell-covered and naked scans, respectively. For the sake of clarity, symbols represent 20 data intervals. The starting cell concentration used here was 2.4×104 cells/ml. (E) Localization of NUDT6 was studied by blotting mitochondrial fraction (mito) and cytoplasmic fraction (cyto) for V5. Actin was used as loading control. (F) The CONTROL and NUDT6 cells were stained with specific mitochondrial staining kit, Mitotrack and also with V5 and DAPI to confirm the mitochondrial localization of NUDT6. (G) The CONTROL and NUDT6 cells were treated with apoptotic inducer, staurosporine (5 μM) for 6, 9, and 24 h and caspase3/7 glo assay was used to detect luminescence. (H) Colony formation assay was carried out by plating 1000 cells/ plate of CONTROL and NUDT6 cell line and allowed to grow for around a week. (I) 1×10^{6} cells were placed on matrigel and allowed to invade for 24 h

Caspases, or *cysteine-asp*artic prote*ases*, are a family of cysteine proteases, which play essential roles in apoptosis (programmed cell death), necrosis and inflammation (318) among many other functions. We carried out caspase 3/7 glo assay as discussed in chapter 2 and found that NUDT6 blocks caspase activity in presence of apoptotic inducer, staurosporine used for 6, 9, and 24 h (**Figure 4.3G**). NUDT6 also increased the colony formation (**Figure 4.3H**).

Proteins involved in cell proliferation are frequently involved in cell invasion and metastasis (319). We wanted to check whether NUDT6 causes cell invasion. So CONTROL and NUDT6 cells were cultured in matrigel and allowed to grow and invade in the transwell chambers and as shown in **Figure 4.3I**, NUDT6 cells invaded the matrigel with much more efficacy compared to CONTROL cells. All these data point out towards a very potent cell proliferator role of NUDT6.

4.2.5 NUDT6 suppresses p53 expression: The tumor suppressor protein p53 mutation is associated with cell invasion and cell proliferation (320). Hence, we checked whether NUDT6 has any effect on p53 protein status and found that NUDT6 cell line had decreased p53 expression compared to CONTROL cell line shown in Figure 4.4A, left panel. NAG-1 is downstream target of p53 (321, 322) and its expression was decreased in NUDT6 cells. BCL2 family also includes anti-apoptotic agents like Bcl-2 (323, 324) which many a times, inhibit the activity of pro-apoptotic agents. We checked the expression level of BCL2 in NUDT6 stable cell lines and found it to be increased but there was no change in cyclin D1 in NUDT6 cells (Figure 4.4A). The p53 protein expression was reduced in NUDT6 cell line, so we wanted to check if p53 gene transcription is affected by NUDT6. Hence we carried out RT-PCR but there was no change between the mRNA transcripts of p53 in CONTROL or NUDT6 cell line as shown in Figure 4.4A, right panel. Once p53 is activated due to stress, it causes transcription initiation of

its downstream targets like MDM2, which in turn acts as E3 ligase and causes ubiquitination and degradation of p53 by proteasomal pathway (325, 326). We used MDM2 promoter having two p53 binding sites and transfected into the stable cell lines and as shown in **Figure 4.4B** as a reporter for activation of promoter by p53. NUDT6 cells showed decreased activity of p53 compared to CONTROL. We blocked NUDT6 using siRNA but could not restore p53 expression (data not shown). Since p53 is known to undergo protein degradation, we examined whether NUDT6 affects p53 at translational level. The use of puromycin, which is protein synthesis inhibitor, showed that NUDT6 causes degradation of p53 starting at around 1 to 3 h compared to degradation at 6 h in CONTROL cell line (**Figure 4.4C**). Since NUDT6 causes degradation of p53, we speculated that it binds to p53. Hence, we carried out immunoprecipitation. Pull down of V5-His tagged CONTROL and NUDT6 by Nickel column and immunoblotting with p53 showed that NUDT6 binds to p53. When p53 was pulled down in these two stable cell lines and immunoblotted with V5 and p53, binding between these two proteins was also confirmed as shown in **Figure 4.4D**.

4.2.6 NUDT6 increases tumor volume in vivo: Our in vitro experiments showed that NUDT6 is a novel cell proliferator, and it affects apoptosis perhaps through binding to p53, and causing its degradation. Therefore we wanted to see its effects *in vivo*. The xenograft model was used and the 10 male nude mice were given 3% sucrose water for drinking. Each mouse was injected with CONTROL cells on right flank and NUDT6 cells on left flank. The tumor volume was calculated as mentioned in chapter 2. The tumor volume was increased in NUDT6 injected cells compared to CONTROL cells (**Figure 4.5A**).



Figure 4.4 Involvement of p53. (A) Left panel: Western Blot analysis in CONTROL and NUDT6 cells for different proteins. Actin was used as a loading control. Right panel: RTPCR for *p53* and *NAG-1* in CONTROL and NUDT6 stable cells. *GAPDH* is used as a control. (B) MDM2 promoter containing two p53 binding sites transfected in CONTROL and NUDT6 cells and luciferase assay was measured. Experiment was carried out in triplicates and standard deviation was calculated. (C) The CONTROL and NUDT6 cells were grown till 60-80% confluent and were subsequently treated with puromycin (puro, 50 µmol/L) treatment. The cell lysates were harvested after 0-, 1-, 3-, 6-, 12- and 24-h treatment, and Western blot analysis was carried out for V5, p53 and actin. The numbers below the actin band indicate the fold decrease of p53 over Actin. The 0-h time point for both CONTROL and NUDT6 was adjusted to 1. (D) The CONTROL and NUDT6 stable cells were purified using ProBond nickel-chelating resin. The Western blot analysis was performed to measure V5-His tagged and p53. The proteins of CONROL and NUDT6 were pull down using p53 antibody, 5 µg were subjected to immunoblot with V5 and p53.


Figure 4.5. Xenograft study. (A) Comparison of tumor volume in NUDT6 injected mice tumors (mean \pm SD) in comparison with CONTROL. The *asterisk* denotes *P* value <0.05 using the Student t test to compare NUDT6 and CONTROL groups. (B) Western Blot using tumor tissue lysates from CONTROL and NUDT6 injected mice for V5, p53 and Actin. (C) H&E staining for CONTROL and NUDT6 tumors. Black arrows point towards apoptotic bodies, Red arrows point towards mitotic figures. The graph indicates the densitometry for % of apoptotic and mitotic cells amongst the CONTROL and NUDT6 injected mice. The one asterisk signs denote a *P* value of <0.05 using Student t test. (D) Caspase 3/7 Glo assay for tumor tissue lysates for CONTROL and NUDT6 tumors. Luminescence was measured. Samples were in triplicates and values show mean \pm SD. *P<0.05.

The tissue lysates made from the tumors of these mice were subjected to immunoblotting and V5 antibody could detect expression in NUDT6 cells (**Figure 4.5B**). The p53 expression was suppressed in NUDT6 cells compared to CONTROL cells (**Figure 4.5B**). In H&E staining in NUDT6 showed increased percentage of mitotic figures and decreased apoptotic figures compared to CONTROL (**Figure 4.5C**). Finally NUDT6 also decreased caspase activity in tissue lysates compared to CONTROL cells (**Figure 4.5D**). There was another group of nude mice which was given 0.1% EGCG in 3% sucrose drinking water to mask the bitter taste of EGCG (data not shown). The tumor volume was increased in NUDT6 injected mice after EGCG treatment. However the tumor volume in CONTROL injected cells was decreased by EGCG treatment. The percentage of mitotic cells was increased and caspase activity was decreased in NUDT6 injected mice treated with EGCG. The results were similar to vehicle group in NUDT6 injected mice. EGCG could not restore p53 expression in NUDT6 tumors.

4.2.7 Expression of NUDT6 in human tissues: Finally, we wanted to check the expression of NUDT6 in human colorectal normal and tumor tissues. We isolated RNA from the tissues and carried out RTPCR and found that NUDT6 is highly expressed in tumor tissues compared to normal as shown in **Figure 4.6A**.

The Figure 4.6B shows graphical comparison between normal and tumor human colorectal tissue. The β -microglobulin was used as house keeping control gene. NUDT6 expression is almost not seen in the normal tissue of human colorectal tissue samples.



Figure 4.6. Human normal and tumor colon tissue samples. (A) RT-PCR for measuring *NUDT6* transcript in human colorectal normal (N) and tumor (T) tissue samples. β -*microglobulin* was used as control. (B) Shows a quantitative analysis of 3 independent experiments. Asterisks (*) was used to show *P* <0.05, using Student *t* test.

4.3 DISCUSSION

Dietary compounds have been known to have fewer side effects and play an important role in pathogenesis and prevention of cancer (327). Green tea catechins are among such dietary compounds, and they are well established as anti-cancer agents (328, 329). The green tea catechins are known to inhibit cell growth, angiogenesis, and metastasis and to promote apoptosis accompanied by alterations in gene expression of tumor suppressor proteins NAG-1 and EGR-1, and oncogenic proteins such as bFGF (212, 330, 331). In this chapter, we have provided a new mechanism by which EGCG/ECG acts as an anticancer agent. ECG 50 µM suppressed NUDT6 transcript in four different human colorectal cells, HCT-116, HT-29, SW-480, and LoVo cells and it did so in dose and time dependent manner (Figure 4A, B, C). However EGCG showed a stronger suppression amongst four green tea catechins (Figure 4D). EGCG affected the post-transcriptional regulation of the cell proliferative gene NUDT6 through ERK and p38MAPK pathways. Further we have also shown that NUDT6 may increase cell proliferative activity at least partly by binding to p53 and causing degradation of p53 protein ultimately leading to uncontrolled cell proliferation in vitro and increased tumor volume in vivo. Regulation of gene expression by post-transcriptional modification of mRNA stability is an important mechanism used in the control of cell growth. Many but not all eukaryotic mRNAs are longer lived with average half lives of several hours for mammals (332). There are several factors regulating the rate of mRNA turnover (333-335) and one such factor is the intrinsic stability of the mRNA molecule, as expressed in the free-folding energies of its secondary and tertiary structures, which means the rate of mRNA degradation determines the extent and duration of gene expression (335). Due to this the gene expression may be regulated by a molecule in two ways: either as a positive regulator, in which mRNA stability is associated with

longer turnover rates of mRNA molecules within a cell and therefore increased translational rate, or, as a negative regulator, in which mRNA stability is associated with shorter turnover rates of mRNA molecules and therefore decreased translational rate of highly expressed genes (336, 337). The differences in decay rates in stable and unstable mRNAs are attributable to the presence or absence of specific sequence elements called AU rich elements (ARE). The sequence consensus for the ARE is loosely defined as a pentamer comprising AUUUA, repeated once or several times within the 3'UTR. It is often found within a U-rich region of the mRNA. However, recent work has suggested that a nonamer, UUAUUUA (U/A) (U/A), is more indicative of rapid destabilization (338). It is now becoming clear that it is the combination of functionally and structurally distinct sequence motifs, such as AU-pentamers, nonamers and U-rich stretches, which determines the ultimate stabilizing ability of each particular, ARE. The 3'UTR of mammalian mRNAs contain AREs, exhibiting the well characterized adenosine (A) + uridine (U)-rich elements, which regulate degradation of mRNAs and provide an effective way to control protein expression by regulation of mRNA half-life and translation (339). In particular, cellular events such as differentiation, proliferation, apoptosis, and inflammation are known to be related to modifications of the rate of RNA degradation mediated by the ARE motif (313, 339). Based on their sequences and their effects on mRNA stability, three classes of AREs have been defined (340). Class I AREs contain scattered copies of the AUUUA sequence within a U-rich region. Class II AREs contain overlapping AUUUA motifs within a U-rich region. Class III AREs contain U-rich sequences rather than the AUUUA motif. Emerging evidence suggests that there is another novel ARE that does not fit in any of the three classes. Examination of sequences revealed that the 3'UTR of NUDT6 mRNA contains a highly conserved ARE (Figure 4.2A) and 7 ARE-like sequences, and these AREs should indicate the rapid degradation of mRNA. Indeed,

insertion of the 3'UTR of *NUDT6* into the reporter vector caused a dramatic reduction in luciferase activity in the presence of EGCG (**Figure 4.2B**). In addition, EGCG affected the mRNA stability of *NUDT6* and degraded the mRNA as quickly as 2 h compared to 7 h in vehicle (DMSO) (**Figure 4.1A, top and bottom panel**). There was however no involvement of any *de novo* protein synthesis as depicted in the cycloheximide study (**Figure 4.1B, top and bottom panel**), indicating an involvement of signaling pathways that do not require new protein synthesis.

The MAPK pathway could play a role in the post-transcriptional regulation of genes because a number of ARE-binding proteins require phosphorylation by MAPK for activation (341). We have shown that treatment with JNK inhibitor and EGCG did not affect luciferase activity of the pSV40-LUC-*NUDT6* 3'UTR construct (**Figure 4.2D**); however, luciferase activity was even increased and restored when U0126 and SB203580 were added, respectively. Interestingly, U0126 treatment with EGCG increased luciferase activity (**Figure 4.2D**), indicating that the ERK pathway may affect not only the 3'UTR of *NUDT6* but also SV40 promoter activity located in the promoter of this reporter vector. Luciferase activity was decreased in the presence of U0126, compared to the vehicle-treated samples, clearly suggesting that the ERK pathway is involved in stabilizing mRNA of *NUDT6*. Overall, our data suggest that EGCG modulates the ERK and p38MAPK pathways and leads to degradation of *NUDT6* mRNA. Further studies are required to determine the ERK and p38MAPK pathway-related ARE-binding proteins.

NUDT6 belongs to the Nudix hydrolase family and is hypothesized to have both pro- and antiproliferative effects (299). There was a 4 to 5 fold decrease in the *NUDT6* gene expression in our microarray data treated with ECG. To confirm the microarray data, we selected three up regulated genes, *ATF3*, *NAG-1* and *NR4A1*, and three down regulated genes, *NUDT6*, *ID2* and *ID1.* We previously reported that *NAG-1* and *ATF3* are induced by green tea catechins, and NR4A1, ID1, ID2 are known to play a role in tumorigenesis (342-344). In contrast, the biological function of NUDT6 and its role in tumorigenesis have not been well elucidated (300). We generated stable cell lines with V5/His tags as shown in Figure 4.3A. The cell proliferation assay showed that the NUDT6 cells had an increased rate of cell growth compared to control at the early time points (Figure 4.3B, 0 and 1 day); however, effects on cell proliferation was not seen at the later time points (Figure 4.3B, 2, 3, and 4 days) when an apoptosis inducer, staurosporine, was added to the cells. This suggests that NUDT6 may contribute to the initiation of cell proliferation and that its expression makes cells less sensitive to the apoptosis inducer. Cell proliferative properties of NUDT6 are more evident by soft agar cloning and impedance assays. The NUDT6 stable cell line had more clonogenic properties compared to CONTROL cells, as shown in **Figure 4.3C**. The impedance technique has been applied to a number of biological studies that deal with cellular barrier function, attachment, spreading, and adhesion (345). In addition, frequency-dependent electrical impedance measurements have been used to evaluate the model parameters associated with cell-cell and cell-matrix junction formation (346). In the present study, micro-impedance measurements were used to quantitatively examine proliferation and morphological changes such as cell-cell adhesion and cell-substrate adhesion under NUDT6 expression. The electrical impedance assay confirmed that NUDT6 expression resulted in cell proliferation with enhanced cell motility (Figure 4.3D top and bottom panels). Caspases are essential in cells for apoptosis, or programmed cell death, in development and most other stages of adult life, and have been termed "executioner" proteins for their roles in the cell. To further complement the role of NUDT6 as cell proliferator, we checked whether NUDT6 could block caspase activity in the presence of apoptotic inducer staurosporine, confirmed that

NUDT6 can indeed cause cell proliferation by blocking apoptosis in dividing cells (**Figure 4.3G**). NUDT6 also caused increase in colony formation (**Figure 4.3H**). The two defining characteristics of cancer cells are uncontrolled cell proliferation and aggressive cell invasion (347). NUDT6 cells showed more cell invasion activity as shown in **Figure 4.3I**, stating that it can not only initiate primary tumor formation but also allow cancer cells to possibly metastasize to secondary sites.

Zhang et al showed that NUDT6 has a mitochondrial peptide sequence and hence is located in mitochondria (300). We found similar results with the stable cell lines which showed NUDT6 expression only in the mitochondrial fraction. Mitotrack is a cell permeable chemical stain containing thiol-reactive chloromethyl moiety for labeling mitochondria. Mitotrack passively diffuses through plasma membrane and stains active mitochondria. Mitotrack staining was seen co localizing with NUDT6 stain when merged. However there was no expression of either V5 or mitotrack in CONTROL (**Figure 4.3E and F**).

The roles of p53 as a tumor suppressor have been extensively studied mostly for its functions in the regulation of cell cycle progression and apoptosis. Accumulating data in recent years have strongly implicated a new role for p53 in the remodeling of the actin-based cytoskeleton, playing a role in cell invasion (348, 349). In response to genotoxic stress, including DNA damage, hypoxia, and activated oncogenes, p53 rapidly translocates to the mitochondria (311, 350-352). We hypothesized that there might be some relationship between NUDT6 over expression and p53 where in under stress, p53 moves to mitochondria, where mitochondrial protein, NUDT6 binds it and targets it for degradation. Our Western Blot data showed that p53 expression was decreased in the NUDT6 over expressing cell line (**Figure 4.4A, left panel**). Post translational modification of p53 is very common mechanism (353). The downstream targets of p53, BAX

and NAG-1 were also decreased and the anti-apoptotic protein BCL2 was increased which could be due the disturbance in balance of pro-apoptotic and anti-apoptotic proteins (**Figure 4.4A**). NUDT6 did not have any effect on the transcription of *p53* gene indicating the significant changes occurring at translational or post-translational level (**Figure 4.4A**, **right panel**). The half life of p53 protein is around 20minutes, however when compared between CONTROL and NUDT6, NUDT6 caused degradation of p53 protein at an earlier time point in the presence of protein synthesis inhibitor puromycin (**Figure 4.4C**) suggesting NUDT6 could have a potential role in degradation of p53 acting as E3 ligase like MDM2 (354) but further detailed studies are required. Ubiquitination targets proteins involved in a large number of different biological processes for proteasome degradation (355) so we checked if ubiquitination of p53 by NUDT6 might follow an ubiquitin-independent pathway (data not shown). It will be worthwhile to look at ubiquitin independent pathway.

The in vivo experiments complemented the in vitro experiments showing NUDT6 is a cell proliferation promoter and causes increase in tumor volume (**Figure 4.5A**). Western Blot analysis showed decreased p53 expression in tumor lysates in vehicle treated groups (**Figure 4.5B**). NUDT6 decreased the caspase activity in tissue lysates similar to the in vitro experiment (**Figure 4.5D**). The mitotic bodies were more in NUDT6 tumors as shown in **Figure 4.5C** indicating the NUDT6 tumor cells undergo more proliferation compared to CONTROL. NUDT6 also decreased the apoptotic bodies complementing the caspase activity and in vitro studies and is an anti-apoptotic agent. The results in EGCG treated nude mice injected with NUDT6 were similar to vehicle.

There could be several explanations; 1) the 0.1% EGCG dose was not enough to have an effect, 2) nude mice are immunodeficient mice and EGCG might require an active immune system to exhibit the beneficial effects, 3) EGCG leads to p53-dependent apoptosis, or 4) NUDT6 desensitizes the effect of EGCG. Multidrug resistance is very common problem in successful chemotherapy (356).

NUDT6 increased the mRNA transcripts of multidrug resistance genes, *ABCC1* and *ABCB1* (data not shown). Further studies are required to gain deep insight into the mechanism by which NUDT6 blocked EGCG effects.

NUDT6 expression was also more common in human colorectal tumor samples compared to normal colon samples indicating increased NUDT6 expression in tumors (**Figure 4.6A and B**). All these data show that NUDT6 is a novel and potent tumor proliferator, exhibiting its effect perhaps by binding p53 in mitochondria and causing its degradation (may be in cytoplasm after translocation), decreasing pro-apoptotic effects of EGCG. Hence the potential significance of NUDT6 as a biomarker for colon carcinogenesis needs to be established in future studies.

Conclusion: EGCG is a chemopreventive agent

CHAPTER 5

Colorectal cancer is a third leading cause of cancer related deaths in the Western World. It has a natural history of transition from adenoma to adenocarcinoma that spans, on average, 15-20 years, providing a window of opportunity for effective interventions and prevention (357). The chemotherapy regimen used against colorectal cancer is stressful because it has undesirable side effects that can diminish the quality of life. Also recent data have suggested that non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents like aspirin, celecoxib, and sulindac sulfide, all have the potential to reduce both adenomas and colorectal adenocarcinomas (358). However such agents have issues of safety and therapeutic indices for example, aspirin shows effects only at a weekly total dose of 1000 mg or greater and has serious side effects like cerebrovascular and gastrointestinal adverse effects associated with long-term use (359, 360). Many dietary compounds like green tea, resveratrol, genistein, apigenin, exhibit beneficial effects to health including prevention of diseases like cancer. The ultimate goal today is prevention of cancer. Green tea is considered one of the most promising dietary agents for the prevention and possibly early treatment of many cancers including colorectal cancer worldwide. The green tea catechin, EGCG, possesses cancer-preventive, antioxidant, anti-mutagenic, apoptotic, and anti-inflammatory properties. Our group and others demonstrated the beneficial properties of EGCG in colorectal cancer using different molecular targets like induction of proapoptotic agents like NAG-1, EGR-1 and ATF3 (208). EGCG was found to inhibit growth and activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor and human epidermal growth factor receptor-2 signaling pathways in human colon cancer cells (213). EGCG also caused inhibition of inflammation (214), translocation of different genes (215), cell cycle regulation (216), inhibiting activation of IGF-1 (217) and many more functions. In this thesis, two new molecular targets of EGCG, bFGF and NUDT6, have been described.

The pro-angiogenic factor, bFGF causes angiogenesis leading to growth and nourishment of tumors and eventually metastasis. Suppression of bFGF would deprive tumor of nourishment. My data shows that EGCG inhibits bFGF expression at the post-translational level by activating ubiquitin proteasomal degradation which is a novel mechanism of EGCG action and a first report showing involvement of ubiquitin proteasome pathway. EGCG increased ubiquitination of bFGF as well as the trypsin like activity of 20S proteasome. The polyubiquitinated bFGF was recognized by 20S proteasome and increased trypsin-like catalytic activity caused rapid degradation of bFGF protein probably into peptides. EGCG also reduced adenoma formation in APC^{Min/+} mice and bFGF downregulation by EGCG plays at least a partial role in EGCGinduced anti-tumorigenesis activity. EGCG is a potent anti-angiogenic agent as well as a chemopreventive dietary agent inhibiting growth and development of polyps. In the future it will be interesting to see whether EGCG targets other pro-angiogenic agents through ubiquitin proteasomal pathway or if the effect is specific for bFGF. APC^{*Min/+*} mice are a model for FAP in humans and have intestinal adenomas but seldom colonic adenomas; therefore other colorectal cancer models like mouse models with mismatch repair gene mutations which have colonic adenomas should be explored for EGCG effects on colorectal cancer.

NUDT6 is the anti-sense gene of *bFGF*. The biological activity of NUDT6 is not known. However there are contradicting reports, one report says NUDT6 regulates bFGF activity (300) whereas other report states that NUDT6 causes cell proliferation (361). My work characterizes the biological activity of NUDT6 as a novel potential cell proliferation factor for the first time. I was successful in making stable cell lines for NUDT6 and CONTROL as there are no antibodies available for it and stable cells are very useful especially in characterization of biological activities. For a gene to be characterized as an oncogene, four properties are required: 1) It should be able to cause cell proliferation, 2) it should evade apoptosis, 3) it should be able to increase invasion of cells, and 4) should be able to induce growth of tumors in xenograft models. The data suggested that NUDT6 increased cell proliferation, increased number of colonies in soft agar, increased electrical resistance and reactance between cell to cell and cell to substrate suggesting cells are tightly bound and frequently resistant to treatment and decreased caspase activity in presence of an apoptotic inducer. NUDT6 made cells resistant to induction of apoptosis. Increased invasion potential was seen in NUDT6 cells compared to CONTROL and using in vivo study we found that NUDT6 over expression cells formed tumors which showed an increased volume compared to CONTROL cells when injected into nude mice. NUDT6 is highly expressed in human colorectal tumors and less or no expression is seen in paired normal human colorectal tissue.

NUDT6 is a mitochondrial protein. I have also found that NUDT6 can bind p53 protein and this binding may lead to p53 degradation. Whether the binding occurs in mitochondria with p53 translocation to the cytoplasm for degradation is yet to be determined. It will also be very interesting to see whether NUDT6 can degrade p53 through the proteasomal pathway. However p53 is not ubiquitinated in presence of NUDT6. There is still a possibility that the degradation occurs in an ubiquitin independent manner. In the future, studies can also be carried out to elucidate in detail the mechanisms of degradation of p53 by NUDT6.

EGCG suppressed *NUDT6* at a post-transcriptional level probably through ERK and p38 MAPK pathways. EGCG reduced the half life of *NUDT6* mRNA by targeting the AU-rich elements in its 3' UTR causing rapid degradation. However EGCG could not suppress NUDT6 expression in vivo and NUDT6 increased tumor volume and decreased caspase activity in EGCG treated nude mice. The failure of EGCG action in controlling tumors in NUDT6 over expression cells injected

mice could be due to desensitization of EGCG by NUDT6. I also found that NUDT6 increases the mRNA transcript of multidrug resistant genes, *ABCC1* and *ABCB1* (data not shown). Multidrug resistance is the biggest problem of chemotherapy failure (362). Future studies elucidating the role of NUDT6 in multidrug resistance can lead to finding of a novel marker in colon carcinogenesis. If it is proved that NUDT6 is indeed causing cancer cells to become resistant to EGCG, it can be used as a marker to determine the prognosis of cancer. Screening the effects of chemotherapeutic drugs like 5-FU, cisplatin etc in NUDT6 expressing cells is another promising future study. New arrays can be designed to detect NUDT6 expression in cancerous tissues.

Another aspect is deciding the most relevant and effective concentration of dietary agents, which is always a problem for a number of reasons. First, adding a compound directly to a cell culture will deliver a much higher local dose than occurs in the body following ingestion. Second, some if not all of the compounds may undergo metabolism *in vivo* to other more or less active derivatives and such metabolism may not be replicated in culture. Third, higher *in vivo* doses than those so far reported may be achievable by administration of a pure compound rather than as a dietary source, or an optimized formulation of a pure compound. Fourth, some target tissues may receive a higher (or more prolonged) dose than the reported peak levels in plasma. Fifth, some target tissues, such as skin, oral cavity, gastrointestinal tract, and bladder, may receive higher doses because they are not dependent on circulating levels. The colon, for example, can be exposed to significant amounts of (unabsorbed) material in the lumen. Finally, where the diet is concerned, any one compound may be poorly bioavailable, but with dozens, even hundreds, of active molecules being ingested together, the cumulative dose of similar acting compounds may be significantly higher. It should not be forgotten though; some natural products have exhibited

toxicity *in vivo* when given in high doses, so there is also an argument for the use of higher concentrations *in vitro* to indicate the full range of activity of these molecules. However the only toxicity observed with green tea is insomnia due to caffeine and it mostly occurs in people sensitive to caffeine. But decaffeinated green tea is also available.

Since EGCG beneficial health effects are being increasingly proved, it seems to be even more advisable to encourage the regular consumption of green tea as a widely available, palatable and inexpensive beverage. Taking all this into account, it would be advisable to consider the regular consumption of green tea in Western diets. Drinking four to five cups of freshly brewed green tea at a temperature below boiling point (140 to 185 ⁰ F), keeping the green tea solution in mouth for one minute, increases salivary concentration of catechins and helps exposing the human body to beneficial effects of green tea.

REFERENCES

1. Potten CS, Loeffler M. Stem cells: attributes, cycles, spirals, pitfalls and uncertainties. Lessons for and from the crypt. Development. 1990 Dec;110(4):1001-20.

2. Barker N, van Es JH, Kuipers J, Kujala P, van den Born M, Cozijnsen M, Haegebarth A, Korving J, Begthel H, Peters PJ, Clevers H. Identification of stem cells in small intestine and colon by marker gene Lgr5. Nature. 2007 Oct 25;449(7165):1003-7.

3. Le NH, Franken P, Fodde R. Tumour-stroma interactions in colorectal cancer: converging on beta-catenin activation and cancer stemness. Br J Cancer. 2008 Jun 17;98(12):1886-93.

4. Fukumura D, Jain RK. Tumor microvasculature and microenvironment: targets for antiangiogenesis and normalization. Microvasc Res. 2007 Sep-Nov;74(2-3):72-84.

5. Crosnier C, Stamataki D, Lewis J. Organizing cell renewal in the intestine: stem cells, signals and combinatorial control. Nat Rev Genet. 2006 May;7(5):349-59.

6. Behrens J. The role of the Wnt signalling pathway in colorectal tumorigenesis. Biochem Soc Trans. 2005 Aug , 2005;33(Pt 4):672-5.

7. Fodde R, Smits R, Clevers H. APC, signal transduction and genetic instability in colorectal cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2001 Oct;1(1):55-67.

8. Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. Lessons from hereditary colorectal cancer. Cell. 1996 Oct 18;87(2):159-70.

9. Capelluto DG, Kutateladze TG, Habas R, Finkielstein CV, He X, Overduin M. The DIX domain targets dishevelled to actin stress fibres and vesicular membranes. Nature. 2002 Oct 17;419(6908):726-9.

10. Liu C, Li Y, Semenov M, Han C, Baeg GH, Tan Y, Zhang Z, Lin X, He X. Control of beta-catenin phosphorylation/degradation by a dual-kinase mechanism. Cell. 2002 Mar 22;108(6):837-47.

11. Lustig B, Behrens J. The Wnt signaling pathway and its role in tumor development. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2003 Apr;129(4):199-221.

12. Arends JW. Molecular interactions in the Vogelstein model of colorectal carcinoma. The Journal of Pathology. 2000;190(4):412-6.

13. He TC, Sparks AB, Rago C, Hermeking H, Zawel L, da Costa LT, Morin PJ, Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW. Identification of c-MYC as a target of the APC pathway. Science. 1998 Sep 4;281(5382):1509-12.

14. Takayama O, Yamamoto H, Damdinsuren B, Sugita Y, Ngan CY, Xu X, Tsujino T, Takemasa I, Ikeda M, Sekimoto M, Matsuura N, Monden M. Expression of PPARdelta in multistage carcinogenesis of the colorectum: implications of malignant cancer morphology. Br J Cancer. 2006 Oct 9;95(7):889-95.

15. He T-C, Chan TA, Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW. PPAR' Is an APC-Regulated Target of Nonsteroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs. 1999;99(3):335-45.

16. Brabletz T, Jung A, Hermann K, Gunther K, Hohenberger W, Kirchner T. Nuclear overexpression of the oncoprotein beta-catenin in colorectal cancer is localized predominantly at the invasion front. Pathol Res Pract. 1998;194(10):701-4.

17. Brabletz T, Jung A, Reu S, Porzner M, Hlubek F, Kunz-Schughart LA, Knuechel R, Kirchner T. Variable beta-catenin expression in colorectal cancers indicates tumor progression driven by the tumor environment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001 Aug 28;98(18):10356-61.

18. Gaspar C, Fodde R. APC dosage effects in tumorigenesis and stem cell differentiation. Int J Dev Biol. 2004;48(5-6):377-86. 19. Brabletz T, Jung A, Spaderna S, Hlubek F, Kirchner T. Opinion: migrating cancer stem cells - an integrated concept of malignant tumour progression. Nat Rev Cancer. 2005 Sep;5(9):744-9.

20. Kinzler KW, and Vogelstein, B. Colorectal tumors. 2nd ed. New York: McGraw-Hill; 2002.

21. Potten CS, Booth C, Pritchard DM. The intestinal epithelial stem cell: the mucosal governor. Int J Exp Pathol. 1997 Aug;78(4):219-43.

22. Kerr D. Clinical development of gene therapy for colorectal cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2003 Aug;3(8):615-22.

23. Eisenmann DM. Wnt signaling. WormBook. 2005:1-17.

24. Choi KC, Auersperg N, Leung PC. Mitogen-activated protein kinases in normal and (pre)neoplastic ovarian surface epithelium. Reprod Biol Endocrinol. 2003 Oct 7;1:71.

25. Winawer SJ. The multidisciplinary management of gastrointestinal cancer. Colorectal cancer screening. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2007;21(6):1031-48.

26. Schaefer MHCaEM. MAP Kinase Signaling Pathways. Promega Notes Magazine. 1996.

27. Sugden PH, Clerk A. Regulation of mitogen-activated protein kinase cascades in the heart. Adv Enzyme Regul. 1998;38:87-98.

28. Sugden PH, Clerk A. "Stress-responsive" mitogen-activated protein kinases (c-Jun N-terminal kinases and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinases) in the myocardium. Circ Res. 1998 Aug 24;83(4):345-52.

29. Krauss PDG. Intracellular Signal Transduction: The Protein Cascades of the MAP Kinase Pathways. Biochemistry of Signal Transduction and Regulation (Third Edition); 2004. p. 383-93.

30. Maria Agnese Della F, Giuseppe S, Paolo S-C. Cyclic AMP signalling and cellular proliferation: regulation of CREB and CREM. FEBS letters. 1997;410(1):22-4.

31. Price MA, Cruzalegui FH, Treisman R. The p38 and ERK MAP kinase pathways cooperate to activate Ternary Complex Factors and c-fos transcription in response to UV light. EMBO J. 1996 Dec 2;15(23):6552-63.

32. Baek SJ, Kim J-S, Nixon JB, DiAugustine RP, Eling TE. Expression of NAG-1, a Transforming Growth Factor- β Superfamily Member, by Troglitazone Requires the Early Growth Response Gene EGR-1. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2004 February 20, 2004;279(8):6883-92.

33. Downing JR. TGF-{beta} Signaling, Tumor Suppression, and Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2004 August 5, 2004;351(6):528-30.

34. Pandey J, Umphress SM, Kang Y, Angdisen J, Naumova A, Mercer KL, Jacks T, Jakowlew SB. Modulation of tumor induction and progression of oncogenic K-ras-positive tumors in the presence of TGF- 1 haploinsufficiency. Carcinogenesis. 2007 December 1, 2007;28(12):2589-96.

35. Tang B, Vu M, Booker T, Santner SJ, Miller FR, Anver MR, Wakefield LM. TGF-beta switches from tumor suppressor to prometastatic factor in a model of breast cancer progression. J Clin Invest. 2003 Oct;112(7):1116-24.

36. Orimo H, Ikejima M, Nakajima E, Emi M, Shimada T. A novel missense mutation and frameshift mutations in the type II receptor of transforming growth factor-beta gene in sporadic colon cancer with microsatellite instability. Mutat Res. 1998 May;382(3-4):115-20.

37. Pinzani M, Marra F. Cytokine receptors and signaling in hepatic stellate cells. Semin Liver Dis. 2001 Aug;21(3):397-416.

38. Mukhopadhyay UK, Mak AS. p53: is the guardian of the genome also a suppressor of cell invasion? Cell Cycle. 2009 Aug 15;8(16):2481.

39. M. R. Khan SPaM, editor.: Blackwell; 2006.

40. Schuler M, Bossy-Wetzel E, Goldstein JC, Fitzgerald P, Green DR. p53 Induces Apoptosis by Caspase Activation through Mitochondrial Cytochrome c Release. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2000 March 10, 2000;275(10):7337-42.

41. Vousden KH, Lu X. Live or let die: the cell's response to p53. Nat Rev Cancer. 2002 Aug;2(8):594-604.

42. Giaccia AJ, Kastan MB. The complexity of p53 modulation: emerging patterns from divergent signals. Genes Dev. 1998 Oct 1;12(19):2973-83.

43. May P, May E. Twenty years of p53 research: structural and functional aspects of the p53 protein. Oncogene. 1999 Dec 13;18(53):7621-36.

44. Fields S, Jang SK. Presence of a potent transcription activating sequence in the p53 protein. Science. 1990 Aug 31;249(4972):1046-9.

45. Tokino T, Thiagalingam S, el-Deiry WS, Waldman T, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. p53 tagged sites from human genomic DNA. Hum Mol Genet. 1994 Sep;3(9):1537-42.

46. Zhao R, Gish K, Murphy M, Yin Y, Notterman D, Hoffman WH, Tom E, Mack DH, Levine AJ. Analysis of p53-regulated gene expression patterns using oligonucleotide arrays. Genes Dev. 2000 Apr 15;14(8):981-93.

47. Liu G, Parant JM, Lang G, Chau P, Chavez-Reyes A, El-Naggar AK, Multani A, Chang S, Lozano G. Chromosome stability, in the absence of apoptosis, is critical for suppression of tumorigenesis in Trp53 mutant mice. Nat Genet. 2004 Jan;36(1):63-8.

48. Agarwal ML, Agarwal A, Taylor WR, Chernova O, Sharma Y, Stark GR. A p53dependent S-phase checkpoint helps to protect cells from DNA damage in response to starvation for pyrimidine nucleotides. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998 Dec 8;95(25):14775-80.

49. Bates S, Vousden KH. p53 in signaling checkpoint arrest or apoptosis. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 1996 Feb;6(1):12-8.

50. Schmitt CA, Fridman JS, Yang M, Baranov E, Hoffman RM, Lowe SW. Dissecting p53 tumor suppressor functions in vivo. Cancer Cell. 2002 Apr;1(3):289-98.

51. Symonds H, Krall L, Remington L, Saenz-Robles M, Lowe S, Jacks T, Van Dyke T. p53dependent apoptosis suppresses tumor growth and progression in vivo. Cell. 1994 Aug 26;78(4):703-11.

52. Prives C. Signaling to p53: breaking the MDM2-p53 circuit. Cell. 1998 Oct 2;95(1):5-8.

53. Smith ML, Fornace AJ, Jr. p53-mediated protective responses to UV irradiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997 Nov 11;94(23):12255-7.

54. Vogelstein B, Lane D, Levine AJ. Surfing the p53 network. Nature. 2000 Nov 16;408(6810):307-10.

55. Radford IR, Murphy TK, Radley JM, Ellis SL. Radiation response of mouse lymphoid and myeloid cell lines. Part II. Apoptotic death is shown by all lines examined. Int J Radiat Biol. 1994 Feb;65(2):217-27.

56. Di Leonardo A, Linke SP, Clarkin K, Wahl GM. DNA damage triggers a prolonged p53dependent G1 arrest and long-term induction of Cip1 in normal human fibroblasts. Genes Dev. 1994 Nov 1;8(21):2540-51.

57. Hupp TR, Sparks A, Lane DP. Small peptides activate the latent sequence-specific DNA binding function of p53. Cell. 1995 Oct 20;83(2):237-45.

58. Hupp TR, Lane DP. Two distinct signaling pathways activate the latent DNA binding function of p53 in a casein kinase II-independent manner. J Biol Chem. 1995 Jul 28;270(30):18165-74.

59. Kastan MB, Onyekwere O, Sidransky D, Vogelstein B, Craig RW. Participation of p53 protein in the cellular response to DNA damage. Cancer Res. 1991 Dec 1;51(23 Pt 1):6304-11.

60. Chowdary DR, Dermody JJ, Jha KK, Ozer HL. Accumulation of p53 in a mutant cell line defective in the ubiquitin pathway. Mol Cell Biol. 1994 Mar;14(3):1997-2003.

61. Chernov MV, Ramana CV, Adler VV, Stark GR. Stabilization and activation of p53 are regulated independently by different phosphorylation events. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1998 March 3, 1998;95(5):2284-9.

62. Wang SP, Wang WL, Chang YL, Wu CT, Chao YC, Kao SH, Yuan A, Lin CW, Yang SC, Chan WK, Li KC, Hong TM, Yang PC. p53 controls cancer cell invasion by inducing the MDM2-mediated degradation of Slug. Nat Cell Biol. 2009 Jun;11(6):694-704.

63. Park JY, Pillinger MH, Abramson SB. Prostaglandin E2 synthesis and secretion: the role of PGE2 synthases. Clin Immunol. 2006 Jun;119(3):229-40.

64. Krishnamoorthy S, Honn KV. Eicosanoids in Tumor Progression and Metastasis. 2008. p. 145-68.

65. Chandrasekharan NV, Dai H, Roos KL, Evanson NK, Tomsik J, Elton TS, Simmons DL. COX-3, a cyclooxygenase-1 variant inhibited by acetaminophen and other analgesic/antipyretic drugs: cloning, structure, and expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002 Oct 15;99(21):13926-31.

66. Matsuyama M, Yoshimura R. The target of arachidonic acid pathway is a new anticancer strategy for human prostate cancer. Biologics. 2008 Dec;2(4):725-32.

67. Rebecca LS-B, Gary WV, Aramandla R, Fajun Y, Washington MK, Raymond ND. Cyclooxygenase 2 expression is increased in the stroma of colon carcinomas from IL-10-/- mice. Gastroenterology. 2000;118(2):337-45.

68. Perkins DJ, Kniss DA. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha promotes sustained cyclooxygenase-2 expression: attenuation by dexamethasone and NSAIDs. Prostaglandins. 1997 Oct;54(4):727-43.

69. Brown JR, DuBois RN. COX-2: A Molecular Target for Colorectal Cancer Prevention. J Clin Oncol. 2005 April 20, 2005;23(12):2840-55.

70. Shureiqi I, Lippman SM. Lipoxygenase modulation to reverse carcinogenesis. Cancer Res. 2001 Sep 1;61(17):6307-12.

71. Fearon ER, Vogelstein B. A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. Cell. 1990 Jun 1;61(5):759-67.

72. Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E, Hao Y, Xu J, Murray T, Thun MJ. Cancer statistics, 2008. CA Cancer J Clin. 2008 Mar-Apr;58(2):71-96.

73. Lynch HT, de la Chapelle A. Hereditary colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med. 2003 Mar 6;348(10):919-32.

74. Smith MLaM, R.C. The eicosanoids: cyclooxygenase, lipoxygenase and epoxygenase pathways. Vance DEaV, J., editor. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2002.

75. Frank SA. Age-specific incidence of inherited versus sporadic cancers: A test of the multistage theory of carcinogenesis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2005 January 25, 2005;102(4):1071-5.

76. Bulow S. Familial polyposis coli. Dan Med Bull. 1987 Mar;34(1):1-15.

77. Campbell WJ, Spence RA, Parks TG. Familial adenomatous polyposis. Br J Surg. 1994 Dec;81(12):1722-33.

78. Kadmon M, Tandara A, Herfarth C. Duodenal adenomatosis in familial adenomatous polyposis coli. A review of the literature and results from the Heidelberg Polyposis Register. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2001 Apr;16(2):63-75.

79. Bulow S, Alm T, Fausa O, Hultcrantz R, Jarvinen H, Vasen H. Duodenal adenomatosis in familial adenomatous polyposis. DAF Project Group. Int J Colorectal Dis. 1995;10(1):43-6.

80. Pujol RM, Casanova JM, Egido R, Pujol J, de Moragas JM. Multiple familial pilomatricomas: a cutaneous marker for Gardner syndrome? Pediatr Dermatol. 1995 Dec;12(4):331-5.

81. Aretz S, Stienen D, Friedrichs N, Stemmler S, Uhlhaas S, Rahner N, Propping P, Friedl W. Somatic APC mosaicism: a frequent cause of familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP). Hum Mutat. 2007 Oct;28(10):985-92.

82. Marchesa P, Fazio VW, Church JM, McGannon E. Adrenal masses in patients with familial adenomatous polyposis. Dis Colon Rectum. 1997 Sep;40(9):1023-8.

83. Lamlum H, Papadopoulou A, Ilyas M, Rowan A, Gillet C, Hanby A, Talbot I, Bodmer W, Tomlinson I. APC mutations are sufficient for the growth of early colorectal adenomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000 Feb 29;97(5):2225-8.

84. Sieber OM, Tomlinson IP, Lamlum H. The adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) tumour suppressor--genetics, function and disease. Mol Med Today. 2000 Dec;6(12):462-9.

85. Aretz S, Stienen D, Uhlhaas S, Pagenstecher C, Mangold E, Caspari R, Propping P, Friedl W. Large submicroscopic genomic APC deletions are a common cause of typical familial adenomatous polyposis. J Med Genet. 2005 Feb;42(2):185-92.

86. Plawski A, Nowakowska D, Podralska M, Lipinski D, Steffen J, Slomski R. The AAPC case, with an early onset of colorectal cancer. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2007 Apr;22(4):449-51.

87. Lynch HT, Smyrk T, McGinn T, Lanspa S, Cavalieri J, Lynch J, Slominski-Castor S, Cayouette MC, Priluck I, Luce MC. Attenuated familial adenomatous polyposis (AFAP). A phenotypically and genotypically distinctive variant of FAP. Cancer. 1995 Dec 15;76(12):2427-33.

88. Kastrinos F, Syngal S. Recently identified colon cancer predispositions: MYH and MSH6 mutations. Semin Oncol. 2007 Oct;34(5):418-24.

89. Parker A, Gu Y, Mahoney W, Lee SH, Singh KK, Lu AL. Human homolog of the MutY repair protein (hMYH) physically interacts with proteins involved in long patch DNA base excision repair. J Biol Chem. 2001 Feb 23;276(8):5547-55.

90. Sieber OM, Lipton L, Crabtree M, Heinimann K, Fidalgo P, Phillips RK, Bisgaard ML, Orntoft TF, Aaltonen LA, Hodgson SV, Thomas HJ, Tomlinson IP. Multiple colorectal adenomas, classic adenomatous polyposis, and germ-line mutations in MYH. N Engl J Med. 2003 Feb 27;348(9):791-9.

91. Knudsen AL, Bisgaard ML, Bulow S. Attenuated familial adenomatous polyposis (AFAP). A review of the literature. Fam Cancer. 2003;2(1):43-55.

92. Lynch HT, Krush AJ. Cancer family "G" revisited: 1895-1970. Cancer. 1971 Jun;27(6):1505-11.

93. Lynch HT, Guirgis HA, Lynch PM, Lynch JF, Harris RE. Familial cancer syndromes: a survey. Cancer. 1977 Apr;39(4 Suppl):1867-81.

94. Lynch HT, Smyrk T, Jass JR. Hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer and colonic adenomas: aggressive adenomas? Semin Surg Oncol. 1995 Nov-Dec;11(6):406-10.

95. Jiricny J, Nystrom-Lahti M. Mismatch repair defects in cancer. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 2000 Apr;10(2):157-61.

96. Aaltonen LA, Peltomaki P, Leach FS, Sistonen P, Pylkkanen L, Mecklin JP, Jarvinen H, Powell SM, Jen J, Hamilton SR, et al. Clues to the pathogenesis of familial colorectal cancer. Science. 1993 May 7;260(5109):812-6.

97. Malkin D, Li FP, Strong LC, Fraumeni JF, Jr., Nelson CE, Kim DH, Kassel J, Gryka MA, Bischoff FZ, Tainsky MA, et al. Germ line p53 mutations in a familial syndrome of breast cancer, sarcomas, and other neoplasms. Science. 1990 Nov 30;250(4985):1233-8.

98. Scribano E, Loria G, Ascenti G, Cardia E, Molina D, Gaeta M. Turcot's syndrome: a new case in the first decade of life. Abdominal Imaging. [10.1007/BF00201527]. 1995;20(2):155-6.

99. Ivanovich JL, Whelan AJ. Cancer and Peutz-Jeghers Syndrome: A Review. Journal of Genetic Counseling. [10.1023/A:1025616203564]. 1997;6(2):193-206.

100. Castells A, Castellvi-Bel S, Balaguer F. Concepts in familial colorectal cancer: where do we stand and what is the future? Gastroenterology. 2009 Aug;137(2):404-9.

101. Laken SJ, Papadopoulos N, Petersen GM, Gruber SB, Hamilton SR, Giardiello FM, Brensinger JD, Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW. Analysis of masked mutations in familial adenomatous polyposis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999 Mar 2;96(5):2322-6.

102. De Benedetti L, Varesco L, Pellegata NS, Losi L, Gismondi V, Casarino L, Sciallero S, Bonelli L, Biticchi R, Bafico A, et al. Genetic events in sporadic colorectal adenomas: K-ras and p53 heterozygous mutations are not sufficient for malignant progression. Anticancer Res. 1993 May-Jun;13(3):667-70.

103. McLellan EA, Owen RA, Stepniewska KA, Sheffield JP, Lemoine NR. High frequency of K-ras mutations in sporadic colorectal adenomas. Gut. 1993 Mar;34(3):392-6.

104. Morris RG, Curtis LJ, Romanowski P, Hardcastle JD, Jenkins DA, Robinson M, Wyllie AH, Bird CC. Ki-ras mutations in adenomas: a characteristic of cancer-bearing colorectal mucosa. J Pathol. 1996 Dec;180(4):357-63.

105. Darmon E, Cleary KR, Wargovich MJ. Immunohistochemical analysis of p53 overexpression in human colonic tumors. Cancer Detect Prev. 1994;18(3):187-95.

106. Kaklamanis L, Gatter KC, Mortensen N, Baigrie RJ, Heryet A, Lane DP, Harris AL. p53 expression in colorectal adenomas. Am J Pathol. 1993 Jan;142(1):87-93.

107. Scott N, Bell SM, Sagar P, Blair GE, Dixon MF, Quirke P. p53 expression and K-ras mutation in colorectal adenomas. Gut. 1993 May;34(5):621-4.

108. Boland CR, Sato J, Appelman HD, Bresalier RS, Feinberg AP. Microallelotyping defines the sequence and tempo of allelic losses at tumour suppressor gene loci during colorectal cancer progression. Nat Med. 1995 Sep;1(9):902-9.

109. Kikuchi-Yanoshita R, Konishi M, Fukunari H, Tanaka K, Miyaki M. Loss of expression of the DCC gene during progression of colorectal carcinomas in familial adenomatous polyposis and non-familial adenomatous polyposis patients. Cancer Res. 1992 Jul 1;52(13):3801-3.

110. Perucho M. Microsatellite instability: the mutator that mutates the other mutator. Nat Med. 1996 Jun;2(6):630-1.

111. Sistrom CC. Proportions, odds, and risk. Radiology. 2004;230(1).

112. Okamoto M, Sato C, Kohno Y, Mori T, Iwama T, Tonomura A, Miki Y, Utsunomiya J, Nakamura Y, White R, Miyaki M. Molecular nature of chromosome 5q loss in colorectal tumors and desmoids from patients with familial adenomatous polyposis. Human Genetics. [10.1007/BF00193581]. 1990;85(6):595-9.

113. Butterworth AS, Higgins JP, Pharoah P. Relative and absolute risk of colorectal cancer for individuals with a family history: a meta-analysis. Eur J Cancer. 2006 Jan;42(2):216-27.

114. Johns LE, Houlston RS. A systematic review and meta-analysis of familial colorectal cancer risk. Am J Gastroenterol. 2001 Oct;96(10):2992-3003.

115. Bernstein CN, Blanchard JF, Kliewer E, Wajda A. Cancer risk in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a population-based study. Cancer. 2001 Feb 15;91(4):854-62.

116. Calle EE, Rodriguez C, Walker-Thurmond K, Thun MJ. Overweight, obesity, and mortality from cancer in a prospectively studied cohort of U.S. adults. N Engl J Med. 2003 Apr 24;348(17):1625-38.

117. Hu FB, Willett WC, Li T, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Manson JE. Adiposity as compared with physical activity in predicting mortality among women. N Engl J Med. 2004 Dec 23;351(26):2694-703.

118. Larsson SC, Wolk A. Obesity and colon and rectal cancer risk: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. Am J Clin Nutr. 2007 Sep;86(3):556-65.

119. Chao A, Thun MJ, Connell CJ, McCullough ML, Jacobs EJ, Flanders WD, Rodriguez C, Sinha R, Calle EE. Meat consumption and risk of colorectal cancer. Jama. 2005 Jan 12;293(2):172-82.

120. Larsson SC, Wolk A. Meat consumption and risk of colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. Int J Cancer. 2006 Dec 1;119(11):2657-64.

121. Botteri E, Iodice S, Raimondi S, Maisonneuve P, Lowenfels AB. Cigarette smoking and adenomatous polyps: a meta-analysis. Gastroenterology. 2008 Feb;134(2):388-95.

122. Chao A, Thun MJ, Jacobs EJ, Henley SJ, Rodriguez C, Calle EE. Cigarette smoking and colorectal cancer mortality in the cancer prevention study II. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2000 Dec 6;92(23):1888-96.

123. Giovannucci E. An updated review of the epidemiological evidence that cigarette smoking increases risk of colorectal cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2001 Jul;10(7):725-31.

124. Paskett ED, Reeves KW, Rohan TE, Allison MA, Williams CD, Messina CR, Whitlock E, Sato A, Hunt JR. Association between cigarette smoking and colorectal cancer in the Women's Health Initiative. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2007 Nov 21;99(22):1729-35.

125. Moskal A, Norat T, Ferrari P, Riboli E. Alcohol intake and colorectal cancer risk: a doseresponse meta-analysis of published cohort studies. Int J Cancer. 2007 Feb 1;120(3):664-71.

126. Colditz GA, Cannuscio CC, Frazier AL. Physical activity and reduced risk of colon cancer: implications for prevention. Cancer Causes Control. 1997 Jul;8(4):649-67.

127. Samad AK, Taylor RS, Marshall T, Chapman MA. A meta-analysis of the association of physical activity with reduced risk of colorectal cancer. Colorectal Dis. 2005 May;7(3):204-13.

128. Tomeo CA, Colditz GA, Willett WC, Giovannucci E, Platz E, Rockhill B, Dart H, Hunter DJ. Harvard Report on Cancer Prevention. Volume 3: prevention of colon cancer in the United States. Cancer Causes Control. 1999 Jun;10(3):167-80.

129. Wei EK, Giovannucci E, Wu K, Rosner B, Fuchs CS, Willett WC, Colditz GA. Comparison of risk factors for colon and rectal cancer. Int J Cancer. 2004 Jan 20;108(3):433-42.

130. Terry P, Terry JB, Wolk A. Fruit and vegetable consumption in the prevention of cancer: an update. J Intern Med. 2001 Oct;250(4):280-90.

131. Eyre H, Kahn R, Robertson RM. Preventing cancer, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes: a common agenda for theAmerican Cancer Society, the American Diabetes Association, and the American Heart Association. CA Cancer J Clin. 2004 Jul-Aug;54(4):190-207.

132. Koushik A, Hunter DJ, Spiegelman D, Beeson WL, van den Brandt PA, Buring JE, Calle EE, Cho E, Fraser GE, Freudenheim JL, Fuchs CS, Giovannucci EL, Goldbohm RA, Harnack L, Jacobs DR, Jr., Kato I, Krogh V, Larsson SC, Leitzmann MF, Marshall JR, McCullough ML, Miller AB, Pietinen P, Rohan TE, Schatzkin A, Sieri S, Virtanen MJ, Wolk A, Zeleniuch-Jacquotte A, Zhang SM, Smith-Warner SA. Fruits, vegetables, and colon cancer risk in a pooled analysis of 14 cohort studies. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2007 Oct 3;99(19):1471-83.

133. McCullough ML, Robertson AS, Chao A, Jacobs EJ, Stampfer MJ, Jacobs DR, Diver WR, Calle EE, Thun MJ. A prospective study of whole grains, fruits, vegetables and colon cancer risk. Cancer Causes Control. 2003 Dec;14(10):959-70.

134. Rothenberg ML. Efficacy and toxicity of irinotecan in patients with colorectal cancer. Semin Oncol. 1998 Oct;25(5 Suppl 11):39-46.

135. Douglass HO, Jr., Lavin PT, Woll J, Conroy JF, Carbone P. Chemotherapy of advanced measurable colon and rectal carcinoma with oral 5-fluorouracil, alone or in combination with cyclophosphamide or 6-thioguanine, with intravenous 5-fluorouracil or beta-2'-deoxythioguanosine or with oral 3(4-methyl-cyclohexyl)-1(2-chlorethyl)-1-nitrosourea: a Phase II-III study of the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (EST 4273). Cancer. 1978 Dec;42(6):2538-45.

136. Benvenuti S, Sartore-Bianchi A, Di Nicolantonio F, Zanon C, Moroni M, Veronese S, Siena S, Bardelli A. Oncogenic activation of the RAS/RAF signaling pathway impairs the response of metastatic colorectal cancers to anti-epidermal growth factor receptor antibody therapies. Cancer Res. 2007 Mar 15;67(6):2643-8.

137. Francois A, Milliat F, Jullien N, Blirando K, Abderrahmani R, Benderitter M. [Radiotherapy: what therapeutic orientations against the digestive aftereffects?]. Med Sci (Paris). 2009 Mar;25(3):267-72.

138. Rose PG, Halter SA, Su CM. The effect of indomethacin on acute radiation induced gastrointestinal injury: a morphologic study. J Surg Oncol. 1992 Apr;49(4):231-8.

139. Eng C. Toxic effects and their management: daily clinical challenges in the treatment of colorectal cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. [10.1038/nrclinonc.2009.16]. 2009;6(4):207-18.

140. Kellie SJ. SEVERE NEUROTOXICITY, OTOTOXICITY Sastry J. AND NEPHROTOXICITY FOLLOWING HIGH-DOSE CISPLATIN AND AMIFOSTINE. Pediatric and Oncology: Incorporating the International Journal Hematology of Pediatric Hematology/Oncology. 2005;22(5):441 - 5.

141. Holt PR. Dairy foods and prevention of colon cancer: human studies. J Am Coll Nutr. 1999 Oct;18(5 Suppl):379S-91S.

142. Mason JB. Nutritional chemoprevention of colon cancer. Semin Gastrointest Dis. 2002 Jul;13(3):143-53.

143. Garay CA, Engstrom PF. Chemoprevention of colorectal cancer: dietary and pharmacologic approaches. Oncology (Williston Park). 1999 Jan;13(1):89-97; discussion -100, 5.

144. Doll R, Peto R. The causes of cancer: quantitative estimates of avoidable risks of cancer in the United States today. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1981 Jun;66(6):1191-308.

145. Ponz D. Prevention and chemoprevention of colorectal neoplasms. Dig Liver Dis. 2002 Jan;34(1):59-69.

146. Negrão R, Faria A. Natural Polyphenols as Anti-Oxidant, Anti-Inflammatory and Anti-Angiogenic Agents in the Metabolic Syndrome. 2009. p. 147-80.

147. Heber D. Vegetables, fruits and phytoestrogens in the prevention of diseases. J Postgrad Med. 2004 Apr-Jun;50(2):145-9.

148. Rao BN. Bioactive phytochemicals in Indian foods and their potential in health promotion and disease prevention. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr. 2003;12(1):9-22.

149. Lambert JD, Hong J, Yang GY, Liao J, Yang CS. Inhibition of carcinogenesis by polyphenols: evidence from laboratory investigations. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005 Jan;81(1 Suppl):284S-91S.

150. Yang CS, Lambert JD, Hou Z, Ju J, Lu G, Hao X. Molecular targets for the cancer preventive activity of tea polyphenols. Mol Carcinog. 2006 Jun;45(6):431-5.

151. Higdon JV, Frei B. Tea catechins and polyphenols: health effects, metabolism, and antioxidant functions. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2003;43(1):89-143.

152. Dwyer JT. Progress in development of an integrated dietary supplement ingredient

database at the NIH Office of Dietary Supplements. Journal of Food Composition and Analysis. 2006;19:S108–S14.

153. Costa LM, Gouveia ST, Nobrega JA. Comparison of heating extraction procedures for Al, Ca, Mg, and Mn in tea samples. Anal Sci. 2002 Mar;18(3):313-8.

154. Rietveld A, Wiseman S. Antioxidant effects of tea: evidence from human clinical trials. J Nutr. 2003 Oct;133(10):3285S-92S.

155. Cooper R, Morre DJ, Morre DM. Medicinal benefits of green tea: part II. review of anticancer properties. J Altern Complement Med. 2005 Aug;11(4):639-52.

156. Stella A. The book of Tea. Milan: Mondadori publishing; 1992.

157. Cabrera C, Artacho R, Gimenez R. Beneficial Effects of Green Tea--A Review. J Am Coll Nutr. 2006 April 1, 2006;25(2):79-99.

158. Balentine DA, Wiseman SA, Bouwens LC. The chemistry of tea flavonoids. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 1997 Dec;37(8):693-704.

159. Treasure J. Food, Medicine, Poison & "Molecular Vitalism". 2005.

160. Vison J. Plant flavonoids, especially tea flavonoids, are powerful using an in vitro oxidation model for heart disease. J Agric Food Chem. 1995;43:2800-2.

161. McKay DL, Blumberg JB. The role of tea in human health: an update. J Am Coll Nutr. 2002 Feb;21(1):1-13.

162. USDA. "USDA Database for the Flavonoid Contents of Selected Foods.". In: Agriculture UDo, editor. Beltsville; 2003.

163. Wu CD, Wei GX. Tea as a functional food for oral health. Nutrition. 2002 May;18(5):443-4.

164. Hakim IA, Harris RB, Weisgerber UM. Tea intake and squamous cell carcinoma of the skin: influence of type of tea beverages. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2000 Jul;9(7):727-31.

165. Mirkov S, Komoroski BJ, Ramirez J, Graber AY, Ratain MJ, Strom SC, Innocenti F. Effects of green tea compounds on irinotecan metabolism. Drug Metab Dispos. 2007 Feb;35(2):228-33.

166. Anlı RE. An Alternative Method for the Determination

of Some of the Antioxidant Phenolics

in Varietal Turkish Red Wines. J Inst Brew. 2008;114(3):239–45.

167. Rice-Evans CA, Miller NJ, Paganga G. Structure-antioxidant activity relationships of flavonoids and phenolic acids. Free Radic Biol Med. 1996;20(7):933-56.

168. Manach C, Scalbert A, Morand C, Remesy C, Jimenez L. Polyphenols: food sources and bioavailability. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004 May;79(5):727-47.

169. Chow HH, Cai Y, Alberts DS, Hakim I, Dorr R, Shahi F, Crowell JA, Yang CS, Hara Y. Phase I pharmacokinetic study of tea polyphenols following single-dose administration of epigallocatechin gallate and polyphenon E. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2001 Jan;10(1):53-8.

170. Nakagawa K, Okuda S, Miyazawa T. Dose-dependent incorporation of tea catechins, (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate and (-)-epigallocatechin, into human plasma. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem. 1997 Dec;61(12):1981-5.

171. Unno T, Kondo K, Itakura H, Takeo T. Analysis of (-)-epigallocatechin gallate in human serum obtained after ingesting green tea. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem. 1996 Dec;60(12):2066-8.

172. Okushio K, Matsumoto N, Kohri T, Suzuki M, Nanjo F, Hara Y. Absorption of tea catechins into rat portal vein. Biol Pharm Bull. 1996 Feb;19(2):326-9.

173. Kim S, Lee MJ, Hong J, Li C, Smith TJ, Yang GY, Seril DN, Yang CS. Plasma and tissue levels of tea catechins in rats and mice during chronic consumption of green tea polyphenols. Nutr Cancer. 2000;37(1):41-8.

174. Yang CS, Chen L, Lee MJ, Balentine D, Kuo MC, Schantz SP. Blood and urine levels of tea catechins after ingestion of different amounts of green tea by human volunteers. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 1998 Apr;7(4):351-4.

175. Lambert JD, Lee M-J, Diamond L, Ju J, Hong J, Bose M, Newmark HL, Yang CS. DOSE-DEPENDENT LEVELS OF EPIGALLOCATECHIN-3-GALLATE IN HUMAN COLON CANCER CELLS AND MOUSE PLASMA AND TISSUES. Drug Metab Dispos. 2006 January 1, 2006;34(1):8-11.

176. Rice-Evans CA, Miller NJ, Paganga G. Structure-antioxidant activity relationships of flavonoids and phenolic acids. Free Radical Biology and Medicine. 1996;20(7):933-56.

177. Lee M-J, Maliakal P, Chen L, Meng X, Bondoc FY, Prabhu S, Lambert G, Mohr S, Yang CS. Pharmacokinetics of Tea Catechins after Ingestion of Green Tea and (–)-Epigallocatechin-3-gallate by Humans. Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention. 2002 October 2002;11(10):1025-32.

178. Rafter J, Govers M, Martel P, Pannemans D, Pool-Zobel B, Rechkemmer G, Rowland I, Tuijtelaars S, van Loo J. PASSCLAIM 1—Diet-related cancer. European Journal of Nutrition. [10.1007/s00394-004-1203-6]. 2004;43(0):ii47-ii84.

179. Klaassen CD. The Basic Science of Poisons. 5th ed. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1996.

180. Brown MD. Green tea (Camellia sinensis) extract and its possible role in the prevention of cancer. Altern Med Rev. 1999 Oct;4(5):360-70.

181. Yang CS, Lee MJ, Chen L. Human salivary tea catechin levels and catechin esterase activities: implication in human cancer prevention studies. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 1999 Jan;8(1):83-9.

182. Lambert JD, Yang CS. Cancer chemopreventive activity and bioavailability of tea and tea polyphenols. Mutat Res. 2003 Feb-Mar;523-524:201-8.

183. Li C, Meng X, Winnik B, Lee MJ, Lu H, Sheng S, Buckley B, Yang CS. Analysis of urinary metabolites of tea catechins by liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. Chem Res Toxicol. 2001 Jun;14(6):702-7.

184. Mannisto PT, Kaakkola S. Catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT): Biochemistry, Molecular Biology, Pharmacology, and Clinical Efficacy of the New Selective COMT Inhibitors. Pharmacol Rev. 1999 December 1, 1999;51(4):593-628.

185. Cheng Z, Radominska-Pandya A, Tephly TR. Studies on the Substrate Specificity of Human Intestinal UDP-Glucuronosyltransferases 1A8 and 1A10. Drug Metab Dispos. 1999 October 1, 1999;27(10):1165-70.

186. Spencer JPE. Metabolism of Tea Flavonoids in the Gastrointestinal Tract. J Nutr. 2003 October 1, 2003;133(10):3255S-61.

187. Howells LM, Moiseeva EP, Neal CP, Foreman BE, Andreadi CK, Sun YY, Hudson EA, Manson MM. Predicting the physiological relevance of in vitro cancer preventive activities of phytochemicals. Acta Pharmacol Sin. 2007 Sep;28(9):1274-304.

188. Katiyar SK MH. Tea in chemoprevention of cancer: epidemiologic and experimental studies. Int J Oncol. 1996;8:221–38.

189. Dreosti IE, Wargovich MJ, Yang CS. Inhibition of carcinogenesis by tea: the evidence from experimental studies. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 1997 Dec;37(8):761-70.

190. Kohlmeier L, Weterings KG, Steck S, Kok FJ. Tea and cancer prevention: an evaluation of the epidemiologic literature. Nutr Cancer. 1997;27(1):1-13.

191. Hollman PC, Tijburg LB, Yang CS. Bioavailability of flavonoids from tea. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 1997 Dec;37(8):719-38.

192. Khan WA, Wang ZY, Athar M, Bickers DR, Mukhtar H. Inhibition of the skin tumorigenicity of (+/-)-7 beta,8 alpha-dihydroxy-9 alpha,10 alpha-epoxy-7,8,9,10-tetrahydrobenzo[a]pyrene by tannic acid, green tea polyphenols and quercetin in Sencar mice. Cancer Lett. 1988 Sep-Oct;42(1-2):7-12.

193. Lim YC, Lee SH, Song MH, Yamaguchi K, Yoon JH, Choi EC, Baek SJ. Growth inhibition and apoptosis by (-)-epicatechin gallate are mediated by cyclin D1 suppression in head and neck squamous carcinoma cells. Eur J Cancer. 2006 Dec;42(18):3260-6.

194. Gupta S, Ahmad N, Nieminen AL, Mukhtar H. Growth inhibition, cell-cycle dysregulation, and induction of apoptosis by green tea constituent (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate in androgen-sensitive and androgen-insensitive human prostate carcinoma cells. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 2000 Apr 1;164(1):82-90.

195. Shimizu M, Weinstein IB. Modulation of signal transduction by tea catechins and related phytochemicals. Mutat Res. 2005 Dec 11;591(1-2):147-60.

196. Khan N, Afaq F, Saleem M, Ahmad N, Mukhtar H. Targeting multiple signaling pathways by green tea polyphenol (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate. Cancer Res. 2006 Mar 1;66(5):2500-5.

197. Surh YJ. Cancer chemoprevention with dietary phytochemicals. Nat Rev Cancer. 2003 Oct;3(10):768-80.

198. Shimizu M, Shirakami Y, Moriwaki H. Targeting Receptor Tyrosine Kinases for Chemoprevention by Green Tea Catechin, EGCG. Int J Mol Sci. 2008 Jun;9(6):1034-49.

199. Mukhtar H, Ahmad N. Green tea in chemoprevention of cancer. Toxicol Sci. 1999 Dec;52(2 Suppl):111-7.

200. Yang G, Wang ZY, Kim S, Liao J, Seril DN, Chen X, Smith TJ, Yang CS. Characterization of early pulmonary hyperproliferation and tumor progression and their inhibition by black tea in a 4-(methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone-induced lung tumorigenesis model with A/J mice. Cancer Res. 1997 May 15;57(10):1889-94.

201. Zhong L, Goldberg MS, Gao YT, Hanley JA, Parent ME, Jin F. A population-based casecontrol study of lung cancer and green tea consumption among women living in Shanghai, China. Epidemiology. 2001 Nov;12(6):695-700. 202. Mendilaharsu M, De Stefani E, Deneo-Pellegrini H, Carzoglio JC, Ronco A. Consumption of tea and coffee and the risk of lung cancer in cigarette-smoking men: a case-control study in Uruguay. Lung Cancer. 1998 Feb;19(2):101-7.

203. Kim J, Zhang X, Rieger-Christ KM, Summerhayes IC, Wazer DE, Paulson KE, Yee AS. Suppression of Wnt signaling by the green tea compound (-)-epigallocatechin 3-gallate (EGCG) in invasive breast cancer cells. Requirement of the transcriptional repressor HBP1. J Biol Chem. 2006 Apr 21;281(16):10865-75.

204. Baliga MS, Meleth S, Katiyar SK. Growth inhibitory and antimetastatic effect of green tea polyphenols on metastasis-specific mouse mammary carcinoma 4T1 cells in vitro and in vivo systems. Clin Cancer Res. 2005 Mar 1;11(5):1918-27.

205. Kavanagh KT, Hafer LJ, Kim DW, Mann KK, Sherr DH, Rogers AE, Sonenshein GE. Green tea extracts decrease carcinogen-induced mammary tumor burden in rats and rate of breast cancer cell proliferation in culture. J Cell Biochem. 2001;82(3):387-98.

206. Gupta S, Hastak K, Ahmad N, Lewin JS, Mukhtar H. Inhibition of prostate carcinogenesis in TRAMP mice by oral infusion of green tea polyphenols. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001 Aug 28;98(18):10350-5.

207. Adhami VM, Ahmad N, Mukhtar H. Molecular targets for green tea in prostate cancer prevention. J Nutr. 2003 Jul;133(7 Suppl):2417S-24S.

208. Baek SJ, Kim J-S, Jackson FR, Eling TE, McEntee MF, Lee S-H. Epicatechin gallateinduced expression of NAG-1 is associated with growth inhibition and apoptosis in colon cancer cells. Carcinogenesis. 2004 December 1, 2004;25(12):2425-32.

209. Kyou-Nam C, Mugdha S, Seong-Ho L, Joo-Heon Y, Seung Joon B. Green tea catechin (–)-epicatechin gallate induces tumour suppressor protein ATF3 via EGR-1 activation. European journal of cancer (Oxford, England : 1990). 2007;43(16):2404-12.

210. Ju J, Hong J, Zhou JN, Pan Z, Bose M, Liao J, Yang GY, Liu YY, Hou Z, Lin Y, Ma J, Shih WJ, Carothers AM, Yang CS. Inhibition of intestinal tumorigenesis in Apcmin/+ mice by (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate, the major catechin in green tea. Cancer Res. 2005 Nov 15;65(22):10623-31.

211. Suganuma M, Ohkura Y, Okabe S, Fujiki H. Combination cancer chemoprevention with green tea extract and sulindac shown in intestinal tumor formation in Min mice. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2001 Jan;127(1):69-72.

212. Sukhthankar M, Yamaguchi K, Lee SH, McEntee MF, Eling TE, Hara Y, Baek SJ. A green tea component suppresses posttranslational expression of basic fibroblast growth factor in colorectal cancer. Gastroenterology. 2008 Jun;134(7):1972-80.

213. Shimizu M, Deguchi A, Lim JT, Moriwaki H, Kopelovich L, Weinstein IB. (-)-Epigallocatechin gallate and polyphenon E inhibit growth and activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor and human epidermal growth factor receptor-2 signaling pathways in human colon cancer cells. Clin Cancer Res. 2005 Apr 1;11(7):2735-46.

214. Dona M, Dell'Aica I, Calabrese F, Benelli R, Morini M, Albini A, Garbisa S. Neutrophil Restraint by Green Tea: Inhibition of Inflammation, Associated Angiogenesis, and Pulmonary Fibrosis. J Immunol. 2003 April 15, 2003;170(8):4335-41.

215. Peng G, Dixon DA, Muga SJ, Smith TJ, Wargovich MJ. Green tea polyphenol (-)epigallocatechin-3-gallate inhibits cyclooxygenase-2 expression in colon carcinogenesis. Molecular Carcinogenesis. 2006;45(5):309-19.

216. Ahmad N, Cheng P, Mukhtar H. Cell cycle dysregulation by green tea polyphenol epigallocatechin-3-gallate. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2000 Aug 28;275(2):328-34.

217. Masahito S, Yohei S, Hiroyasu S, Hideharu T, Takayuki N, Yukihiko H, Weinstein IB, Hisataka M. EGCG inhibits activation of the insulin-like growth factor (IGF)/IGF-1 receptor axis in human hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Cancer letters. 2008;262(1):10-8.

218. Lu YP, Lou YR, Xie JG, Peng QY, Liao J, Yang CS, Huang MT, Conney AH. Topical applications of caffeine or (-)-epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG) inhibit carcinogenesis and selectively increase apoptosis in UVB-induced skin tumors in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002 Sep 17;99(19):12455-60.

219. Fang JY, Lee WR, Shen SC, Huang YL. Effect of liposome encapsulation of tea catechins on their accumulation in basal cell carcinomas. J Dermatol Sci. 2006 May;42(2):101-9.

220. Dong Z. Effects of food factors on signal transduction pathways. Biofactors. 2000;12(1-4):17-28.

221. Klaunig JE, Xu Y, Han C, Kamendulis LM, Chen J, Heiser C, Gordon MS, Mohler ER, 3rd. The effect of tea consumption on oxidative stress in smokers and nonsmokers. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. 1999 Apr;220(4):249-54.

222. Bettuzzi S, Brausi M, Rizzi F, Castagnetti G, Peracchia G, Corti A. Chemoprevention of human prostate cancer by oral administration of green tea catechins in volunteers with high-grade prostate intraepithelial neoplasia: a preliminary report from a one-year proof-of-principle study. Cancer Res. 2006 Jan 15;66(2):1234-40.

223. Suganuma M, Okabe S, Kai Y, Sueoka N, Sueoka E, Fujiki H. Synergistic effects of (--)epigallocatechin gallate with (--)-epicatechin, sulindac, or tamoxifen on cancer-preventive activity in the human lung cancer cell line PC-9. Cancer Res. 1999 Jan 1;59(1):44-7.

224. Adhami VM, Malik A, Zaman N, Sarfaraz S, Siddiqui IA, Syed DN, Afaq F, Pasha FS, Saleem M, Mukhtar H. Combined inhibitory effects of green tea polyphenols and selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors on the growth of human prostate cancer cells both in vitro and in vivo. Clin Cancer Res. 2007 Mar 1;13(5):1611-9.

225. Masuda M, Suzui M, Weinstein IB. Effects of epigallocatechin-3-gallate on growth, epidermal growth factor receptor signaling pathways, gene expression, and chemosensitivity in human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cell lines. Clin Cancer Res. 2001 Dec;7(12):4220-9.

226. Ohishi T, Kishimoto Y, Miura N, Shiota G, Kohri T, Hara Y, Hasegawa J, Isemura M. Synergistic effects of (-)-epigallocatechin gallate with sulindac against colon carcinogenesis of rats treated with azoxymethane. Cancer Lett. 2002 Mar 8;177(1):49-56.

227. Baek SJ, Okazaki R, Lee S-H, Martinez J, Kim J-S, Yamaguchi K, Mishina Y, Martin DW, Shoieb A, McEntee MF, Eling TE. Nonsteroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drug-Activated Gene-1 Over Expression in Transgenic Mice Suppresses Intestinal Neoplasia. Gastroenterology. 2006;131(5):1553-60.

228. Baek SJ, Kim K-S, Nixon JB, Wilson LC, Eling TE. Cyclooxygenase Inhibitors Regulate the Expression of a TGF-{beta} Superfamily Member That Has Proapoptotic and Antitumorigenic Activities. Mol Pharmacol. 2001 April 1, 2001;59(4):901-8.

229. Folkman J. Anti-angiogenesis: new concept for therapy of solid tumors. Ann Surg. 1972 Mar;175(3):409-16.

230. Coman DRS, W.F. The significance of hyperemia around tumor implants. Am J Pathol. 1946;22:821-6.

231. Ide AB, NH; Warren, SL. Vascularization of the Brown-Pearce rabbit epithelioma transplant as seen in the transparent ear chamber. Am J Roentgenol. 1939;42:881-9.

232. Algire GCWLFPH. Vascular reactions of normal and malignant tumors *in vivo*. I. Vascular reactions of mice to wounds and to normal and neoplastic transplants. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1945;6:73-85.

233. Folkman J, Long DM, Jr., Becker FF. Growth and metastasis of tumor in organ culture. Cancer. 1963 Apr;16:453-67.

234. Folkman J, Cole P, Zimmerman S. Tumor behavior in isolated perfused organs: in vitro growth and metastases of biopsy material in rabbit thyroid and canine intestinal segment. Ann Surg. 1966 Sep;164(3):491-502.

235. Folkman J. The intestine as an organ culture, in Carcinoma of the Colon and Antecedent Epithelium. J B, editor. Springfield, IL: Charles C Thomas 1970.

236. Folkman J. Tumor angiogenesis: therapeutic implications. N Engl J Med. 1971 Nov 18;285(21):1182-6.

237. Folkman J. Tumor angiogenesis: a possible control point in tumor growth. Ann Intern Med. 1975 Jan;82(1):96-100.

238. Folkman J, Cotran R. Relation of vascular proliferation to tumor growth. Int Rev Exp Pathol. 1976;16:207-48.

239. Abraham JA, Mergia A, Whang JL, Tumolo A, Friedman J, Hjerrild KA, Gospodarowicz D, Fiddes JC. Nucleotide sequence of a bovine clone encoding the angiogenic protein, basic fibroblast growth factor. Science. 1986 Aug 1;233(4763):545-8.

240. Tobelem G. Endothelial cell growth: biology and pharmacology in relation to angiogenesis. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis. 1990 Dec;1(6):703-5.

241. Kleinman HK, Klebe RJ, Martin GR. Role of collagenous matrices in the adhesion and growth of cells. J Cell Biol. 1981 Mar;88(3):473-85.

242. Gospodarowicz D, Tauber JP. Growth factors and the extracellular matrix. Endocr Rev. 1980 Summer;1(3):201-27.

243. Gospodarowicz D, Delgado D, Vlodavsky I. Permissive effect of the extracellular matrix on cell proliferation in vitro. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1980 Jul;77(7):4094-8.

244. Gospodarowicz D, Vlodavsky I, Savion N. The extracellular matrix and the control of proliferation of vascular endothelial and vascular smooth muscle cells. J Supramol Struct. 1980;13(3):339-72.

245. Vlodavsky I, Lui GM, Gospodarowicz D. Morphological appearance, growth behavior and migratory activity of human tumor cells maintained on extracellular matrix versus plastic. Cell. 1980 Mar;19(3):607-16.

246. Barsky SH, Siegal GP, Jannotta F, Liotta LA. Loss of basement membrane components by invasive tumors but not by their benign counterparts. Lab Invest. 1983 Aug;49(2):140-7.

247. Folkman J, Klagsbrun M. Angiogenic factors. Science. 1987 Jan 23;235(4787):442-7.

248. Burgess WH, Maciag T. The heparin-binding (fibroblast) growth factor family of proteins. Annu Rev Biochem. 1989;58:575-606.

249. Gospodarowicz D, Ferrara N, Schweigerer L, Neufeld G. Structural characterization and biological functions of fibroblast growth factor. Endocr Rev. 1987 May;8(2):95-114.

250. Lobb RR. Clinical applications of heparin-binding growth factors. Eur J Clin Invest. 1988 Aug;18(4):321-36.

251. Thomas KA. Transforming potential of fibroblast growth factor genes. Trends Biochem Sci. 1988 Sep;13(9):327-8.

252. Bikfalvi A, Han ZC. Angiogenic factors are hematopoietic growth factors and vice versa. Leukemia. 1994 Mar;8(3):523-9.

253. Rifkin DB, Moscatelli D. Recent developments in the cell biology of basic fibroblast growth factor. J Cell Biol. 1989 Jul;109(1):1-6.

254. Rogelj S, Klagsbrun M, Atzmon R, Kurokawa M, Haimovitz A, Fuks Z, Vlodavsky I. Basic fibroblast growth factor is an extracellular matrix component required for supporting the proliferation of vascular endothelial cells and the differentiation of PC12 cells. J Cell Biol. 1989 Aug;109(2):823-31.

255. Klagsbrun M, Baird A. A dual receptor system is required for basic fibroblast growth factor activity. Cell. 1991 Oct 18;67(2):229-31.

256. Moscatelli D, Joseph-Silverstein J, Manejias R, Rifkin DB. Mr 25,000 heparin-binding protein from guinea pig brain is a high molecular weight form of basic fibroblast growth factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1987 Aug;84(16):5778-82.

257. Prats H, Kaghad M, Prats AC, Klagsbrun M, Lelias JM, Liauzun P, Chalon P, Tauber JP, Amalric F, Smith JA, et al. High molecular mass forms of basic fibroblast growth factor are initiated by alternative CUG codons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1989 Mar;86(6):1836-40.

258. Florkiewicz RZ, Sommer A. Human basic fibroblast growth factor gene encodes four polypeptides: three initiate translation from non-AUG codons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1989 Jun;86(11):3978-81.

259. Patry V, Bugler B, Maret A, Potier M, Prats H. Endogenous basic fibroblast growth factor isoforms involved in different intracellular protein complexes. Biochem J. 1997 Aug 15;326 (Pt 1):259-64.

260. Rogelj S, Weinberg RA, Fanning P, Klagsbrun M. Basic fibroblast growth factor fused to a signal peptide transforms cells. Nature. 1988 Jan 14;331(6152):173-5.

261. Cao Y, Cao R, Hedlund E-M. R Regulation of tumor angiogenesis and metastasis by FGF and PDGF signaling pathways. Journal of Molecular Medicine. [10.1007/s00109-008-0337-z]. 2008;86(7):785-9.

262. Hershko A, Ciechanover A. The ubiquitin system. Annu Rev Biochem. 1998;67:425-79.

263. Hicke L. Gettin' down with ubiquitin: turning off cell-surface receptors, transporters and channels. Trends Cell Biol. 1999 Mar;9(3):107-12.

264. Pickart CM. Ubiquitin enters the new millennium. Mol Cell. 2001 Sep;8(3):499-504.

265. Bai C, Sen P, Hofmann K, Ma L, Goebl M, Harper JW, Elledge SJ. SKP1 connects cell cycle regulators to the ubiquitin proteolysis machinery through a novel motif, the F-box. Cell. 1996 Jul 26;86(2):263-74.

266. Hershko A, Ciechanover A. The ubiquitin system for protein degradation. Annu Rev Biochem. 1992;61:761-807.

267. Ciechanover A. The ubiquitin-proteasome proteolytic pathway. Cell. 1994 Oct 7;79(1):13-21.

268. Koegl M, Hoppe T, Schlenker S, Ulrich HD, Mayer TU, Jentsch S. A novel ubiquitination factor, E4, is involved in multiubiquitin chain assembly. Cell. 1999 Mar 5;96(5):635-44.

269. Coux O, Tanaka K, Goldberg AL. Structure and functions of the 20S and 26S proteasomes. Annu Rev Biochem. 1996;65:801-47.

270. Groll M, Ditzel L, Lowe J, Stock D, Bochtler M, Bartunik HD, Huber R. Structure of 20S proteasome from yeast at 2.4 A resolution. Nature. 1997 Apr 3;386(6624):463-71.

271. Lowe J, Stock D, Jap B, Zwickl P, Baumeister W, Huber R. Crystal structure of the 20S proteasome from the archaeon T. acidophilum at 3.4 A resolution. Science. 1995 Apr 28;268(5210):533-9.

272. Seemuller E, Lupas A, Stock D, Lowe J, Huber R, Baumeister W. Proteasome from Thermoplasma acidophilum: a threonine protease. Science. 1995 Apr 28;268(5210):579-82.

273. Rechsteiner M. Ubiquitin and the Biology of the Cell. D. Finley J-MP, editor. New York; 1997.

274. DeMartino GN, Slaughter CA. The proteasome, a novel protease regulated by multiple mechanisms. J Biol Chem. 1999 Aug 6;274(32):22123-6.

275. Tanaka K, Tsurumi C. The 26S proteasome: subunits and functions. Mol Biol Rep. 1997 Mar;24(1-2):3-11.

276. Asher G, Tsvetkov P, Kahana C, Shaul Y. A mechanism of ubiquitin-independent proteasomal degradation of the tumor suppressors p53 and p73. Genes Dev. 2005 Feb 1;19(3):316-21.

277. Kukan M. Emerging roles of proteasomes in ischemia-reperfusion injury of organs. J Physiol Pharmacol. 2004 Mar;55(1 Pt 1):3-15.

278. Elbling L, Weiss R-M, Teufelhofer O, Uhl M, Knasmueller S, Schulte-Hermann R, Berger W, Micksche M. Green tea extract and (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate, the major tea catechin, exert oxidant but lack antioxidant activities. FASEB J. 2005 May 1, 2005;19(7):807-9.

279. Dufourny B, van Teeffelen HA, Hamelers IH, Sussenbach JS, Steenbergh PH. Stabilization of cyclin D1 mRNA via the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathway in MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. The Journal of endocrinology. 2000 Aug;166(2):329-38.

280. Fisher RD, Wang B, Alam SL, Higginson DS, Robinson H, Sundquist WI, Hill CP. Structure and ubiquitin binding of the ubiquitin-interacting motif. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2003 Aug 1;278(31):28976-84.

281. Naujokat C, Fuchs D, Berges C. Adaptive modification and flexibility of the proteasome system in response to proteasome inhibition. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Cell Research. 2007;1773(9):1389-97.

282. Takahashi Y, Bucana CD, Liu W, Yoneda J, Kitadai Y, Cleary KR, Ellis LM. Plateletderived endothelial cell growth factor in human colon cancer angiogenesis: role of infiltrating cells. Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 1996 Aug 21;88(16):1146-51.

283. Kusafuka K, Hiraki Y, Shukunami C, Yamaguchi A, Kayano T, Takemura T. Cartilagespecific matrix protein chondromodulin-I is associated with chondroid formation in salivary pleomorphic adenomas: immunohistochemical analysis. The American journal of pathology. 2001 Apr;158(4):1465-72.

284. Yang CS. Tea and health. Nutrition. 1999 Nov-Dec;15(11-12):946-9.

285. Chung JY, Huang C, Meng X, Dong Z, Yang CS. Inhibition of activator protein 1 activity and cell growth by purified green tea and black tea polyphenols in H-ras-transformed cells: structure-activity relationship and mechanisms involved. Cancer Res. 1999 Sep 15;59(18):4610-7.

286. Gouni-Berthold I, Sachinidis A. Molecular mechanisms explaining the preventive effects of catechins on the development of proliferative diseases. Curr Pharm Des. 2004;10(11):1261-71.

287. Cao Y, Cao R, Brakenhielm E. Antiangiogenic mechanisms of diet-derived polyphenols. J Nutr Biochem. 2002 Jul;13(7):380-90.

288. Sartippour MR, Heber D, Zhang L, Beatty P, Elashoff D, Elashoff R, Go VL, Brooks MN. Inhibition of fibroblast growth factors by green tea. Int J Oncol. 2002 Sep;21(3):487-91.

289. Masuda M, Suzui M, Lim JT, Deguchi A, Soh JW, Weinstein IB. Epigallocatechin-3gallate decreases VEGF production in head and neck and breast carcinoma cells by inhibiting EGFR-related pathways of signal transduction. J Exp Ther Oncol. 2002 Nov-Dec;2(6):350-9.

290. Din FV, Dunlop MG, Stark LA. Evidence for colorectal cancer cell specificity of aspirin effects on NF kappa B signalling and apoptosis. Br J Cancer. 2004 Jul 19;91(2):381-8.

291. Stoner GD, Mukhtar H. Polyphenols as cancer chemopreventive agents. J Cell Biochem Suppl. 1995;22:169-80.

292. Tian B, Sun Z, Xu Z, Hua Y. Chemiluminescence analysis of the prooxidant and antioxidant effects of epigallocatechin-3-gallate. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr. 2007;16 Suppl 1:153-7.

293. Aberle H, Bauer A, Stappert J, Kispert A, Kemler R. beta-catenin is a target for the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. EMBO J. 1997 Jul 1;16(13):3797-804.

294. Orford K, Crockett C, Jensen JP, Weissman AM, Byers SW. Serine phosphorylationregulated ubiquitination and degradation of beta-catenin. J Biol Chem. 1997 Oct 3;272(40):24735-8.

295. Rice PL, Kelloff J, Sullivan H, Driggers LJ, Beard KS, Kuwada S, Piazza G, Ahnen DJ. Sulindac metabolites induce caspase- and proteasome-dependent degradation of beta-catenin protein in human colon cancer cells. Molecular cancer therapeutics. 2003 Sep;2(9):885-92.

296. Kamitani T, Kito K, Nguyen HP, Yeh ET. Characterization of NEDD8, a developmentally down-regulated ubiquitin-like protein. J Biol Chem. 1997 Nov 7;272(45):28557-62.

297. Harada T, Harada C, Wang YL, Osaka H, Amanai K, Tanaka K, Takizawa S, Setsuie R, Sakurai M, Sato Y, Noda M, Wada K. Role of ubiquitin carboxy terminal hydrolase-L1 in neural cell apoptosis induced by ischemic retinal injury in vivo. Am J Pathol. 2004 Jan;164(1):59-64.

298. Nam S, Smith DM, Dou QP. Ester bond-containing tea polyphenols potently inhibit proteasome activity in vitro and in vivo. J Biol Chem. 2001 Apr 20;276(16):13322-30.

299. McLennan AG. The Nudix hydrolase superfamily. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2006 Jan;63(2):123-43.

300. Zhang SC, Barclay C, Alexander LA, Geldenhuys L, Porter GA, Casson AG, Murphy PR. Alternative splicing of the FGF antisense gene: differential subcellular localization in human tissues and esophageal adenocarcinoma. J Mol Med. 2007 Nov;85(11):1215-28.

301. Rumpel CA, Powell SM, Moskaluk CA. Mapping of genetic deletions on the long arm of chromosome 4 in human esophageal adenocarcinomas. Am J Pathol. 1999 May;154(5):1329-34.

302. Li AW, Murphy PR. Expression of alternatively spliced FGF-2 antisense RNA transcripts in the central nervous system: regulation of FGF-2 mRNA translation. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2000 Apr 25;162(1-2):69-78.

303. Knee R, Li AW, Murphy PR. Characterization and tissue-specific expression of the rat basic fibroblast growth factor antisense mRNA and protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997 May 13;94(10):4943-7.

304. As SL, Ramyar L, Murphy PR, Li AW, Ezzat S. The endogenous fibroblast growth factor-2 antisense gene product regulates pituitary cell growth and hormone production. Mol Endocrinol. 2001 Apr;15(4):589-99.

305. Levine AJ. p53, the cellular gatekeeper for growth and division. Cell. 1997 Feb 7;88(3):323-31.

306. Bargonetti J, Manfredi JJ. Multiple roles of the tumor suppressor p53. Curr Opin Oncol. 2002 Jan;14(1):86-91.

307. Fridman JS, Lowe SW. Control of apoptosis by p53. Oncogene. 2003 Dec 8;22(56):9030-40.

308. Ding HF, McGill G, Rowan S, Schmaltz C, Shimamura A, Fisher DE. Oncogenedependent regulation of caspase activation by p53 protein in a cell-free system. J Biol Chem. 1998 Oct 23;273(43):28378-83.

309. Ding HF, Lin YL, McGill G, Juo P, Zhu H, Blenis J, Yuan J, Fisher DE. Essential role for caspase-8 in transcription-independent apoptosis triggered by p53. J Biol Chem. 2000 Dec 8;275(49):38905-11.

310. Schuler M, Bossy-Wetzel E, Goldstein JC, Fitzgerald P, Green DR. p53 induces apoptosis by caspase activation through mitochondrial cytochrome c release. J Biol Chem. 2000 Mar 10;275(10):7337-42.

311. Marchenko ND, Zaika A, Moll UM. Death signal-induced localization of p53 protein to mitochondria. A potential role in apoptotic signaling. J Biol Chem. 2000 May 26;275(21):16202-12.

312. Yamaguchi K, Lee SH, Eling TE, Baek SJ. A novel peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma ligand, MCC-555, induces apoptosis via posttranscriptional regulation of NAG-1 in colorectal cancer cells. Mol Cancer Ther. 2006 May;5(5):1352-61.

313. Bevilacqua A, Ceriani MC, Capaccioli S, Nicolin A. Post-transcriptional regulation of gene expression by degradation of messenger RNAs. J Cell Physiol. 2003 Jun;195(3):356-72.

314. Dixon DA. Dysregulated post-transcriptional control of COX-2 gene expression in cancer. Curr Pharm Des. 2004;10(6):635-46.

315. Shaw G, Kamen R. A conserved AU sequence from the 3' untranslated region of GM-CSF mRNA mediates selective mRNA degradation. Cell. 1986 Aug 29;46(5):659-67.

316. King PH, Levine TD, Fremeau RT, Jr., Keene JD. Mammalian homologs of Drosophila ELAV localized to a neuronal subset can bind in vitro to the 3' UTR of mRNA encoding the Id transcriptional repressor. J Neurosci. 1994 Apr;14(4):1943-52.

317. Eberhardt W, Doller A, Akool E-S, Pfeilschifter J. Modulation of mRNA stability as a novel therapeutic approach. Pharmacology & Therapeutics. 2007;114(1):56-73.

318. Creagh EM, Conroy H, Martin SJ. Caspase-activation pathways in apoptosis and immunity. Immunol Rev. 2003 Jun;193:10-21.

319. Staflin K, Zuchner T, Honeth G, Darabi A, Lundberg C. Identification of proteins involved in neural progenitor cell targeting of gliomas. BMC Cancer. 2009;9(1):206.

320. Baker S, Markowitz S, Fearon E, Willson J, Vogelstein B. Suppression of human colorectal carcinoma cell growth by wild-type p53. Science. 1990 August 24, 1990;249(4971):912-5.

321. Rozan LM, El-Deiry WS. p53 downstream target genes and tumor suppression: a classical view in evolution. Cell Death Differ. 2007 Jan;14(1):3-9.

322. Bottone FG, Jr., Baek SJ, Nixon JB, Eling TE. Diallyl disulfide (DADS) induces the antitumorigenic NSAID-activated gene (NAG-1) by a p53-dependent mechanism in human colorectal HCT 116 cells. J Nutr. 2002 Apr;132(4):773-8.

323. Dumay A, Laulier C, Bertrand P, Saintigny Y, Lebrun F, Vayssiere JL, Lopez BS. Bax and Bid, two proapoptotic Bcl-2 family members, inhibit homologous recombination, independently of apoptosis regulation. Oncogene. 2006 May 25;25(22):3196-205.

324. Czabotar PE, Lee EF, van Delft MF, Day CL, Smith BJ, Huang DC, Fairlie WD, Hinds MG, Colman PM. Structural insights into the degradation of Mcl-1 induced by BH3 domains. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007 Apr 10;104(15):6217-22.

325. Haupt Y, Maya R, Kazaz A, Oren M. Mdm2 promotes the rapid degradation of p53. Nature. 1997 May 15;387(6630):296-9.

326. Honda R, Tanaka H, Yasuda H. Oncoprotein MDM2 is a ubiquitin ligase E3 for tumor suppressor p53. FEBS Lett. 1997 Dec 22;420(1):25-7.

327. Singh PN, Fraser GE. Dietary risk factors for colon cancer in a low-risk population. Am J Epidemiol. 1998 Oct 15;148(8):761-74.

328. Bigelow RL, Cardelli JA. The green tea catechins, (-)-Epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) and (-)-Epicatechin-3-gallate (ECG), inhibit HGF/Met signaling in immortalized and tumorigenic breast epithelial cells. Oncogene. 2006 Mar 23;25(13):1922-30.

329. Chung FL, Schwartz J, Herzog CR, Yang YM. Tea and cancer prevention: studies in animals and humans. J Nutr. 2003 Oct;133(10):3268S-74S.

330. Baek SJ, Kim JS, Jackson FR, Eling TE, McEntee MF, Lee SH. Epicatechin gallateinduced expression of NAG-1 is associated with growth inhibition and apoptosis in colon cancer cells. Carcinogenesis. 2004 Dec;25(12):2425-32.

331. Issa AY, Volate SR, Wargovich MJ. The role of phytochemicals in inhibition of cancer and inflammation: New directions and perspectives. Journal of Food Composition and Analysis. 2006;19(5):405-19.

332. Tuite MF. RNA processing. Death by decapitation for mRNA. Nature. 1996 Aug 15;382(6592):577-9.

333. Grunberg-Manago M. Messenger RNA stability and its role in control of gene expression in bacteria and phages. Annu Rev Genet. 1999;33:193-227.

334. Tinoco I, Jr., Bustamante C. How RNA folds. J Mol Biol. 1999 Oct 22;293(2):271-81.

335. Guhaniyogi J, Brewer G. Regulation of mRNA stability in mammalian cells. Gene. 2001 Mar 7;265(1-2):11-23.

336. Carlini DB, Chen Y, Stephan W. The relationship between third-codon position nucleotide content, codon bias, mRNA secondary structure and gene expression in the drosophilid alcohol dehydrogenase genes Adh and Adhr. Genetics. 2001 Oct;159(2):623-33.

337. Katz L, Burge CB. Widespread selection for local RNA secondary structure in coding regions of bacterial genes. Genome Res. 2003 Sep;13(9):2042-51.

338. Lagnado CA, Brown CY, Goodall GJ. AUUUA is not sufficient to promote poly(A) shortening and degradation of an mRNA: the functional sequence within AU-rich elements may be UUAUUUA(U/A)(U/A). Mol Cell Biol. 1994 Dec;14(12):7984-95.

339. Winzen R, Gowrishankar G, Bollig F, Redich N, Resch K, Holtmann H. Distinct domains of AU-rich elements exert different functions in mRNA destabilization and stabilization by p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase or HuR. Mol Cell Biol. 2004 Jun;24(11):4835-47.

340. Brennan CM, Steitz JA. HuR and mRNA stability. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2001 Feb;58(2):266-77.

341. Dean JL, Sully G, Clark AR, Saklatvala J. The involvement of AU-rich element-binding proteins in p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway-mediated mRNA stabilisation. Cell Signal. 2004 Oct;16(10):1113-21.

342. Jang K-S, Han HX, Paik SS, Brown PH, Kong G. Id-1 overexpression in invasive ductal carcinoma cells is significantly associated with intratumoral microvessel density in ER-negative/node-positive breast cancer. Cancer Letters. 2006;244(2):203-10.

343. Nilsson JA, Nilsson LM, Keller U, Yokota Y, Boyd K, Cleveland JL. Id2 Is Dispensable for Myc-Induced Lymphomagenesis. Cancer Res. 2004 October 15, 2004;64(20):7296-301.
344. Rajpal A, Cho YA, Yelent B, Koza-Taylor PH, Li D, Chen E, Whang M, Kang C, Turi TG, Winoto A. Transcriptional activation of known and novel apoptotic pathways by Nur77 orphan steroid receptor. EMBO J. 2003 Dec 15;22(24):6526-36.

345. Choi CK, English AE, Jun SI, Kihm KD, Rack PD. An endothelial cell compatible biosensor fabricated using optically thin indium tin oxide silicon nitride electrodes. Biosens Bioelectron. 2007 May 15;22(11):2585-90.

346. English AE, Squire JC, Bodmer JE, Moy AB. Endothelial cell electrical impedance parameter artifacts produced by a gold electrode and phase sensitive detection. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng. 2007 May;54(5):863-73.

347. Vousden KH. Functions of p53 in metabolism and invasion. Biochem Soc Trans. 2009 Jun;37(Pt 3):511-7.

348. Gadea G, de Toledo M, Anguille C, Roux P. Loss of p53 promotes RhoA-ROCK-dependent cell migration and invasion in 3D matrices. J Cell Biol. 2007 Jul 2;178(1):23-30.

349. Gadea G, Lapasset L, Gauthier-Rouviere C, Roux P. Regulation of Cdc42-mediated morphological effects: a novel function for p53. EMBO J. 2002 May 15;21(10):2373-82.

350. Mihara M, Erster S, Zaika A, Petrenko O, Chittenden T, Pancoska P, Moll UM. p53 has a direct apoptogenic role at the mitochondria. Mol Cell. 2003 Mar;11(3):577-90.

351. Sansome C, Zaika A, Marchenko ND, Moll UM. Hypoxia death stimulus induces translocation of p53 protein to mitochondria. Detection by immunofluorescence on whole cells. FEBS Lett. 2001 Jan 19;488(3):110-5.

352. Nemajerova A, Wolff S, Petrenko O, Moll UM. Viral and cellular oncogenes induce rapid mitochondrial translocation of p53 in primary epithelial and endothelial cells early in apoptosis. FEBS Lett. 2005 Nov 7;579(27):6079-83.

353. Meek DW. Mechanisms of switching on p53: a role for covalent modification? Oncogene. 1999 Dec 13;18(53):7666-75.

354. Fang S, Jensen JP, Ludwig RL, Vousden KH, Weissman AM. Mdm2 is a RING fingerdependent ubiquitin protein ligase for itself and p53. J Biol Chem. 2000 Mar 24;275(12):8945-51.

355. Lee TA, Tyers M. Ubiquitin junction, what's your function? Genome Biol. 2001;2(10):REPORTS4025.

356. Arora A, Seth K, Shukla Y. Reversal of P-glycoprotein-mediated multidrug resistance by diallyl sulfide in K562 leukemic cells and in mouse liver. Carcinogenesis. 2004 June 1, 2004;25(6):941-9.

357. Arber N, Levin B. Chemoprevention of colorectal cancer: ready for routine use? Curr Top Med Chem. 2005;5(5):517-25.

358. Rennert G. Prevention and early detection of colorectal cancer--new horizons. Recent Results Cancer Res. 2007;174:179-87.

359. Giovannucci E, Rimm EB, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Ascherio A, Willett WC. Aspirin use and the risk for colorectal cancer and adenoma in male health professionals. Ann Intern Med. 1994 Aug 15;121(4):241-6.

360. Singh DK, Lippman SM. Cancer chemoprevention. Part 2: Hormones, nonclassic antioxidant natural agents, NSAIDs, and other agents. Oncology (Williston Park). 1998 Dec;12(12):1787-800; discussion 802, 805.

361. Asa SL, Ramyar L, Murphy PR, Li AW, Ezzat S. The Endogenous Fibroblast Growth Factor-2 Antisense Gene Product Regulates Pituitary Cell Growth and Hormone Production. Mol Endocrinol. 2001 April 1, 2001;15(4):589-99.

362. Stride BD, Grant CE, Loe DW, Hipfner DR, Cole SPC, Deeley RG. Pharmacological Characterization of the Murine and Human Orthologs of Multidrug-Resistance Protein in Transfected Human Embryonic Kidney Cells. Mol Pharmacol. 1997 September 1, 1997;52(3):344-53.

VITA

Mugdha Girish Sukhthankar was born in Mumbai, India on November 8th, 1980. Her father's job made her travel to different States of India and she became fluent in different Indian languages. Due to her mother's chronic ulcerative colitis problem, she moved back to Mumbai where she earned her B.V.Sc (DVM) from Bombay Veterinary College. She was ranked second all over the State. After graduation, she totally dedicated her life to treatment and welfare of animals in the clinics of the Bai Sakarbai Dinshaw Petit Hospital for Animals. She was an active member of IDA (In defence of animals), PETA (People for Ethical Treatment of Animals) and BSPCA (The Bombay Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals).

Mugdha joined the Graduate School of Veterinary Medicine at the University of Tennessee, Knoxville in August 2005 to pursue her NIH funded doctorate in Comparative and Experimental Medicine. She focused on dietary compound, green tea catechins and its molecular targets in prevention of colorectal carcinogenesis. During the course of her studies, Mugdha received two International Conference travel awards from The American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology (ASBMB) and The American Institute for Cancer Research (AICR) where she presented her work. She was also successful in getting the University of Tennessee, Knoxville Research Symposium Award for best presentation for all three years since the Symposium was introduced. She was also able to achieve a strong publication record with her first paper being published in Gastroenterology journal with an impact factor of 12.5. Later together with first author and co-author publications, she has total of 6 papers. During this period, she got married to her childhood best friend, Bhupesh in December 2008.

Following the completion of her PhD in Comparative and Experimental Medicine in December 2009, Mugdha is starting as a postdoctoral research associate in St.Jude's Children Research

Hospital in Memphis, Tennessee. Her research project will focus on the ABC transporters playing a key role in Cancer.